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Russell Corporation is a leading athletic and sporting goods company with over a century of success. Building on its heritage as an authentic athletic company, Russell Corporation has 

become a global leader in the sporting goods industry with apparel and equipment for all levels of activity – from the courts of the National Basketball Association to the playing fields of 

major colleges and backyards of homes everywhere. The Company is headquartered in Atlanta, Georgia, and its shares trade on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol RML.

Business Description
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Corporate Information

PRINCIPAL OFFICES
3330 Cumberland Blvd. 
Suite 800 
Atlanta, GA 30339 
(678) 742-8000

755 Lee Street 
P.O. Box 272 
Alexander City, AL 35011 
(256) 500-4000

OTHER INFORMATION
The Company’s press releases, annual report and  
other information can be accessed via the Internet at  
RussellCorp.com

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR
SunTrust Bank, Atlanta 
P.O. Box 4625 
Atlanta, GA 30302 
(800) 568-3476

DIVIDEND DISBURSING AGENT
SunTrust Bank, Atlanta 
P.O. Box 4625 
Atlanta, GA 30302 
(800) 568-3476

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young LLP 
600 Peachtree Street 
Atlanta, GA 30308

FORM 10-K
Copies of Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission are available without cost to shareholders of the 
Company by writing to:

Investor Relations 
Russell Corporation 
3330 Cumberland Blvd., Suite 800 
Atlanta, GA 30339 
(678) 742-8000

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN
For information about accounts or issuance of certificates, contact:

SunTrust Bank, Atlanta 
P.O. Box 4625 
Atlanta, GA 30302 
(800) 568-3476

DIVIDEND AND MARKET INFORMATION
Russell Corporation stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange 
and various other regional exchanges under the ticker symbol RML. 
The range of high and low prices of the Common Stock and the 
dividends per share paid during each calendar quarter of the last 
two years are presented below:

2004 Dividend High Low Close

First $0.04  $18.83 $17.13 
Second 0.04  19.23  15.60 
Third 0.04  19.20  16.42 
Fourth 0.04  19.78  16.22 
 $0.16    $19.48

2003 Dividend High Low Close

First $0.04  $17.89  $14.94 
Second 0.04  21.15  17.25 
Third 0.04  20.39  15.43 
Fourth 0.04  18.72  15.60 
 $0.16    $17.56

Our Culture
Our goal is to maintain a fair and equitable culture in which every 
member of the Global Russell Team reinforces our values and has 
the opportunity to contribute to our business goals. Our Strategic 
Diversity Management Plan focuses on the following four areas:

•  Workforce – To attract and retain superior talent.
•   Workplace – To foster an empowering culture that respects 

both differences and similarities.
•   Marketplace – To leverage our diversity to capitalize on 

unique revenue opportunities. 
•   Community – To support the communities where we live  

and operate.

Russell Corporation and Subsidiaries
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As one of the world’s leading sporting goods companies, 
it’s our job to equip athletes to win. As an investment for 
our shareholders, it’s our job to equip Russell to win.  
On both counts, we’re doing our job better than ever.
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Russell brands are market leaders – it’s the one attribute that nearly every brand 
in our portfolio possesses either in a product category or distribution channel. 
Spalding®, one of the most recognized names in sports, is a perfect example. 
The 134-year-old brand claims the top spot in basketball sales worldwide and 
is also a well-known supplier of footballs, softballs, volleyballs and soccer balls. 
We have strengthened this leadership position in basketball by expanding the 
Spalding business into the sport’s other must-have equipment. Our acquisitions  
of American Athletic, Inc. and Huffy Sports, two of the top backboard and  
backboard systems companies in the business, combined with Spalding,  
make Russell the top equipment supplier for one of the world’s most popular  
team sports.
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leadership
Don’t just look for us on backboards.  

The mats on the floor, the padding on the walls  
and the gymnast’s horse – all are part of AAI’s  

portfolio of high-end equipment that makes  
us the leading supplier for U.S. gymnastics  
competitions, including the Olympic trials.

AAI – You Can Find Us At The Gym 
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From backyards and sand lots to well-known  
stadiums and arenas, generations of players have  
worn Russell Athletic, making it not only the leader  
in team uniforms, but also one of the most authentic  
names in all of sports.

Russell Athletic® Uniforms –  
The Number One Team In The Business



innovation
The first and only ball with 
a built-in Micro Pump®, 
Spalding Infusion has brought 
a new era of convenience 
and spontaneity to the game 
of basketball by enabling 
players to add air to a ball –  
or let it out – anytime,  
anywhere without a pump  
and needle.

Spalding  
Infusion® – Not 

Your Dad’s 
Basketball

In the early 1900s, Russell introduced a revolutionary product for athletes –  
sweatshirts. Nearly a century later, the same company is still revolutionizing sweats 
by eliminating the sweat. Russell Athletic’s Sweatless Sweats™ is the industry’s first 
line of moisture management fleece, but hardly Russell’s only new performance 
product. The strength of the brand’s Dri-Power® line is based on performance 
attributes, while Stretch Mesh™ jerseys are changing the way football teams suit 
up. These products represent the type of innovation that can redefine an apparel 
category and for which consumers are willing to pay a premium. Product innovation, 
in fact, is critical in the business of performance sporting goods due to its ability 
to stimulate high-margin, top-line sales growth. As Russell continues to build its 
portfolio of athletic brands, this process will be a key corporate priority.
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It’s a runner’s dream –  
climate control for the body.  
Brooks has made it a reality  
with its new HVAC technol-
ogy, leading to some of the 
most advanced heat and 
moisture-transfer running 
gear in history. Thanks to 
a highly engineered combi-
nation of materials, HVAC 
socks, shoes, shorts and 
shirts spread the heat to 
avoid the sweat and odor.

Brooks® – 
The Running 

Addict’s 
Running Shoe 



With its authentic heritage of technical apparel for the 
outdoors, Mossy Oak has capitalized on the passion for 
its brand with the introduction of Elements™. This new, 
branded lifestyle line is perfect – taking Mossy Oak 
from hunting in the great outdoors to lounging by  
the fireplace.

Mossy Oak® – From The Coldest Climate To The Warmest Cabin
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efficiency

JERZEES® Sweats – A Classic For The Masses
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It’s the granddaddy of sports apparel – the sweatshirt – and no one sells 
more of this classic than JERZEES. As the #1 supplier of sweatshirts in 

the Artwear market and the #1 men’s and boys’ brand in the mass retail 
channel, JERZEES is the go-to brand for this basic athletic staple.
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More for less – it’s a continuous goal at Russell. Manufacturing efficiencies are 
critical to maintaining our competitiveness and we are fortunate to have scale on our 
side. As one of the largest players in the Artwear and mass retail channels, we can 
capitalize on scale economies not available to many competitors. Our manufacturing 
plants feature software systems and state-of-the-art engineering that enable them 
to deliver increasing levels of productivity. Russell is also committed to investing in 
new technologies that not only bring higher levels of efficiency, but also improve our 
supply chain logistics and customer service. A great example is our participation in a 
pilot project with Wal-Mart. This project is testing RFID (radio frequency identification) 
technology for inventory tracking purposes.

efficiency

With 130 years of history behind it, BIKE is one of the most familiar names in sports. 
We’re now making BIKE’s baseball shirts available to our Artwear customers, who are 
enthusiastic about imprinting on this time-tested classic athletic brand. It’s a double 
play for Russell – BIKE adds a new distribution channel and its brand name provides  
a new growth opportunity for us in this market.

BIKE® – New Fans For An Old Friend
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With Russell behind it, this line of women’s performance  
apparel is quickly becoming a leading supplier of sports bras  

to national sporting goods stores, thanks in part to its popular  
“Fit Fest” in-store events where Moving Comfort experts  

teach women how to find the perfect fit for their athletic needs.

Moving Comfort® – More Market Support Than Ever
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Innovation
Building on our authentic athletic heritage, Russell has a new sense of direction – expanding  
our position as a sporting goods company. We have made six strategic acquisitions in the  
last three years. Each of these acquisitions had a specific purpose. With a foundation in  
Russell Athletic football uniforms, a logical extension was BIKE shoulder pads and Spalding  
footballs. The strength in Spalding basketballs was a natural catalyst for us to add backboards, 
rims and nets. And, after we entered the running and fitness market with Moving Comfort 
performance apparel for women, we substantially heightened our position in running 
through Brooks. Yet, even as logical as this progression has been, the true excitement lies 
with where we can take these products and brands in the future.
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As one of the leading backboard systems and accessories  
suppliers in the world, the Huffy Sports name has been  
a staple on basketball courts for years, from neighborhood 
backyards to NBA arenas.  As part of the Russell portfolio,  
Huffy Sports now is embarking on new product development 
and looking forward to new levels of profitability.

Huffy Sports™ – Bouncing Back Strong

direction
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This year’s annual report marks a milestone for Russell Corporation. For the first time in its 103-year history, our business has a presence in each of the 

three major segments of the sporting goods industry. We have successfully expanded the Company’s product line from athletic apparel to also encompass 

athletic equipment and footwear. In doing so, we have expanded our playing space from a $24 billion market to a $52 billion wholesale sporting goods 

market. With a heritage deeply rooted in athletics, a brand portfolio of category leaders, a cost-effective operational platform, distribution across every 

marketing channel and a strong, experienced team of talent, Russell is playing an entirely new game and equipped to win – better than ever.
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Jack Ward 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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equipment and footwear brands are marketed  
through nearly every retail channel – from 
mass merchandisers to specialty sports stores.  
These brands differentiate themselves through  
product innovation, performance attributes, 
consumer marketing and often, in the case of 
equipment, exclusive patents.

We also distribute our apparel through 
the Artwear market. This distribution 
channel generally has wholesale market 
characteristics, with margins and profitability 
driven by cost efficiencies, volume and scale. 
A low cost structure combined with high 
market share enables our Artwear business 
to generate significant levels of profit and 
cash flow. This cash flow, in turn, can serve 
as capital for reinvestment into the value-
added brands that we need to continue to 
further strengthen our business model.

Creating Brand Synergies
Individually, nearly every Russell brand 
enjoys a market leading position in at least 

of sports marketing and distribution. 
Yet, our business has been historically 
confined to only 46 percent of the overall 
sporting goods market by virtue of being 
a pure apparel player – and, even within 
this market, our business has been 
more weighted toward men’s and boys’ 
categories. As we began looking for the 
necessary components to rebuild our 
business model, it became increasingly 
apparent that our athletic heritage and 
competencies needed to be leveraged  
into the other 54 percent of the market.

With a strong capital structure in place, 
we have spent the past few years acquiring 
brands that fit our criteria while diversifying 
our overall business. This activity continued 
in 2004 with three strategic acquisitions. Two  
of these purchases, American Athletic, Inc. and  
Huffy Sports, have provided a platform to  
expand our Spalding brand into the back- 
board and backboard systems segment of the 
basketball market. Our purchase of Brooks 

The past 12 months have been a positive 
and productive period at Russell. Sales 
and earnings increased by double digits 
over 2003. We are pleased with this per-
formance, particularly given the ongoing 
pricing and cost pressures that were 
evident during the year. From a long-term 
perspective, however, the real news of  
the year was on the strategic front, where 
we continued our transformation of 
Russell Corporation.

Those familiar with our business know  
that sweeping change has been the norm 
rather than the exception at Russell since 
1998, when we began transitioning our  
apparel business from one that was manufac- 
turing driven into one that is market focused. 
We eliminated unprofitable activities and 
dramatically reshaped our cost structure 
to reflect the realities of an intensely 
competitive industry. In the process of 
implementing these changes, we have 
continuously honed a strategic direction 

one distribution channel and is a success 
story in its own right. When we view our 
entire brand portfolio collectively, however, 
we begin to see new ways to stimulate 
growth and create value. The linkage of 
Spalding, AAI and Huffy Sports is a great 
example. Spalding enjoys the fourth-high-
est awareness of any sports brand in the 
U.S. and with its long history of supplying 
equipment in a variety of sports, its name 
is most closely associated with basketball. 
Backboards, which depend on engineering 
and patents, are a natural extension of 
Spalding’s ball business. In order to get 

Sports at year-end provided us an entrée into  
the athletic footwear business.  As 2005 
dawned, Russell, for the first time in its history, 
was participating in all three segments of 
the $52 billion sporting goods industry.

Relationships Among Our Brands
Our brand and product portfolio today 
spans a wide variety of sports and product 
categories. It’s important to understand how 
they differ and the relationships among 
one another. Distribution channels, for 
instance, are a major line of demarcation 
in the Company. Russell’s athletic apparel, 

that moves Russell toward a business model  
better suited to sustain growth and profitabil-
ity over the long term. This model is built 
around value-added brands and products 
that can command premium pricing on a 
more consistent and predictable basis. The  
operating characteristics resulting from this 
model should result in higher investment 
valuations, thus driving shareholder value.

Building A New Business Model
Russell’s greatest asset lies in its strong 
athletic heritage. In fact, one of our core 
competencies is an intimate knowledge 
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Equipped to Win
Though we are hopeful that we can 
benefit from improved conditions in the 
coming quarters, we also are realistic 
enough to know that every dollar made 
in our business is hard earned. The game 
is never easy, but we believe Russell 
crossed a strategic threshold in 2004 
as we continued to expand our position 
in the industry. The strength of our core 
businesses and our recent acquisitions are 
bringing new levels of excitement, energy 
and enthusiasm to the organization. 
Increasingly, we have more plays at our 
disposal, more chances to win. 

Our strong, continued commitment 
to diversity in the marketplace and in the  
workplace will strengthen our business 
inside and out. I want to thank the  
thousands of veteran Russell team  
members who have helped us reach  
this point and to welcome our new  
additions. Your combined talent, 

priority during the first half of 2005 is 
to assess the entire portfolio and then 
begin fine-tuning our business and brand 
relationships to maximize our strengths 
and leverage our position. In fact, the 
fun is just beginning for the marketing-
minded within our organization. We have 
assembled a group of legendary brand 
names in their respective sporting areas. 
Our challenge is to take each to a new 
level of performance through innovative 
product development, marketing relation-
ships and cross-pollination of products 
and distribution channels.

We are optimistic that we can execute  
this challenge in an industry environment 
that is more conducive to growth than 
industry conditions have allowed in recent  
years. Continued strengthening of the 
overall market will help our consumer retail  
business, as well as our Artwear business, 
where corporate spending influences a 
significant level of sales. 

into the backboard business, we acquired 
companies – AAI, which serves the highly 
engineered institutional end of the market 
(arenas) and Huffy Sports, a larger, more 
retail-driven brand (backyards). The combi-
nation of these three businesses resulted 
in Russell becoming the largest basketball 
equipment company in the world. To further 
capitalize on this position, we expanded 
our major sports licensing agreements 
with the NBA for both basketballs and 
basketball backboards – the first time in 
the sport’s history that they were combined 
into one agreement. The long-term nature 
of this agreement will allow us to make 
greater investments in the program and 
grow in tandem with the NBA and the 
sport of basketball internationally.

While the NBA agreement is certainly  
the most visible synergy that our portfolio  
has created to date, it is not alone. We believe  
that Huffy Sports, which was unprofitable 
when we acquired it, is quickly returning to 

commitment and perseverance on  
the part of Russell customers and  
shareholders are truly what make us  
equipped to win.

Sincerely,

Jack Ward
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

In recent years, price reductions  
have masked much of the aggressive cost 
savings that we have realized. Last year 
alone, we targeted $50 million – and 
achieved $60 million – in cost reductions. 
A more stable pricing environment in 
2005 would enable these cost savings 
and efficiencies to become more apparent 
on the bottom line. There will also be 
more cost efficiencies in 2005 and beyond, 
including those associated with the open-
ing of a new textile facility in Merendon, 
Honduras, that will service many of our 
Central American sewing facilities.

profitability in part due to its association with 
Spalding. Moving Comfort, our women’s 
performance apparel line, is expanding distri- 
bution significantly as it taps into Russell’s 
strong relationships with sports retail customers.  
BIKE Athletic,  one of the oldest brands in all 
of sports, is selling baseball apparel through 
Russell Artwear, opening a new revenue  
channel for BIKE and bringing a more premium- 
priced product to the Artwear channel.

Our Game Plan in 2005
This story is by no means complete. With 
the Brooks acquisition, our strategic 

...we have continuously honed a strategic direction  
that moves Russell toward a business model better suited  

to sustain growth and profitability over the long term.
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How are you financing acquisitions 
and investments in the business, and 
what sort of capacity do you have on 
the balance sheet?

Jack Ward: Last year, we used $158 million  
in cash for acquisitions. At year-end, our total  
debt-to-capital capitalization was 41%. Of 
course, that includes the closing of the Brooks 
deal right at year-end. Over the course of the  
last three years, we’ve paid for our acquisi-
tions from the cash flow generated by the 
balance of our business. The result is a much  
stronger balance sheet today than three or 
four years ago – and with a much broader  
portfolio of brands and product categories.

Russell has made a big investment 
in basketball. What is the rationale 
behind this?

Jon Letzler: Spalding is one of the great-
est names in sports, and its association with 

to support its brands. Swift and dramatic 
change was imperative. Many of the really 
tough changes have been accomplished, 
although a cost-efficient mentality is now 
part of our day-to-day operations and an 
area where we will always be vigilant. 
The changes at the Company over the 
last couple of years have largely centered 
on acquisitions that are expanding and 
diversifying our business in exciting new 
ways. We expect these acquisitions to be 
a catalyst for more change and growth 
over time. We certainly know the potential 
is there.

You have made six acquisitions  
in the past three years. Will  
the Company remain in an  
acquisitive mode?

Jack Ward: We will certainly remain  
opportunistic regarding acquisitions.  
The sporting goods industry – both on  

Will the tremendous pace of change 
that Russell has experienced over 
the past six years continue?

Jack Ward: Constant change and 
evolution are an intrinsic part of operating 
and growing any successful business, 
particularly a consumer products-oriented 
one. Six years ago, Russell had significant 
catching up to do in terms of getting a 
more competitive cost structure in place 
and in building a marketing infrastructure 

basketball is particularly high. We intend  
to leverage this potential in every way  
possible. Basketball, as a sport, is a com- 
pelling story. It is by far the most popular 
team sport in America with high school  
and organized community league partici- 
pation increasing steadily over the past  
decade. We also like the fact that basket-
ball is played casually, on a pick-up basis,  
more than any other team sport. This helps  
to fuel retail sales, in addition to team 
sales. Basketball’s worldwide appeal, as  
exhibited by its growing popularity in 

the supplier and retailer side – is experi-
encing consolidation. We will capitalize on 
this trend as good acquisition candidates 
emerge. We define good candidates as 
businesses that can create synergies with 
our existing brand portfolio or those that 
help us to diversify into a new product 
line or channel – at the right price. On the 
equipment side of the business, which is 
often driven by patents and engineering, 
the only way to get into a category is 
by a purchase, which was the case with 
Spalding, AAI and Huffy Sports.

Q&

A
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Jack Ward, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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China, creates international potential 
for us, especially when you consider our 
relationship with the NBA.

Can we draw any analogies between 
what you have done with Spalding 
in basketball and what you might 
intend to do with Brooks in running?

Jack Ward: The strategic rationale behind 
Brooks was primarily to get us into the 
athletic footwear segment of the market,  
a segment that represents a nearly $10 bil- 
lion category. Brooks is a great success 
story in and of itself. It has an exceptionally 
well-defined market niche in performance 
running equipment and has grown its 
market share in specialty running accounts 
from 13 percent to 17 percent in just three 
years. Sales have grown at a compound 
rate of more than 15 percent over the past 
three years and Brooks’ margins currently 
are higher than the core Russell business. 

front-line tactic in fighting obesity. The 
participation of women in sports has 
been increasing for more than a decade, 
further diversifying our potential base of 
customers. And, though it is hardly news, 
it is still worth pointing out that athletic 
apparel and footwear is largely casual 
apparel. It’s what people wear – whether 
they are actually playing a sport or just 
playing a video game. The bottom line is 
that sports are a part of life and that will 
always make our business relevant.

Where should shareholders look for 
organic growth in the business?

Jon Letzler: We expect top-line growth in 
every major brand at Russell over the next 
couple of years, including newly acquired 
brands. From Spalding to Brooks to Moving 
Comfort, we think we have a multitude 
of growth opportunities in front of us. We 
continue to see market share growth in most 
categories of the Artwear segment as well. 
Overall, we expect to see organic growth in 
the mid-single digits, obviously with some 
of the smaller brands significantly outpacing 
those numbers on a percentage basis.

What is the general industry outlook 
for the sporting goods market and are  
there any notable demographic trends  
that could influence growth favorably?

Jon Letzler: Last year, the overall sporting 
goods market grew by four percent and 

This is clearly a brand that is working and 
performing exceptionally well. We intend 
to support this momentum. At the same 
time, we are now in a great position with 
all of our brands to share ideas with each 
other about product innovations and the 
engineering of high-performance tech- 
nical products, whether athletic apparel  
or footwear.

that figure reflects growth in all three areas 
– apparel, equipment and footwear. Further 
strengthening of the economy will continue 
to help sales. Long-term, however, there 
are several positive factors. Aging baby 
boomers, among those with the highest 
level of disposable incomes, are interested 
in fitness and health. The obesity epidemic 
continues to grow in public awareness, 
and more active lifestyles certainly are a 
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Jon Letzler, President and Chief Operating Officer
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General
Russell Corporation (“Russell,” “we,” “our” or the “Company”) 
is a leading authentic athletic and sporting goods company 
with over a century of success. Headquartered in Atlanta, 
Georgia, we sell athletic uniforms, apparel, athletic footwear, 
sporting goods, athletic equipment, and accessories for a wide 
variety of sports, outdoor and fitness activities under well-
known brands such as Russell Athletic®, JERZEES®, Spalding®,  
and Brooks®. Other brands include American Athletic®, Huffy 
Sports®, Mossy Oak®, Cross Creek®, Moving Comfort®, Bike®,  
Dudley®, Discus®, and Sherrin®. 

Since incorporating in 1902, the “Russell” name has been 
associated with high quality apparel. In 1998, we initiated a 
restructuring and reorganization program with the objectives 
of (i) transitioning the Company from a manufacturing-driven 
business to a consumer-focused organization that markets 
branded apparel products; and (ii) creating an efficient, low-
cost operating structure with the flexibility to take advantage 
of future opportunities to further reduce costs, such as stra-
tegic outsourcing arrangements, transferring our sewing and 
assembly operations to offshore facilities, and utilizing increas-
ingly efficient domestic facilities. We substantially completed 
our restructuring and reorganization program in 2001.

In addition to the initiatives of the restructuring and reorgani-
zation program in our apparel business, we began evaluating 
selective acquisition opportunities to further diversify our 
portfolio of brands and products. In 2000, we acquired the 
Mossy Oak® camouflage apparel business of Haas Outdoors, 
one of the premier camouflage brands in the world. In 2003, 
we completed two acquisitions that launched our participa-
tion in the sporting goods and athletic equipment markets. The 
acquisition of the Bike Athletic Company business introduced 
athletic supporters, knee and elbow pads, braces, and protec-
tive equipment into our product offering. Then, with the May 
2003 acquisition of the brands, contracts and related assets of 
the sporting goods business of Spalding Sports Worldwide, 
Inc., we became a leading marketer of basketballs and other 
inflatable sporting goods products.

During 2004, we further expanded our sports equipment prod-
uct mix with three strategic acquisitions. In June, we acquired the 
assets of American Athletic, Inc., a leading supplier of gymnastics  
equipment and basketball backboard and backboard systems, 

which provided a platform for the extension of our Spalding 
business. In July, we acquired the Huffy Sports business, further 
expanding our line of basketball backboards, backboard sys-
tems and accessories. American Athletic and Huffy Sports now 
operate as part of our Spalding business. Then, in December, 
we entered the athletic footwear business with the acquisition 
of Brooks Sports. The Brooks® brand is a leader in high perfor-
mance athletic footwear and apparel (primarily for running) 
and is considered a pioneer in the technical athletic footwear 
and apparel industry. 

Today, Russell is a major branded athletic and sporting goods 
company with a rich history of marketing athletic uniforms, 
apparel, athletic footwear, and equipment for a wide variety 
of sports and fitness activities. Its global position is built on 
well-known brands and quality products. Through Russell 
Athletic, the Company is a leading supplier of team uniforms 
in the U.S. Through Spalding, which now includes American 
Athletic and Huffy Sports, Russell is also the largest provider 
of basketball equipment in the world. This position was 
solidified by our recently signed eight-year agreement with 
the National Basketball Association (“NBA”) that allows us 
to continue our involvement with one of the fastest growing 
sports in the world.
 
We offer a diversified por tfolio of brands and products 
across multiple distribution channels and our products are 
marketed and sold throughout North America and approxi-
mately 100 other countries. We market and distribute our 
products through mass merchandisers, sporting goods deal-
ers, specialty running stores, department and sports specialty 
stores, college stores, on-line retailers, mail order houses, 
artwear distributors, screenprinters, embroiderers, and on a 
limited basis through owned retail stores. We sell our prod-
ucts primarily through a combination of salaried, Company-
employed sales persons and commission agents. We operate 
in two segments: Domestic, which includes the United States 
and the international sales and licensing revenue from our 
Spalding business, and International Apparel. Domestic seg-
ment sales represented approximately 90% of our total 2004 
net sales. The Domestic segment is further aligned by Athletic 
and Activewear. For fiscal 2004, these channels represented 
approximately 43% and 47%, respectively of our total net 
sales. For fiscal 2003, these channels represented approxi-
mately 41% and 51%, respectively of our total net sales, and 
for fiscal 2002, these channels represented approximately 
34% and 58%, respectively of our total net sales. International 
Apparel segment sales represented approximately 10% of our 
total 2004 net sales.
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For our apparel business, we produce or source products utilizing 
a combination of owned facilities primarily in the United States, 
Honduras and Mexico, as well as contractors and other suppliers 
around the world. Approximately 99% of our apparel sewing and 
assembly operations are conducted offshore for products sold by 
the Domestic segment (excluding socks). Our yarn spinning joint 
venture supplies the majority of our yarn requirements.

For our sporting goods and athletic equipment businesses, 
the products offered by Spalding, Brooks and Bike are gener-
ally sourced from third-party contractors outside the United 
States, primarily in Asia. American Athletic and Huffy Sports 
produce the majority of our basketball backboard and gym-
nastics equipment in Company-operated facilities. Steel and 
other raw materials used in this production are sourced from 
a variety of suppliers and countries.

Our dependence on third parties for manufacturing and raw 
materials production could subject us to difficulties in obtain-
ing timely delivery of products and materials that meet our 
quality standards. We do not have long-term supply contracts 
for any of our raw materials other than yarn, but we believe 
there are readily available alternative sources of supply. 
However, if we are unable to secure or maintain our relation-
ships with contractors or suppliers, or experience delays in 
obtaining alternative sources of supply, we could encounter 
difficulties in satisfying our customers’ requirements, which 
could result in our customers canceling orders, demanding 
reduced prices, refusing to accept orders, or reducing future 
orders, any of which could have a material adverse effect on 
our business, results of operations and financial condition.

In addition, the raw materials used to manufacture our prod-
ucts are subject to price volatility caused by weather, supply 
conditions, government regulations, economic climate, and 
other unpredictable factors. To reduce the risk caused by 
market fluctuations, we have in the past entered into futures 
contracts to hedge commodity prices, principally cotton, 
on portions of anticipated purchases. However, we do not 
currently hold any significant hedging positions and have no 
present intention to engage in further commodity hedging. 
The supply agreement with our yarn joint venture provides 
for pricing to be calculated on a conversion cost basis plus 
the actual cost of raw materials. We direct the timing and 
pricing of cotton purchases by the joint venture. 

In October 2003, we announced an Operational Improvement 
Program (“OIP”) targeting $50 million in cost reductions to 
offset anticipated selling price decreases, higher fiber costs and 

other cost increases for fiscal 2004. During 2004, we increased 
the targeted savings of that program to $60 million. That plan 
included improving operating efficiencies and asset utilization, 
while streamlining processes in both our manufacturing and 
administrative areas such as: (1) lower full-packaged sourc-
ing costs; (2) increased efficiencies in existing manufacturing 
operations; (3) improved distribution costs; and (4) expanded 
production with lower cost contractors in Haiti.

Our results of operations are affected by numerous factors, 
including seasonal variations. Typically, demand for our apparel 
products is higher during the third and fourth quarters of each 
fiscal year. Weather conditions also affect the demand for our 
apparel products, particularly for our fleece (sweatshirts and 
sweatpants) products. Demand in our basketball and basketball 
equipment business is typically higher in the second and fourth 
quarters, but is not as pronounced as the seasonality of our 
fleece business. We expect demand for our newest acquisition, 
Brooks, to be slightly higher in the first half of the year. Gener-
ally, we produce and store finished goods inventory, particularly 
fleece, to meet the expected demand for delivery in the 
upcoming season. If, after producing and storing inventory in 
anticipation of seasonal deliveries, demand is significantly less 
than expected, we may hold inventory for extended periods 
of time or sell excess inventory at reduced prices. Either sce-
nario could adversely affect our results of operations. Reduced 
demand could also result in lower plant and equipment utiliza-
tion, which would have a negative impact on our business. In 
addition, due to the time that may lapse between production 
and shipment of goods, prices may not immediately reflect 
changes in our cost of raw materials and other costs.

Some of our customers are material to our business and 
results of operations. For fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 respec-
tively, Wal-Mart and its subsidiaries, our largest customer, 
represented approximately 19.3%, 21.2%, and 19.6% of our 
consolidated gross sales. Our percentage of gross sales to 
Wal-Mart and its subsidiaries may increase as we pursue 
opportunities for new business with Wal-Mart. Our top ten 
customers accounted for approximately 44% of our 2004 
gross sales. We believe that consolidation in the retail indus-
try, particularly in the sporting goods retail industry and the 
strength of our customers have given certain customers the 
ability to make greater demands and we expect this trend 
to continue. However, we also believe that this consolidation 
may afford us greater cost savings potential as a result of 
more advantageous economies of scale, as we have such a 
broad array of products and brands focused on the sporting 
goods market. If consolidation continues, our sales and results 
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of operations may be increasingly sensitive to deterioration 
in the financial condition of, or other adverse developments 
with, one or more of our customers. Although we believe 
that our relationships with our major customers are good, we 
generally do not have long-term contracts with any of them, 
which is typical of our industry. As a result, although our cus-
tomers provide indications of their product needs and pur-
chases on a season by season basis, they generally purchase 
our products on an order-by-order basis and the relationship, 
as well as particular orders, can be terminated at any time. 
The loss of, or significant decrease in, business from any of our 
major customers could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, results of operations and financial condition.

Financial Information About Segments
Russell has two reportable segments: Domestic and Interna-
tional Apparel. The Domestic segment is further aligned by 
Athletic and Activewear. Athletic and Activewear have been 
aggregated into the Domestic reportable segment because 
these business lines are similar in economic characteristics, 
products, production processes, type of customer, distribu-
tion method and regulatory environment. The International 
Apparel segment primarily consists of sales of our core Russell 
Athletic® and JERZEES® apparel products outside the United 
States. For further discussion of the financial information on 
our segments, see Note 9 of  “Notes to Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements” in Part II, Item 8 of this Report on Form 10-K.

Domestic. Our Domestic segment is organized into two 
business groups: Athletic and Activewear. The Athletic group 
markets and sells apparel, footwear, sporting goods, and sports 
equipment products under the brand names Russell Athletic®, 
Brooks®, Bike®, Mossy Oak®, Moving Comfort®, Spalding®, American 
Athletic®, Huffy Sports®, and Dudley®. The Activewear Group is 
made up of JERZEES® products sold to a variety of retailers, 
predominately mass merchandisers, and certain JERZEES®, 
Cross Creek®, and Three Rivers® unprinted or “blank” products 
that are sold to artwear distributors and wholesalers. Typically, 
these customers then decorate the products or sell them to 
a third party, such as a screen printer or embroiderer, many 
of which we may also sell direct. The Activewear channel also 
includes fabrics that we sell to other apparel manufacturers, 
primarily for the manufacture of school and industrial uniforms.

International Apparel. The International Apparel segment 
is made up primarily of sales of our core Russell Athletic® and 
JERZEES® apparel products outside the United States. For fiscal 
2004, this segment represented approximately 10%, or $122.8 
million, of total net sales. The majority of our International 

Apparel segment business is sales of JERZEES® products to 
the artwear/careerwear channel in Europe. In Europe, we also 
market Russell Athletic® products, primarily through  licensing 
arrangements. Russell Athletic® products are also sold in Japan, 
where JERZEES® and Discus® products are sold as well. Our 
International Apparel segment sales force and the independent 
agents dedicated to the international business are primar-
ily based in the United Kingdom, continental Europe, Canada, 
Mexico, Japan, and Australia and are generally assigned by busi-
ness line and by geographic territory.

Financial Information About Geographic Areas
See “Enterprise-wide Disclosures” from Note 9 of “Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements” in Part II, Item 8 of this 
Report on Form 10-K.

Our foreign operations subject us to risks customarily associ-
ated with foreign operations. Our products are sold in more 
than 100 countries and we have facilities in numerous foreign 
countries, including Australia, Honduras, Mexico, and the 
United Kingdom, with the majority of our foreign sales being 
in Europe, Australia and Mexico. Net sales are collected in the 
local currency, exposing the Company to risks of change in 
social, political and economic conditions inherent in operating 
in foreign countries, including, but not limited to, the follow-
ing: (i) currency fluctuations; (ii) import and export license 
requirements; (iii) trade restrictions; (iv) changes in tariffs and 
taxes; (v) restrictions on repatriating foreign profits back to 
the United States; (vi) foreign laws and regulations; (vii) dif-
ficulties in staffing and managing international operations; (viii) 
political unrest; and (ix) disruptions or delays in shipments.

We have foreign currency exposures relating to buying, selling 
and financing in currencies other than our functional curren-
cies. We also have foreign currency exposure related to foreign 
denominated revenues and costs translated into U.S. dollars. 
These exposures are primarily concentrated in the euro, British 
pound sterling and Mexican peso. Fluctuations in foreign currency 
exchange rates may affect the results of our operations and the 
value of our foreign assets, which in turn may adversely affect 
reported earnings and the comparability of period-to-period 
results of operations. Fluctuations in currency exchange rates may 
also affect the relative prices at which we and our foreign com-
petitors sell products in the same markets. In addition, changes in 
the value of the relevant currencies may affect the cost of certain 
items required in our operations. Fluctuations in foreign currency 
exchange rates could have a material adverse effect on our busi-
ness, results of operations and financial condition. For further 
discussion of foreign currency exposures, see “Quantitative and 
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Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risks” in Part II, Item 7A of 
this Report on Form 10-K.

Intellectual Property
We market our products under a number of trademarks and 
tradenames. We have registered trademarks in the United 
States for Russell Athletic®, Jerzees®, Bike®, Cross Creek®, Mov-
ing Comfort®, Spalding®, Infusion®, Dudley®, American Athletic®, 
Huffy Sports®, and Brooks® and variations of these brands as 
well as other trademarks. We have similar trademark registra-
tions internationally. We also have a worldwide license to use 
certain registered Mossy Oak® trademarks. The protection of 
our trademarks is important to our business. We believe that 
our registered and common law trademarks have significant 
value and these trademarks are instrumental to our ability to 
create and sustain demand for our products.

In December 2004, we entered into a new eight-year global 
partnership with the NBA, under which Spalding maintains its 
exclusive rights to produce and sell a complete line of NBA and 
team-identified basketballs (including the official game ball of the 
NBA). The Spalding® NBA Game Ball will continue to be the 
only basketball used during all NBA practices, exhibitions, games 
and international competitions, and Spalding will also continue 
to serve as the official ball of the WNBA and NBDL, the NBA’s 
developmental league. The agreements also provide for Spald-
ing and Huffy Sports to have exclusive rights to produce and 
sell NBA branded backboards and certain accessories to the 
retail channel. The agreements require us to (i) pay certain 
licensing fees, including fixed minimum fees plus a percentage of 
net sales of products, (ii) expend certain minimum amounts on 
advertising and promotion of NBA products, and (iii) provide a 
specified amount of product to the NBA and NBA teams free 
of charge. If we fail to comply with the material terms of the 
NBA agreements, including the obligation to pay licensing fees, 
the NBA may terminate the agreements.

Our Mossy Oak® license from Haas Outdoors is perpetual and 
permits us to use certain of the licensor’s trademarks, service 
marks, trade names, logos, and copyrights on apparel and acces-
sories. This license is non-exclusive for certain products includ-
ing accessories, gloves, headwear, footwear, bags, and products 
incorporating performance features such as special fabrics. The 
Mossy Oak® license also requires that we pay a licensing fee 
calculated as a percentage of net sales from our Mossy Oak® 
products, with certain minimum annual royalty payments 
through 2005. If we fail to comply with the material terms of 
the Mossy Oak® license, including the obligation to make royalty 
payments, Haas Outdoors may terminate the license.

We have three non-exclusive licenses with licensing agents 
that cover approximately 338 colleges and universities. One 
of those licenses expires on March 31, 2006 and another 
expires on March 31, 2007. The third license automatically 
renews for rolling one-year terms, but is subject to termina-
tion without cause at any time on 90 days notice. We also 
have approximately 43 licenses directly with colleges and 
universities that are generally for one to two year terms and 
require us to pay a licensing fee of a percentage of net sales.

Product innovation is a highly important factor in our sport-
ing goods and athletic equipment businesses and many of the 
innovations in the products marketed by those businesses 
have been patented. The loss of any of our patents could 
result in increased competition and reduced sales and mar-
gins of these products. However, we do not believe that the 
loss of any one patent would have a material effect on our 
business, results of operations and financial condition.

Competition
Competition in the apparel, sports equipment and athletic 
footwear industries varies by product line and we expect 
competition to intensify in all of our businesses. While no 
single competitor dominates any channel in which we oper-
ate, some of our competitors are larger, more diversified and 
have greater financial and other resources than we do. We, 
and others in our industry, face competition on many fronts, 
including, without limitation: (i) quality of product; (ii) brand 
recognition; (iii) price; (iv) product differentiation; (v) advertis-
ing; and (vi) customer service. We also compete with com-
panies outside the United States, many of which may have 
lower costs. Our ability to remain competitive in the areas of 
quality, price, marketing, product development, manufacturing, 
distribution, and order processing will, in large part, determine 
our future success. Our primary competitors in the Athletic 
group are Nike, Reebok, Adidas, Wilson, New Balance, ASICS, 
Champion, and Under Armour. Our primary competitors in 
the Activewear group are Hanes, Gildan, Fruit of the Loom, 
and various private label and house brands.

Employees
As of January 1, 2005, we employed approximately 14,400 
persons. We have never had a strike or work stoppage and 
consider our relationship with our employees to be good.

Regulation
We are subject to federal, state and local laws and regula-
tions affecting our business, including, but not limited to, those 
promulgated under the Occupational Safety and Health Act, 

2004 Form 10-K Annual Report



Russell Corporation and Subsidiaries

23
p.

the Consumer Product Safety Act, the Flammable Fabrics Act, 
the Textile Fiber Product Identification Act, and the rules and 
regulations of the Consumer Products Safety Commission 
and various environmental laws and regulations. We believe 
that we are in compliance with all applicable governmental 
regulations under these statutes. We also believe that we are 
in compliance with all current environmental requirements 
and we expect no material environmental expenditures in 
the foreseeable future to maintain such compliance.

Available Information
Our Internet address is www.russellcorp.com and our annual 
reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, 
current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those 
reports are available, free of charge, through the Investor Rela-
tions section of our website as soon as reasonably practicable 
after filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Reincorporation in Delaware
Our shareholders approved a proposal to change the Company’s 
state of incorporation from Alabama to Delaware (the “rein-
corporation”) at the annual meeting of shareholders held on 
April 21, 2004. However, as previously disclosed, an entity holding 
approximately 10% of our outstanding shares delivered a written 
notice of dissent to the proposal in accordance with Alabama 
law.  As a result, we have not yet proceeded with the reincorpo-
ration. On March 15, 2005, we entered into a Registration Rights 
Agreement with holders of an aggregate of 3,021,852 shares 
of the Company’s Common Stock, including members of the 
Russell family and affiliated entities.  Pursuant to the Registration 
Rights Agreement, we granted the holders certain demand and 
piggyback registration rights, and the holders waived their dis-
senters’ rights to the reincorporation.  The holders also agreed to 
refrain from certain actions affecting the Company for a period 
of 42 months and to vote or cause their shares to be voted 
in accordance with the recommendations of the Company’s 
management.  As a result of the waiver of dissenters’ rights, the 
Company intends to effect the reincorporation shortly.

Forward-Looking Information
This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations”, contains certain statements that describe our 
beliefs concerning future business conditions, prospects, growth 
opportunities, and the outlook for the Company based upon 
currently available information. Wherever possible, we have 
identified these “forward-looking” statements (as defined in the 
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the “Act”)) by 
words such as “anticipates”, “believes”, “could”, “may”, “intends”, 

“estimates”, “expects”, “projects”, and similar phrases. We 
include such statements because we believe it is important to 
communicate our future expectations to our shareholders, and 
we therefore make such forward-looking statements in reliance 
upon the safe harbor provisions of the Act.  All statements other 
than statements of historical fact are statements that could be 
deemed forward-looking statements, including, but not limited 
to, any projections of net sales, gross margin, expenses, or earn-
ings or losses from operations.  These forward-looking state-
ments are based upon assumptions we believe are reasonable.

Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks and 
uncertainties that could cause our actual results, performance 
and achievements to differ materially from those expressed in, 
or implied by, these statements, including, but not limited to: (a) 
changes in economic conditions such as changes in interest rates, 
currency exchange rates, commodity prices, and other external 
and political factors over which we have no control; (b) changes 
in weather and the seasonal nature of our business; (c) significant 
competitive activity, including, but not limited to, promotional 
and price competition; (d) changes in customer demand for 
our products and our ability to maintain customer relationships 
and grow our business; (e) risks associated with consolidation 
in the retail industry; (f) the ability to implement and achieve 
the goals of our Operational Improvement Program and other 
cost savings initiatives; (g) the collectibility of receivables from 
our customers; (h) our debt structure, cash management and 
cash requirements; (i) estimates and assumptions utilized in our 
accounting practices; (j) risks associated with our new Honduras 
textile operation; (k) our ability to efficiently utilize plants and 
equipment; (l) our mix of products sold; (m) effects of lawsuits 
and government regulations; (n) dependence on licenses from 
third parties, including, but not limited to, our agreements with 
the NBA; (o) price volatility of raw materials and the availability 
of alternative sources of supply; (p) reliance on a few customers 
for a portion of our sales; (q) dependence on third parties for 
the production of yarn and the manufacture of certain of our 
products; (r) our international operations; (s) protection of our 
intellectual property; (t) risks related to the Brooks, Huffy Sports 
and American Athletic acquisitions and our acquisition strategy; 
(u) our management of inventory levels and working capital; (v) 
our investments in capital expenditures; and (w) other risk factors 
listed from time to time in our SEC filings. The risks listed above 
are not exhaustive and other sections of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K may include additional factors that could adversely 
affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and 
cash flows. We assume no obligation to publicly update any for-
ward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, 
future events or otherwise.

2004 Form 10-K Annual Report
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 ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Russell’s principal executive office is located in Atlanta, Geor-
gia, with other offices located in Alexander City, Alabama, Ft. 
Payne, Alabama, Springfield, Massachusetts, Jefferson, Iowa, 
Sussex, Wisconsin, Bothell, Washington, and Chantilly, Virginia. 
We have manufacturing plants and distribution facilities for 
the Domestic segment in Alabama, Georgia, North Carolina, 
Iowa, Wisconsin, Washington, Mexico, and Honduras. We 
have secured most of our outstanding debt by a pledge 
of substantially all of our domestic assets, which included 
first mortgages on most of our real property in the United 
States, other than property held for sale, and encumbrances 
on manufacturing machinery held in the United States. We 
have no other material encumbrances on real property or 
manufacturing machinery.

We believe that all of our properties are well maintained and 
suitable for operation and are currently fully utilized for such 
purposes, excluding plants and equipment that are held for 
sale as a result of our OIP and our restructuring and reorgani-
zation program.

We utilize an aggregate of approximately 9,489,000 square 
feet of manufacturing, warehousing and office facilities, and 
have approximately 1,074,000 square feet that is either idle 
or held for sale. The following table summarizes the approxi-
mate areas of such facilities:

     International Total
Primary Use Domestic  Apparel  Square Feet

Apparel Manufacturing 4,117,000 – 4,117,000
Athletic Equipment Fabrication  
 and Assembly 268,000 – 268,000
Warehousing and Shipping 4,209,000 307,000 4,516,000
Administrative and Sales Offices 346,000 29,000 375,000
Idle or held for sale 1,074,000 – 1,074,000
Other  213,000 – 213,000

All presently utilized facilities in the U.S. are owned, except 
certain regional sales offices, certain warehousing and ship-
ping facilities, and the Company’s locations in Atlanta, Georgia, 
Springfield, Massachusetts, Sussex, Wisconsin, Bothell, Wash-
ington, and Chantilly, Virginia (see Note 8 of “Notes to Con-
solidated Financial Statements” in Part II, Item 8 of this Report 
on Form 10-K).

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are a co-defendant in Locke, et al. v. Russell Corporation, et 
al. filed on January 13, 2000 in the Circuit Court of Jefferson 
County, Alabama. Fifteen families who own property on Lake 
Martin in the Raintree Subdivision in Alexander City, Alabama, 
were the original plaintiffs in the case, which sought unspecified 
money damages for trespass and nuisance. However, ten fami-
lies dropped out of the case and there are five remaining plaintiff 
families. In May 2002, the trial court entered summary judgment 
in our favor on all but one of the plaintiffs’ claims. The remaining 
claim involves a private right of action for public nuisance. We 
filed a summary judgment motion in October 2003, which was 
denied in March 2004. Trial of the Locke case has been set for 
September 2005. A complaint substantially identical to the one 
filed in the Locke case was filed on November 20, 2001, in the 
Circuit Court of Jefferson County, Alabama, by two residents 
of the Raintree Subdivision (Gould v. Russell Corporation, et al.). 
The trial court has entered summary judgment in our favor on 
all claims in that case, and the plaintiffs in the case have filed 
a motion to alter that determination, which remains pending. 
The allegations in the Locke and Gould cases are similar to those 
contained in a case styled Sullivan, et al. v. Russell Corporation, et 
al., which was resolved in our favor by a ruling of the Alabama 
Supreme Court in 2001. We plan to vigorously defend the Locke 
and Gould suits.

We are a party to various other lawsuits arising out of the 
normal conduct of our business. We do not believe that any of 
these matters, if adversely determined, would have a material 
adverse effect upon us.

ITEM 4.  SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF 
SECURITY HOLDERS

No matter was submitted to a vote of security holders during 
the fourth quarter of the fiscal year covered by this report. 
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PART II

ITEM 5.  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Russell’s securities are traded on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and various other regional exchanges under the 
ticker symbol RML. As of March 11, 2005, we had approximately 9,000 holders of record of our common stock. The range of 
high and low prices of our common stock, year-end closing prices and the dividends per share declared during each calendar 
quarter of the last two years are presented in the following table:

2004 Dividend High Low Close

First $0.04 $18.83   $17.13
Second 0.04   19.23   15.60
Third 0.04   19.20   16.42
Fourth 0.04   19.78   16.22

 $0.16   $ 19.48

2003 Dividend High Low Close

First $0.04 $17.89 $14.94
Second 0.04 21.15 17.25
Third 0.04 20.39 15.43
Fourth 0.04 18.72 15.60

 $0.16   $17.56

We are subject to certain restrictions on our ability to pay dividends under the terms of our $325 million Senior Secured Credit 
Facilities and our $250 million aggregate principal amount of 9.25% Senior Unsecured Notes due 2010. For a description of such 
restrictions, see Note 2 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” in Part II, Item 8 of this Report on Form 10-K.

The following table summarizes our purchases of our common stock for the quarter ending January 1, 2005: 

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 

      (c) (d) 
      Total Number of  Maximum Number 
      Shares (or Units) (or Approximate Dollar 
    (a) (b) Purchased as Part of  Value) of Shares (or Units) 
    Total Number of Shares Average Price Publicly Announced  That May Yet Be Purchased 
Period (or Units) Purchased(1) Paid Per Share Plans or Programs(2) Under the Plans or Programs

October 3, 2004 – November 6, 2004 659 $17.60 N/A N/A
November 7, 2004 – December 4, 2004 167 $17.43 N/A N/A
December 5, 2004 – January 1, 2005 1,902 $18.66 N/A N/A

Total  2,728 $18.33 N/A N/A

(1)  The issuer purchases during the period reflected in the table represent shares delivered to us by employees to pay withholding taxes due upon the exercise of employee stock options and the 
vesting of a restricted stock award.

(2)  In connection with the exercise and vesting of stock option and restricted stock awards, we from time to time accept delivery of shares to pay the exercise price of employee stock options or to 
pay withholding taxes due upon the exercise of employee stock options or the vesting of restricted stock awards. We do not otherwise have any plan or program to purchase our common stock.

Our Chief Executive Officer certified to the NYSE on May 20, 2004, that he was not aware of any violation by the Company of 
the NYSE’s corporate governance listing standards.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

FIVE-YEAR SELECTED FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(Dollars in thousands, except Common Stock Data,
Financial Statistics And Other Data) 2004 2003 2002    2001 2000

Operations
Net sales(a) (b) $1,298,252 $1,186,263 $1,164,328 $1,160,925 $1,226,328
Cost of goods sold(a) (b) (c) 934,372 842,127 825,763 894,018 885,476
SG&A(a) (b) 269,558 246,477 235,810 226,458 229,991
Other - net(a) (b)  (6,469) 4,018 (2,216) 94,718 45,383
Operating income(a) (b) (c) 100,791 93,641 104,971 (54,269) 65,478
Interest expense(a) (b) 30,843 29,663 30,246 32,324 32,401
Earnings of non-controlling interests(b) 2,021 – – – –
Income (loss) before income taxes(a) (c) (d) 67,927 63,978 54,628 (86,593) 33,077
Income tax (benefit) provision(e) 19,991 20,939 20,322 (31,107) 18,562
Net income (loss) applicable to  
 common shares(a) (c) (d) (e) 47,936 43,039 34,306 (55,486) 14,515

Financial Data
Depreciation and amortization(c) (b) $     48,022 $    44,936 $    45,061 $    49,408 $    54,645
Capital expenditures(c) (b) 35,494 38,641 28,343 48,975 59,457
Working capital(a) (b) (g) 457,814 403,485 383,402 400,441 471,414
Long-term debt(a) (b) 372,921 272,355 265,000 310,936 384,211
Stockholders’ equity 562,851 514,864 467,253 454,231 525,940
Capital employed 935,772 787,219 732,253 765,167 910,151
Total assets(a) (b) (g) 1,254,109 1,021,110 961,399 993,795 1,153,160

Common Stock Data
Net income (loss) assuming dilution(a) (c) (d) (e) $        1.46 $        1.32 $        1.06 $       (1.74) $        0.44
Dividends 0.16 0.16 0.16 0.46 0.56
Book value 17.18 15.83 14.52 14.19 16.49
Price Range:
 High  19.78 21.15 19.55 20.84 22.94
 Low  15.60 14.94 13.14 11.02 12.13

Financial Statistics
Net sales divided by:
 Receivables(a) (b) (f) (h) 7.0 7.3 7.4 6.4 6.3
 Inventories(a) (b) (f) (h) 3.5 3.6 3.5 3.0 3.1
 Capital employed(a) (b) (f) (h) 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.4 1.3
Interest coverage(a) (b) (c) 3.3 3.2 3.5 (1.7) 2.0
Income (loss) before income taxes  
 as a percent of sales(a) (c) (d) (f) 5.2% 5.4% 4.7% (7.5)% 2.7%
Net income (loss) as a percent of sales(a) (c) (d) (e) (f) 3.7% 3.6% 2.9% (4.8)% 1.2%
Net income (loss) as a percent of  
 stockholders’equity(a) (c) (d) (e) (f) 8.9% 8.8% 7.4% (11.3)% 2.7%

Other Data
Net common shares outstanding (000s omitted) 32,765 32,523 32,186 32,008 31,896
Approximate number of common shareholders 9,000 9,000 9,000 8,800 8,000
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a)  In 2004, we acquired the assets of American Athletic, Inc. (“AAI”) and Huffy 
Sports, along with the Brooks Sports business. In 2003, we acquired certain assets 
of Bike Athletic Company and Spalding Sports Worldwide, Inc. The results of opera-
tions for AAI, Huffy Sports, Brooks Sports, Bike and Spalding have been included in 
our consolidated financial statements since their respective acquisition dates. See 
Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements for more information on these 
acquisitions.

b)  On April 3, 2004, we began consolidating Frontier Yarns, LLC in accordance with 
Financial Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities. The 
consolidation of Frontier Yarns, LLC impacted our 2004 balance sheet and results 
of operations as follows (in thousands):

    Increase (decrease)

Net sales $  2,039
Cost of goods sold   (2,160)
SG&A  2,061
Other - net (527)
Operating income 2,665
Interest expense 644
Earnings of non-controlling interest 2,021
Depreciation and amortization 2,159
Capital expenditures 41
Working capital 8,080
Long-term debt 7,838
Total assets 24,878

c)  Fiscal 2000, 2001 and 2003 include special charges related to certain restructuring 
plans of $65,011,000, $144,092,000 and $7,303,000 respectively. The after-tax 
impact of these charges on 2000, 2001 and 2003 earnings was ($1.46), ($2.88) 
and ($0.15) respectively, per diluted share. There were no significant special 
charges incurred in fiscal 2004 or 2002. 

d)  Fiscal 2002 includes a charge of $20,097,000 ($12,621,000, net of tax) associated 
with the early retirement of long-term indebtedness as described in Note 2 to the 
consolidated financial statements. The after-tax impact of this charge on 2002 earn-
ings was ($0.39) per diluted share.

e)  Fiscal 2004 and 2003 were favorably impacted by non-recurring tax effects. See Note 
6 to the consolidated financial statements for more information on income taxes.

f) Average of amounts at beginning and end of each fiscal year.

g)  Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the fiscal 2004 
presentation.

h)  Excludes impact from our acquisition of Brooks Sports since it was purchased at 
2004 year end.

ITEM 7.  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

General
Today, Russell Corporation is a major branded athletic and 
sporting goods company with a rich history of marketing 
athletic uniforms, apparel and equipment for a wide variety 
of sports and fitness activities. Its global position is built on 
well-known brands and quality products. 

With established brands such as Russell Athletic®, JERZEES®, 
Spalding®, and Brooks®, we have products to meet the needs 
of everyone, from the serious athlete to the weekend warrior. 
Other brands include American Athletic®, Huffy Sports®, Mossy 
Oak®, Cross Creek®, Moving Comfort®, Bike®, Dudley®, Discus®, 
and Sherrin®. 

Founded in 1902, Russell started on a small scale with a few 
pieces of equipment and a small building. As the company 
grew, it became a pioneer in the athletic team uniform busi-
ness and one of the first companies to produce the most 
popular athletic product of all – the sweatshirt. 

In 1998, major restructuring efforts began the transition-
ing of the company from a vertical manufacturing-driven 
company with the majority of its production in the U.S., to 
a customer and consumer-driven apparel company. Over the 
next three years, we moved away from ownership of certain 
textile operations (yarn spinning) while successfully shifting 
the majority of our apparel operations (sewing) to lower cost 
offshore facilities, primarily Mexico and Central America. In 
October 2003, we announced an Operational Improvement 
Program (“OIP”) targeting $50 million in cost reductions to 
offset anticipated selling price decreases, higher fiber costs and 
other cost increases for fiscal 2004. During 2004, we increased 
the targeted savings of that program to $60 million. That plan 
included improving operating efficiencies and asset utilization, 
while streamlining processes in both our manufacturing and 
administrative areas such as: (1) lower full-packaged sourcing 
costs; (2) increased efficiencies in textile (dyeing and finishing) 
operations; (3) improved distribution costs; and (4) expanded 
production with lower cost contractors in Haiti. As part of 
the OIP, we eliminated approximately 100 positions in 2003, 
primarily salaried and administrative office staff, and incurred 
asset impairment charges associated with the closings of two 
International sales offices and a previously idled domestic fin-
ished goods warehouse. 
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In addition to the OIP, we have a new textile plant for both 
t-shir t and fleece production under construction in Hon-
duras. Once fully operational in 2006, the Merendon Plant 
is expected to generate approximately $15 million to $20 
million in cost savings versus the costs at the time the project 
was initiated. Also, we eliminated approximately another 20 
salaried and administrative office staff positions in 2004.

During 2003 and 2004, we made five strategic acquisitions to 
further advance our position in the sports equipment business. 
On February 6, 2003, we acquired the majority of the assets 
of Bike Athletic Company (“Bike”) which introduced athletic 
supporters, knee and elbow pads, braces, and protective equip-
ment into our product offering. On May 16, 2003, we acquired 
assets of Spalding Sports Worldwide, Inc. (“Spalding”) making us 
a leading marketer of basketballs and softballs, also selling foot-
balls, soccer balls, and volleyballs. On June 15, 2004, we acquired 
the net assets of American Athletic, Inc. (“AAI”), a leader in the 
gymnastics equipment business, but as important to us, provided 
Spalding a platform for extension into the basketball backboard 
and backboard systems business. On July 19, 2004, we acquired 
certain assets, and assumed certain liabilities, of Huffy Sports 
from Huffy Corporation, further expanding our basketball back-
board, backboard systems and accessories business. AAI and 
Huffy Sports are now part of our Spalding operations. 

On December 30, 2004, we entered the athletic footwear 
business with the acquisition of the Brooks Sports business 
(“Brooks”). Brooks is a pioneer in the technical footwear 
industry and its technical apparel is highly valued in the world 
of serious runners. Our Moving Comfort® brand also holds a 
strong position in running and fitness with its performance 
apparel designed especially for women. 

Typically, demand for our apparel products is higher during 
the third and fourth quarters of each fiscal year. Weather 
conditions also affect the demand for our apparel products, 
particularly for our fleece (sweatshirts and sweatpants) prod-
ucts. Generally, we produce, source and store finished goods 
inventory, particularly fleece, to meet the expected demand 
for delivery in the upcoming season. 

Demand for our basketball and basketball equipment business 
is typically higher in the second and fourth quarters, but its 
seasonal pattern is not as pronounced as the fleece business. 
Components and complete basketball systems may be sourced, 
with some assembly performed at our operations in the U.S. All 
of our inflatables (basketballs, footballs, volleyballs, soccer balls, 
etc.) are manufactured overseas. Likewise, we expect demand 

for our newest acquisition, Brooks, our athletic footwear and 
running equipment brand, to be slightly higher in the first half 
of each year. Brooks sources 100% of its production, primarily 
from various suppliers in China.

While product mix affects our overall gross profit, operating profit 
is similar among products and across our various brands and 
distribution channels. In cases where we manufacture products, 
plant utilization levels are important to our profitability because 
a substantial portion of our total production cost is fixed. 

We operate our business in two segments: Domestic and 
International Apparel. The Domestic segment is further aligned 
by brands. The two brand groupings in the Domestic segment 
are Athletic and Activewear. The operating results of Bike, 
Spalding, AAI, Huffy Sports and Brooks have been included in 
our consolidated financial statements, as part of the Domestic 
segment, since their respective acquisition dates. The Interna-
tional Apparel segment generally distributes similar athletic, 
outdoor and activewear apparel products.

Critical Accounting Policies
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition, 
results of operations, liquidity, and capital resources is based 
upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been 
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States. Generally accepted accounting 
principles require that we make estimates and judgments that 
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabili-
ties. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including 
those related to customer programs and incentives, product 
returns, bad debts, inventories, investments, intangible assets, 
long-lived assets, deferred income taxes, restructuring reserves, 
pension benefits, contingencies, and litigation. We base our esti-
mates on historical experience and on various other assump-
tions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, 
the results of which form the basis for making judgments about 
the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe that some of our accounting policies involve a 
higher degree of judgment or complexity than our other 
accounting policies. We have identified the policies below that 
are critical to our business operations and the understanding 
of our results of operations. The impact of these policies on 
our business operations and their associated risks are discussed 
throughout “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
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Condition and Results of Operations” where such policies 
affect our reported and expected financial results. For a detailed 
discussion on the application of these and other accounting 
policies, see Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include 
the accounts of Russell Corporation, all of our majority-owned 
subsidiaries, and any variable interest entities in which we are 
deemed to be the primary beneficiary, after the elimination of 
intercompany accounts and transactions.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Financial Interpretation  
No. 46, Consolidation of  Variable Interest Entities, (“FIN 46”). In 
December 2003, the FASB issued a revised interpretation of FIN 
46 (“FIN 46-R”), which supersedes FIN 46 and clarifies certain 
aspects of FIN 46. FIN 46-R addresses whether business enter-
prises must consolidate the financial statements of entities known 
as “variable interest entities”. A variable interest entity is defined 
by FIN 46-R to be a business entity which has one or both of 
the following characteristics: (1) the equity investment at risk is 
not sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without 
additional support from other parties, which is provided through 
other interests that will absorb some or all of the expected losses 
of the entity; and (2) the equity investors lack one or more of the 
following essential characteristics of a controlling financial interest: 
(a) direct or indirect ability to make decisions about the entity’s 
activities through voting rights or similar rights, (b) the obligation to 
absorb the expected losses of the entity if they occur, which makes 
it possible for the entity to finance its activities, or (c) the right to 
receive the expected residual returns of the entity if they occur, 
which is the compensation for risk of absorbing expected losses. 
Under FIN 46-R, the party with an ownership, contractual or other 
financial interest that absorbs the majority of the variable interest 
entity’s expected losses, or is entitled to receive a majority of the 
residual returns, or both, is deemed to be the primary beneficiary, 
and is required to consolidate the variable interest entity’s assets, 
liabilities and non-controlling interests. We performed a review of 
all of our ownership and contractual interests in entities includ-
ing Frontier Yarns. We have determined that Frontier Yarns meets 
the criteria for being a variable interest entity and that we are the 
primary beneficiary of the entity. In accordance with FIN 46-R, we 
began consolidating Frontier Yarns on April 4, 2004. At January 1, 
2005, the consolidation of Frontier Yarns increased our total assets 
by $24.9 million, total liabilities by $10.8 million and non-controlling 
interests by $14.0 million. The consolidation of Frontier Yarns did 
not have a significant impact on our results of operations for 2004.

Revenue recognition. We recognize revenues, net of esti-
mated sales returns, discounts and allowances, when goods 

are shipped, title has passed, the sales price is fixed, and col-
lectibility is reasonably assured. Substantially all of our sales 
reflect FOB shipping point terms.

We record provisions for estimated sales returns and allowances 
on sales in the same period as the related sales are recorded. 
These estimates are based on historical sales returns, analyses 
of credit memo data, specific notification of pending returns, and 
other known factors. If the historical data, specific notification 
of pending returns, we use to calculate these estimates do not 
properly reflect future returns, net sales could either be under-
stated or overstated.

Trade accounts receivable. Trade accounts receivable 
consist of amounts due from our normal business activities. 
We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts to reflect 
expected credit losses. We provide for bad debts based on 
collection history and specific risks identified on a customer-
by-customer basis. A considerable amount of judgment is 
required to assess the ultimate realization of accounts receiv-
able and the creditworthiness of each customer. Furthermore, 
these judgments must be continually evaluated and updated. 
If the financial condition of our customers were to deterio-
rate causing an impairment of their ability to make payments, 
additional provisions for bad debts may be required in future 
periods. On the other hand, if our ultimate recovery on the 
accounts we have reserved or written off exceeds our esti-
mates, we may need to decrease our reserves in the future. 

Inventories. Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or 
market, with cost for the majority of our inventories determined 
under the Last-In, First-Out (LIFO) method. We apply the lower 
of cost or market principle to LIFO inventories in the aggregate, 
rather than to individual stock keeping units (SKU’s), because it is 
not practical to establish the LIFO cost of an individual SKU. For 
the remainder of our inventory that is accounted for under the 
First-In, First-Out (FIFO) method, we write down individual SKU’s 
that become obsolete and unmarketable to their estimated net 
realizable value based upon, among other things, assumptions 
about future demand and market conditions. If actual market 
conditions are less favorable than we project, additional inven-
tory write-downs may be required.

In 2002, our pre-tax income was unfavorably impacted 
by $6.0 million due to the liquidation of LIFO inventory 
quantities carried at higher costs prevailing in prior years as 
compared with current manufacturing costs.  There was no 
significant impact on pre-tax income from the liquidation of 
LIFO inventory quantities in 2003 and 2004. 
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Income Taxes. We account for income taxes under the pro-
visions of SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Under 
SFAS No. 109, deferred tax assets and liabilities are deter-
mined based upon differences between the financial report-
ing and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured 
at the enacted tax rates that will be in effect when the taxes 
are expected to be paid. We record a valuation allowance 
to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount we believe is 
likely to be realized. While we have considered future taxable 
income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strate-
gies in assessing the need for the valuation allowance, if we 
determine that we will not be able to realize all or part of our 
net deferred tax assets in the future, we will make an adjust-
ment to increase our valuation allowance for deferred tax 
assets and that adjustment will be charged to income in the 
period that we make the determination. Likewise, if we deter-
mine that we will be able to realize more of our deferred tax 
assets than we currently expect, we will adjust our deferred 
tax assets, which will have the effect of increasing net income 
in the period that we make the determination. 

Property, Plant and Equipment. Proper ty, plant and 
equipment are stated at historical cost and depreciation is 
computed using the straight-line method over the lives of the 
assets. We estimate the depreciable lives of property, plant 
and equipment based on the period over which the assets 
will be of economic benefit to us. 

We review property, plant and equipment for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Most of our 
property, plant and equipment are employed in integrated 
manufacturing and distribution processes. Accordingly, we 
ordinarily cannot assess impairment of assets held for use 
at the individual asset level, but rather we aggregate them 
into logical groups for purposes of testing whether they are 
impaired. When we identify assets that will be taken out of 
service through the ordinary course of replacement and 
modernization or through restructuring activities, we shorten 
the remaining useful lives and adjust the salvage values, as 
appropriate, to recognize depreciation over the shortened 
remaining estimated useful lives. Otherwise, we classify assets 
as held for sale, write down the carrying value to fair value 
(less cost to sell) and suspend depreciation on the assets 
when we formulate a plan of disposal and there is no opera-
tional requirement to continue their use. We determine fair 
value, in most cases, by reference to third-party appraisals, 
and, in other cases, we perform internal analyses based upon 
recent sales prices of comparable assets (when available). We 

periodically evaluate the carrying values of assets held for 
sale to determine whether revisions are needed to reflect 
changed circumstances, including market conditions.

In 2004, we realized approximately $0.4 million of net gains on 
the disposal of three properties. In 2003, we recorded $2.0 
million of impairment charges on certain assets, which is net of 
$1.1 million of realized gains on the disposal of five properties. 
At January 1, 2005, we have three idled properties along with 
equipment remaining to be sold, which are reflected in our 
consolidated balance sheet at approximately $2.0 million, rep-
resenting our best estimate of ultimate selling prices less dis-
posal costs. Although we do not anticipate further significant 
charges, the actual proceeds from the sales of these facilities 
and the actual costs to dispose of these assets may differ from 
our current estimates, which would require us to recognize a 
charge or credit to future earnings.

Impairment and Amortization of Intangible Assets. 
Under FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
(SFAS) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, amorti-
zation of goodwill is eliminated; however, an annual two-step 
impairment test is required. The first step determines if good-
will is impaired by comparing the fair value of the reporting 
unit as a whole to the book value. If a deficiency exists, the 
second step measures the amount of the impairment loss 
as the difference between the implied fair value of goodwill 
and its carrying value. In performing these annual impairment 
tests, we make assumptions regarding estimated future cash 
flows and other factors to determine whether the carrying 
values are impaired, and then, if impaired, to determine the 
amount of any impairment loss required to reduce the car-
rying value to fair value. If these estimates or assumptions 
change, we may be required to record impairment charges 
for these assets.

Purchased intangibles with indefinite economic lives are 
tested for impairment annually using a lower of cost or fair 
value approach. In determining whether an intangible has 
an indefinite life, we consider the expected use of the asset; 
the expected useful lives of other assets to which the asset 
may relate; any legal, regulatory or contractual provisions; the 
level of maintenance expenditures required to obtain the 
expected future cash flows from the asset; and the effects 
of obsolescence, demand and other economic factors. In 
performing these annual impairment tests, we make assump-
tions regarding estimated future cash flows and other factors 
to determine whether the carrying values are impaired, and 
then, if impaired, to determine the amount of any impairment 
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loss required to reduce the carrying value to fair value. If 
these estimates or assumptions change, we may be required 
to record impairment charges for these assets.

Other intangibles continue to be amortized over their esti-
mated useful lives, ranging from 2.4 to 40 years, and reviewed 
for impairment using a process similar to that used to evalu-
ate property, plant and equipment.

Pension Benefits. We account for defined benefit pension 
plans in accordance with SFAS No. 87, Employers’ Accounting 
for Pensions, which requires us to recognize pension costs 
and liabilities based on actuarial evaluations. Inherent in these 
valuations are key assumptions including the discount rate at 
which the pension obligations could be effectively settled, the 
anticipated rate of future salary increases, and the assumed 
long-term rate of return on plan assets. In determining the 
discount rate, we consider current yields on high-quality 
fixed-income investments. The salary increase assumption is 
based upon historical experience and anticipated future man-
agement actions. The assumed long-term rate of return on 
plan assets is based upon the historical rate of return on the 
invested funds of the pension plan and projected future mar-
ket returns. Periodic changes in these key assumptions could 
have a significant impact on the amount of recorded pen-
sion liabilities and on future pension benefit costs, although 
SFAS No. 87 permits the effects of the performance of the 
pension plan’s assets and changes in pension assumptions on 
our computation of pension expense to be amortized over 
future periods. For instance, given the continued decrease 
in interest rates, we plan to reduce the discount rate from 
6.25% in 2004 to 5.90% in 2005. This assumption change, 
along with changes in the plan participants’ demographics 
and other factors, is expected to increase pension expense 
by approximately $2.0 million from fiscal 2004 to fiscal 2005.

Although our actual return on pension plan assets was 
positive in 2004, our after-tax minimum pension liability in 
stockholders’ equity increased $5.7 million to $24.3 million at 
January 1, 2005.

Stock Compensation.  Awards under our incentive compen-
sation plans (as more fully described in Note 7 to the consoli-
dated financial statements) may include incentive stock awards, 
nonqualified stock options, reload stock options and restricted 
shares. On January 5, 2003, we adopted the prospective tran-
sition provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting and Disclosure 
of Stock-Based Compensation, as amended by SFAS No. 148. 
SFAS No. 148 uses a fair value based method of accounting for 
employee stock awards using assumptions such as a risk-free 
interest rate, expected dividend yield, expected life of the stock 
award and the expected volatility of our stock price. By electing 
the prospective transition method of SFAS No. 148, our results 
of operations and our financial position are not affected by 
stock compensation awards granted prior to January 5, 2003. 
We recognized approximately $5.2 million ($3.6 million after-
tax) and $0.6 million ($0.4 million after-tax) in stock compen-
sation in 2004 and 2003, respectively. For stock compensation 
awards granted prior to January 5, 2003, we used the intrinsic 
value approach under Accounting Principles Board Opinion 
No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. See Note 7 
to the consolidated financial statements for a comparison of 
reported results versus proforma results that assumes the fair 
value based method of SFAS No. 148 had been applied to all 
stock compensation awards granted.
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2004 vs. 2003 
Net Sales. In fiscal 2004 (a 52-week period), our net sales 
increased $112.1 million, or 9.4%, to $1.298 billion versus 
$1.186 billion in fiscal 2003 (a 52-week period).

The following table is a breakdown of net sales (in thousands):

      52 Weeks 52 Weeks
     Ended Ended
     1/1/05 1/3/04

Domestic Segment 
 brand groupings:
  Athletic  $   563,163 $   481,565
  Activewear  612,264 603,279

     1,175,427 1,084,844
International Apparel Segment  122,825 101,419

 Consolidated total  $1,298,252 $1,186,263

Net sales from our 2004 acquisitions (AAI and Huffy) along 
with incremental 2004 net sales from our 2003 acquisitions 
(Spalding and Bike) were $77.3 million. As Brooks Sports was 
acquired effective December 30, 2004, there are no sales 
included in our 2004 results of operations. Excluding the 
increase in 2004 due to acquisitions, net sales increased 2.9% 
to $1.221 billion in 2004 versus $1.186 billion in 2003. 

For the 2004 fiscal year, net sales in our Domestic segment 
totaled $1.175 billion, an increase of $90.6 million, or 8.4%, 
from net sales of $1.085 billion in fiscal 2003. Net sales from 
our 2004 acquisitions (AAI and Huffy) along with incremental 
2004 net sales from our 2003 acquisitions (Spalding and Bike) 
contributed $71.6 million to the Domestic segment. Exclud-
ing the increase in 2004 due to acquisitions, net sales in our 
Domestic segment increased 1.7% to $1.104 billion in 2004 
versus $1.085 billion in 2003.

For the 2004 fiscal year in our Domestic segment: 

•  Net sales in our Athletic business increased $81.6 million, 
or 16.9%, to $563.2 million. The increase in net sales was 
primarily driven by our 2004 acquisitions of AAI and Huffy 
Sports along with incremental 2004 net sales from our 2003 
acquisitions of Spalding and Bike. Excluding the increase in 
2004 due to acquisitions, Athletic sales increased 2.1% to 
$491.5 million in 2004. This increase is primarily related to 
a shift in product mix as increased sales in higher priced 
apparel more than offset a 2.4% overall decline in apparel 
units shipped versus the prior year. 

Russell Corporation and Subsidiaries

Results of Operations
The following information is derived from our audited consolidated statements of income for our fiscal years ended January 1,  
2005 (fiscal 2004 – a 52-week period), January 3, 2004 (fiscal 2003 – a 52-week period) and January 4, 2003 (fiscal 2002 –  
a 53-week period).

(Dollars in millions) 52 Weeks 52 Weeks 53 Weeks
    Ended Ended Ended
Fiscal Year  2004 2003 2002

Net sales $1,298.3 100.0% $1,186.2 100.0% $1,164.3 100.0%
Cost of goods sold 934.4 72.0% 842.1 71.0% 825.8 70.9%

Gross profit 363.9 28.0% 344.1 29.0% 338.5 29.1%
Selling, general and  
 administrative expenses 269.6 20.8% 246.5 20.8% 235.8 20.3%
Other – net (6.5) (0.6)% 4.0 0.3% (2.2) (0.2)%

Operating income  100.8 7.8% 93.6 7.9% 104.9 9.0%
Interest expense, net 30.9 2.4% 29.7 2.5% 30.2 2.6%
Earnings of non-controlling interests 2.0 0.2% – –% – –%
Debt retirement charge – –% – –% 20.1 1.7%

Income before income taxes 67.9 5.2% 63.9 5.4% 54.6 4.7%
Provision for income taxes 20.0 1.5% 20.9 1.8% 20.3 1.7%

Net income  $     47.9 3.7% $     43.0 3.6% $     34.3 3.0%
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•  Net sales in our Activewear business were $612.3 million, 
an increase of $9.0 million, from fiscal 2003. This increase 
was principally driven by volume increases despite lower 
sales of our JERZEES® activewear in the mass channel of 
certain spring items during the first half, and lower sales to 
distributors in the second half versus 2003. Overall, dozens 
of Activewear products shipped were up 8.3% versus 2003.  
The favorable impact from the increase in volume year over 
year was substantially offset by continued price reductions 
in the distributor market.

In fiscal 2004, net sales for our International Apparel segment 
were $122.8 million, an increase of 21.1%, or $21.4 million 
over fiscal 2003. Net sales in 2004 include incremental net 
sales from our 2003 acquisitions of approximately $5.7 mil-
lion. Excluding the increase in 2004 due to acquisitions, net 
sales in the International Apparel segment increased 15.5% 
to $117.1 million in 2004. This 15.5% sales increase is due 
to a 3.2% increase in apparel products shipped (primarily in 
Europe), increased licensing revenue in Japan and favorable 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. These favorable 
items were partially offset by lower pricing.

Gross Profit. Our gross profit was $363.9 million, or 28.0% of 
net sales, for fiscal 2004 versus a gross profit of $344.1 million, 
or 29.0% of net sales, in the prior year. During fiscal 2004, our 
gross profit percent was positively impacted by our acquisi-
tions of Spalding and AAI and our ongoing cost savings initia-
tives. The benefits we realized in 2004 from the factors above 
were more than offset by: (1) pricing reductions, primarily in 
the distributor market; (2) additional costs for new product 
features; (3) higher pension and medical insurance costs; (4) 
higher raw material costs for cotton and polyester; and (5) the 
dilutive effect of Huffy Sports, which was acquired in 2004.

Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”). For fiscal 
2004, our SG&A expenses were $269.6 million, or 20.8% 
of net sales, versus $246.5 million, also 20.8% of net sales, 
in the prior year. SG&A expenses increased primarily due to 
our acquisitions of Spalding, AAI and Huffy. In addition, we 
incurred approximately $5.2 million in stock compensation 
expense in 2004 versus $0.6 million in 2003 primarily related 
to the 2004 grants of performance and restricted share 
awards under our Executive Incentive Plan. During fiscal 2004, 
we incurred $0.8 million of charges primarily related to the 
reduction in our salaried and administrative office staff as part 
of a reorganization of our Domestic segment sales and mar-
keting organization. Other reasons for the increase in SG&A 
expense include incremental expenses to comply with the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of approximately $1.4 million, 
higher marketing expenses of $2.1 million, and $2.1 million of 
additional SG&A expense from the consolidation of Frontier 
Yarns. These increases were partially offset by lower general 
and administrative costs primarily in our Activewear business 
as cost reductions associated with the OIP took effect.

Other-Net. Other-net was income of $6.5 million in fiscal 
2004 versus expense of $4.0 million in fiscal 2003. Other 
income during fiscal 2004 was primarily attributable to a $4.4 
million gain on the sale of our minority interest in Marmot 
Mountain, Ltd. and the favorable impact from foreign currency 
transactions in 2004 versus 2003. The 2003 fiscal year was 
negatively impacted by asset impairment and other charges of 
approximately $2.7 million on assets held for sale, otherwise, 
other-net was an expense of $1.3 million in fiscal 2003.

Operating Income. Our consolidated operating income for 
fiscal 2004 was $100.8 million, or 7.8% of net sales, versus $93.6 
million, or 7.9% of net sales, in fiscal 2003. This year-over-year 
increase in operating income was primarily attributable to higher 
sales volumes, cost savings associated with our announced OIP, 
and the sale of our minority interest in Marmot Mountain, Ltd. 
These factors were partially offset by higher raw material costs 
for cotton and polyester, and the other factors described above 
in both the Gross Profit and the SG&A sections of this report.

In fiscal 2004, our Domestic segment operating income was 
$112.9 million, or 9.6% of the segment’s net sales, versus 
$112.6 million, or 10.4% of the segment’s net sales, in fiscal 
2003. The increase of $0.3 million in operating income for the 
segment was primarily attributable to higher sales volumes 
and ongoing cost savings initiatives, partially offset by higher 
raw material costs for cotton and polyester, and the other 
factors described above, including the impact of the lower 
operating margins associated with the Huffy Sports business.

In fiscal 2004, our International Apparel segment operating 
income was a profit of $5.5 million versus $0.5 million in fiscal 
2003. The increase of $5.0 million in operating income for the 
segment primarily reflects sales growth in Europe of higher 
margin products.

Income Taxes. Our effective tax rate for 2004 of 29.4% 
decreased 3.3 percentage points from 32.7% in fiscal 2003. 
This decrease was mainly due to a benefit resulting from the 
closure of federal tax audits for 2002 and prior years along 
with the effects of our foreign operations. For information 
concerning income tax provisions, as well as information 
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regarding other differences between our effective tax rates 
and applicable statutory tax rates, see Note 6 to the consoli-
dated financial statements.

2003 vs. 2002 
Net Sales. In fiscal 2003 (a 52-week period), our net sales 
increased $21.9 million, or 1.9%, to $1.186 billion versus 
$1.164 billion in fiscal 2002 (a 53-week period).

The following table is a breakdown of net sales (in thousands):

      52 Weeks 53 Weeks
     Ended Ended
     1/3/04 1/4/03

Domestic Segment
 brand groupings:
  Athletic  $   481,565 $   400,360
  Activewear  603,279 675,966

     1,084,844 1,076,326
International Apparel Segment  101,419 88,002

 Consolidated total  $1,186,263 $1,164,328

Net sales from our 2003 acquisitions (Spalding and Bike) along 
with incremental 2003 net sales from our 2002 acquisition of 
Moving Comfort were $75.0 million. Excluding the increase in 
2003 due to acquisitions, net sales decreased 4.6% to $1.111 bil-
lion in 2003 versus $1.164 billion in 2002. 

For the 2003 fiscal year, net sales in our Domestic segment 
totaled $1.085 billion, an increase of $8.5 million, or 0.8%, from 
net sales of $1.076 billion in fiscal 2002. Net sales from our 
2003 acquisitions (Spalding and Bike) along with incremental 
2003 net sales from our 2002 acquisition of Moving Comfort 
were $75.0 million. Excluding the increase in 2003 due to 
acquisitions, net sales in our Domestic segment decreased 
6.2% to $1.010 billion in 2003 versus $1.076 billion in 2002. 

For the 2003 fiscal year in our Domestic segment: 

•  Net sales in our Athletic Group increased $81.2 million, 
or 20.3%, to $481.6 million. The increase in net sales was 
primarily driven by our 2003 acquisitions of Spalding and 
Bike along with incremental sales from our 2002 acquisi-
tion of Moving Comfort. Excluding the increase in 2003 due 
to acquisitions, net sales in our Athletic business were up 
$6.2 million, or 1.6%, in fiscal 2003 versus the prior year. This 
increase is primarily related to the 3.5% increase in apparel 
units shipped versus the prior year.

•  Net sales in our Activewear Group were down 10.8% to 
$603.3 million versus fiscal 2002. The greatest reduction in 
sales was experienced in the Artwear market, the result of 
industry-wide lower prices coupled with a shift in sales mix 
toward lower-priced promotional products. Sales of our 
JERZEES® activewear products in the mass retail channel 
increased slightly despite a $26 million reduction in sales 
of our JERZEES® activewear products to Kmart and lower 
sock sales into the mass channel, the result of an overall 
reduction of sock inventories at retail.

In fiscal 2003, net sales for our International Apparel segment 
were $101.4 million, an increase of 15.2%, or $13.4 million, 
and total dozens shipped increased 1.8% over fiscal 2002. The 
increase in net sales and dozens shipped for the segment primar-
ily reflects the favorable changes in foreign currency exchange 
rates and sales growth in markets such as Europe and Canada.

Gross Profit. Our gross profit was $344.1 million, or 29.0% of 
net sales, for fiscal 2003 versus a gross profit of $338.5 million, 
or 29.1% of net sales, in the prior year. During fiscal 2003, our 
gross profit was positively impacted by: (1) the acquisitions 
of Spalding, Bike and Moving Comfort; (2) our ongoing cost 
savings initiatives; and (3) lower 2003 inventory reserves for 
our Russell Athletic distribution center.

The benefits we realized in 2003 from the factors above were 
offset by: (1) pricing pressures and lower volumes, primarily 
in the distributor market of the Artwear channel; (2) addi-
tional costs for new product features; (3) higher pension and 
medical insurance costs; and (4) higher raw material costs for 
cotton and polyester.

Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”). For fiscal 
2003, our SG&A expenses were $246.5 million, or 20.8% of 
net sales, versus $235.8 million, or 20.3% of net sales, in the 
prior year. During fiscal 2003, we incurred $4.6 million of spe-
cial charges primarily related to the reduction in our salaried 
and administrative office staff as part of our OIP. Excluding 
these charges, our SG&A expenses for fiscal 2003 would have 
been $241.9 million, or 20.4% of net sales. On a comparative 
basis, excluding the charge of $5.0 million related to our pre-
petition receivables from Kmart, our SG&A expenses for fiscal 
2002 would have been $230.8 million, or 19.8% of net sales.

Excluding the charges in both years, the increase in SG&A 
expenses in fiscal 2003 compared to fiscal 2002 was mainly 
the result of incremental expenses from our acquisitions 
(Spalding, Bike and Moving Comfort) and higher marketing 
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expenses of $15.4 million. In addition, we incurred approxi-
mately $0.6 million in stock compensation expense related 
to our adoption of SFAS No. 123 during fiscal 2003. These 
increases were partially offset by lower general and adminis-
trative costs mainly in our Artwear business.

Other-Net. Other-net was expense of $4.0 million in fiscal 
2003 versus income of $2.2 million in fiscal 2002. Excluding 
the $2.7 million impact of the 2003 special charges, other-net 
was an expense of $1.3 million in fiscal 2003. Other income 
during fiscal 2002 was primarily attributable to gains of $2.5 mil-
lion on the sale of non-core assets.

Operating Income. Our consolidated operating income 
for fiscal 2003 was $93.6 million, or 7.9% of net sales, versus 
$104.9 million, or 9.0% of net sales, in fiscal 2002. Excluding 
$7.3 million of special charges in the 2003-third and fourth 
quarters, our operating income for fiscal 2003 would have 
been $100.9 million, or 8.5% of net sales. On a comparative 
basis, excluding the charge of $5.0 million in the 2002-third 
quarter related to our pre-petition receivables from Kmart 
and the $2.5 million gain associated with the sale of non-core 
assets, our operating income would have been $107.4 million, 
or 9.2% of net sales, in fiscal 2002. This year-over-year decrease 
in operating income was primarily attributable to lower sales 
and volumes in the Artwear channel, higher raw material costs 
for cotton and polyester, and the other factors described above 
in both the Gross Profit and the SG&A sections of this report.

In fiscal 2003, our Domestic segment operating income was 
$112.8 million, or 10.4% of the segment’s net sales, versus 
$124.0 million, or 11.5% of the segment’s net sales, in fiscal 
2002. Excluding the $5.0 million charge related to our pre-peti-
tion receivables from Kmart and the $2.5 million gain associ-
ated with the sale of non-core assets, the Domestic segment 
operating income for 2002 would have been $126.5 million, or 
11.8% of the segment’s net sales. The decrease of $13.7 million 
in operating income for the segment was primarily attribut-
able to lower sales in our Artwear channel, higher raw material 
costs for cotton and polyester, and the other factors described 
above in the Gross Profit and SG&A sections of this report.

In fiscal 2003, our International Apparel segment operating 
income was a profit of $0.5 million versus a loss of $0.8 million 
in fiscal 2002. The increase of $1.3 million in operating income 
for the segment primarily reflects favorable changes in foreign 
currency exchange rates and sales growth in markets such as 
Europe and Canada.

Income Taxes. Our effective tax rate for 2003 of 32.7% 
decreased 4.5 percentage points from 37.2% in fiscal 2002. 
This decrease was primarily due to $2.6 million of non-recur-
ring tax benefits and other deferred tax adjustments realized 
in 2003. For information concerning income tax provisions, 
as well as information regarding other differences between 
our effective tax rates and applicable statutory tax rates, see 
Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity and Capital Resources 
Our total debt to capitalization ratio of 41.4% at January 1,  
2005, increased 6.1 percentage points versus 35.3% at 
January 3, 2004. Our debt outstanding at January 1, 2005 was 
$116.6 million higher than our debt outstanding on January 3,  
2004. The increase in our debt was primarily due to $158.4 mil-
lion of investments in acquisitions and $13.9 million in debt 
from the consolidation of Frontier Yarns partially offset by 
cash generated from operating activities and proceeds from 
the sale of non-core assets.

Cash From Operating Activities. Our operations gener-
ated approximately $81.3 million of cash during 2004, versus  
$58.0 million during the same period in 2003. The increase in 
inventory from January 3, 2004 to January 1, 2005 was more 
than the increase in inventory from January 4, 2003 to January 
3, 2004 due to the consolidation of Frontier Yarns and our 
acquisitions. Excluding the impact from acquisitions and Fron-
tier Yarns, inventory levels at January 1, 2005 are 6.8% higher 
than the prior year.

The increase in accounts receivable from January 3, 2004 to 
January 1, 2005 was less than the increase in accounts receiv-
able from January 4, 2003 to January 3, 2004 primarily due to 
lower than normal accounts receivable levels at December 
2002 and our working capital management.

The increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses was 
primarily due to lower 2003 employee performance awards 
paid out in 2004 versus the 2004 employees performance 
awards to be paid out in 2005.

We made $10.4 million in contributions to our qualified pen-
sion plans in 2004 versus $7.3 million in contributions in 2003. 

Cash From Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing 
activities was $178.4 million in 2004 versus $109.9 million in 
the prior year. Our investing activities in 2004 have consisted 
primarily of capital expenditures of $35.5 million and acquisi-
tions of $158.4 million (Brooks Sports, AAI and Huffy Sports) 
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less $13.7 million of proceeds from the sale of non-core 
assets. In 2003, our investing activities primarily consisted of 
capital expenditures of $38.6 million and acquisitions of $86.7 
million (Bike and Spalding) less $14.8 million of proceeds from 
the sale of non-core assets.

For fiscal 2005, we are forecasting capital expenditures to 
be in the range of $55 million to $60 million. The majority 
of planned fiscal 2005 capital expenditures are to further 
enhance our manufacturing and distribution capabilities, 
including construction of the new textile facility in Honduras, 
and to improve our information systems capabilities to sup-
port our business initiatives.

Cash From Financing Activities.  We paid $5.2 million, 
$5.2 million and $5.1 million in dividends ($0.16 per share) 
in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. We review our dividend 
policy from time to time and based upon current projected 
earnings and cash flow requirements, we anticipate continuing 
to pay a quarterly dividend for the foreseeable future.

On January 1, 2005, our debt facilities and outstanding debt 
obligations included:

•  $310 million in Senior Secured Credit Facilities (the “Facili-
ties”). The Facilities include a $300 million Senior Secured 
Revolving Credit Facility (the “Revolver”) due April 2007, of 
which $110.1 million was outstanding, and $10 million out-
standing under our Senior Secured Term Loan (the “Term 
Loan”), due ratably through December 2006; and

•  $250 million in 9.25% Senior Unsecured Notes (the “Senior 
Notes”) due 2010.

•  $27.9 million of other outstanding borrowings, of which 
$14.0 million related to our line of credit used in the 
International Apparel segment and $13.9 million primarily 
related to a line of credit and capital leases held by Frontier 
Yarns for machinery and equipment used in operations.

On April 18, 2002, we completed a refinancing of our debt 
structure. We used the net proceeds of the Senior Notes 
offering (together with $132.4 million of initial borrowings 
under the Facilities) to repay the outstanding balances, accrued 
interest, prepayment penalties and expenses under our previ-
ous revolving credit facility and long-term notes, and to pay 
issuance costs. During the second quarter 2002, we incurred 
a $20.1 million ($12.6 million after-tax) charge associated with 
the early retirement of debt. The charge consisted of $15.0 

million related to prepayment penalties, fees and expenses 
associated with the early termination of our previous notes 
payable and the write-off of $5.1 million of unamortized loan 
costs associated with the extinguished debt.

Borrowings under our Facilities are subject to mandatory 
prepayment equal to: (1) 100% of the net proceeds received 
by us from the issuance of any new or replacement debt 
securities (excluding the issuance of the Senior Notes); and 
(2) 50% of the net proceeds received from the sale of certain 
of our assets.

The Facilities and the Senior Notes impose certain restrictions 
on us, including restrictions on our ability to: incur debt; grant 
liens; provide guarantees in respect of obligations of any other 
person; pay dividends; make loans and investments; sell our 
assets; issue redeemable preferred stock and non-guarantor 
subsidiary preferred stock; make redemptions and repurchases 
of capital stock; make capital expenditures; prepay, redeem or 
repurchase debt; engage in mergers or consolidation; engage 
in sale/leaseback transactions and affiliate transactions; change 
our business; amend certain debt and other material agree-
ments, including the indenture governing the Senior Notes and 
other documents governing any subordinated debt that we 
may issue in the future; issue and sell capital stock of subsidiar-
ies; and restrict distributions from subsidiaries. On March 11,  
2003, we amended the Facilities to, among other things: (1) 
lessen some of the restrictions on our ability to make acquisi-
tions, (2) permit us to make additional investments and guar-
antees, and (3) allow us to repurchase a portion of our Senior 
Notes and capital stock, subject to annual limitations.

The Facilities require us to achieve a fixed charge coverage 
ratio of 1.25 to 1.0. We also must maintain a maximum lever-
age ratio of 3.5 to 1.0. We were in compliance with these 
covenants at the end of fiscal year 2004, and we expect to 
remain in compliance with them in the foreseeable future.

Under the Facilities, pricing is adjusted quarterly based on our 
consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio. For the majority 
of fiscal 2004, variable interest on the Revolver was either 
LIBOR plus 2.00% (4.52% at January 1, 2005), or Base Rate 
plus 0.50% (5.75% at January 1, 2005), and on the Term Loan 
was either LIBOR plus 2.50% (5.02% at January 1, 2005), or 
Base Rate plus 1.00% (6.25% at January 1, 2005), with an 
annual commitment fee on the unused portion of the Facili-
ties of 0.375%. For the first quarter of 2005, variable interest 
on the Revolver will be either LIBOR plus 1.75% or Base Rate 
plus 0.25% and on the Term Loan will be either LIBOR plus 
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2.25% or Base Rate plus .75% with an annual commitment 
fee on the unused portion of the Facilities of 0.375%.

For the majority of fiscal 2003, variable interest on the 
Revolver was either LIBOR plus 1.75% (2.84% at January 3, 
2004), or Base Rate plus 0.25% (4.25% at January 3, 2004), 
and on the Term Loan was either LIBOR plus 2.25% (3.34% at 
January 3, 2004), or Base Rate plus 0.75% (4.75% at January 3,  
2004), with an annual commitment fee on the unused por-
tion of the Facilities of 0.375%.

If we violate the loan covenants and are unable to obtain 
waivers from our lenders, our debt under these agreements 
would be in default and could be accelerated by our lenders. 
If our indebtedness is accelerated, we may not be able to 
repay or refinance it. Even if we are able to obtain new financ-
ing, it may not be on commercially reasonable terms, or terms 
that are acceptable to us. Cross default provisions exist in the 
indenture governing our Senior Notes whereby a default on 
our Senior Notes would occur if we default on any covenant 
of any other debt agreement (which has an outstanding bal-
ance in excess of $25 million) and such default causes an 
acceleration of the maturity date of the other indebtedness. 
Also, under cross default provisions in our Facilities, a default 
would occur if we default on any covenant of any other debt 
agreement (which has an outstanding balance in excess of  
$5 million) and such default causes an acceleration of the 
maturity date of the other indebtedness.

Pension Funding Considerations. Our actual return on 
plan assets has significantly improved from a 7.1% loss in 2002 
to a positive return of 21.0% in 2003 and 11.3% in 2004; 
however, we still have an after-tax minimum pension liability 
of approximately $24.3 million at January 1, 2005. In fiscal 
2003 and 2004, we contributed $7.3 million and $10.4 mil-
lion, respectively, to our qualified pension plans. Although we 
are required to make a contribution of only $0.3 million to 
our qualified pension plans in 2005, we are currently project-
ing aggregate contributions of $45 million to $50 million over 
the next five years, out of which we expect to contribute 
approximately $4 million in 2005.

Adequacy of Borrowing Capacity. Availability under our 
Revolver is subject to a borrowing base limitation that is deter-
mined based on eligible accounts receivable and inventory.  
As of January 1, 2005, we had $110.1 million in outstanding 
borrowings under the Revolver and approximately $143.4 mil-
lion of availability remaining. Excluding Frontier Yarns, we also 
had $22.6 million in cash available to fund ongoing operations. 

Although there can be no assurances, we believe that cash 
flow available from operations, along with the availability under 
our Revolver and cash on hand, will be sufficient to operate 
our business; satisfy our working capital, capital expenditure 
and pension funding requirements; and meet our foreseeable 
liquidity requirements, including debt service on our Senior 
Notes and the Facilities until the maturity of our Facilities in 
2007. 

Contingencies.  For information concerning our ongoing 
litigation, see Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

Commitments.  The following table summarizes informa-
tion about our contractual cash obligations, including those of 
Frontier Yarns, as of January 1, 2005 (in millions):

        Unconditional
    Short-term Long-term Capital Lease Operating purchase
Fiscal Years Debt Debt Obligations Leases Obligations(1) Total(1)

2005  $18.2 $    5.8 $1.5 $11.9 $  83.0 $120.4
2006  – 5.9 1.5 9.4 17.0 33.8
2007  – 111.0 1.5 7.2 15.6 135.3
2008  – 1.0 1.5 5.5 16.5 24.5
2009  – 0.6 0.6 4.1 17.6 22.9
Thereafter   250.0 – 3.0 60.8 313.8

    $18.2 $374.3 $6.6 $41.1 $210.5 $650.7

(1)  Includes guaranteed minimums for utilities and for royalties associated with various  
sports and league licenses. Obligations under advertising contractual arrangements, 
cotton purchase obligations and capital expenditure commitments are also included. 

Other commercial commitments at January 1, 2005 include 
outstanding letters of credit of approximately $12.8 million for 
the purchase of inventories, $2.3 million for the guarantee of 
debt of a non-affiliated foreign contractor, $6.8 million related 
to workers’ compensation self-insured programs and customs 
bonds, and $2.3 million related to utility bonds and other mat-
ters. All outstanding letters of credit are set to expire in 2005.

Outlook 
Russell expects sales for fiscal 2005 to increase approximately 
15% to 17%, to approximately $1.50 billion to $1.52 billion. 
We expect earnings per share, on a fully diluted basis, to be in 
the $1.55 to $1.65 range for 2005. 

The expected increase in sales in 2005 assumes the full year 
of sales of our three strategic acquisitions (AAI, Huffy Sports 
and Brooks) made in 2004 along with growth in Activewear 
and continued solid performance from our base Athletic busi-
ness despite the loss of the Major League Baseball licensed 
apparel business, which represented approximately 1.4% of 
the Company’s 2004 net sales.
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The expected increase in diluted earnings per share in 2005 
assumes Brooks will be accretive by at least $.05 to $.07 per 
diluted share and Huffy Sports will break-even or be slightly 
accretive. In addition, we expect Activewear to have strong 
earnings growth primarily due to sales growth and lower costs 
in 2005. Our new Honduras textile operation is expected to 
be slightly dilutive in the first half of the year but start generat-
ing a return in the second half of 2005.

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE  
DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

We are exposed to market risks relating to fluctuations in 
interest rates, currency exchange rates and commodity prices. 
Our financial risk management objectives are to minimize the 
potential impact of interest rate, foreign exchange rate and 
commodity price fluctuations on our earnings, cash flows and 
equity. To manage these risks, we may use various financial 
instruments, including interest rate swap agreements, com-
modity futures contracts and forward currency exchange 
contracts. We only use traded instruments with major finan-
cial institutions as the counterparties to minimize the risk of 
credit loss. Refer to Notes 1 and 4 of the consolidated financial 
statements for a more complete description of our account-
ing policies and the extent of our use of such instruments.

The following analyses present the sensitivity of the market 
value, earnings and cash flows of our significant financial instru-
ments to hypothetical changes in interest rates, exchange 
rates and commodity prices as if these changes had occurred 
at January 1, 2005. The range of changes chosen for these 
analyses reflects our view of changes that are reasonably pos-
sible over a one-year period. Market values are the present 
values of projected future cash flows based on the interest 
rate assumptions or quoted market prices where available. 
These forward-looking disclosures are selective in nature and 
only address the potential impacts from financial instruments. 
They do not include other potential effects which could 
impact our business as a result of changes in interest rates, 
exchange rates or commodity prices.

Interest Rate and Debt Sensitivity Analysis.  At January 
1, 2005, our outstanding debt totaled $398.0 million, which 
consisted of fixed-rate debt of $259.8 million and variable-rate 
debt of $138.2 million. Based on our 2004 average outstand-
ing borrowings under our variable-rate debt, a one-percent-
age point increase in interest rates would negatively impact 
our annual pre-tax earnings and cash flows by approximately  
$0.9 million. A one-percentage point increase in market interest 

rates would decrease the fair market value of our fixed-rate 
debt at January 1, 2005, by approximately $3.3 million. Changes 
in the fair value of our fixed rate debt will not have any impact 
on us unless we repurchase the debt in the open market.

Currency Exchange Rate Sensitivity.  We have for-
eign currency exposures related to buying, selling and 
financing in currencies other than our functional curren-
cies. We also have foreign currency exposure related to 
foreign denominated revenues and costs translated into 
U.S. dollars. These exposures are primarily concentrated 
in the euro and British pound sterling and to a lesser 
extent, the Australian dollar and Japanese yen. We enter 
into foreign currency forward contracts to manage the 
risk associated with doing business in foreign currencies. 
Our policy is to hedge currency exposures of firm com-
mitments and anticipated transactions denominated in 
non-functional currencies to protect against the possibility 
of diminished cash flow and adverse impacts on earnings. 
A five-percentage point adverse change in the foreign  
currency spot rates would decrease the fair market value  
of our foreign currency forward contracts held at January 1, 
2005, by $4.4 million. Changes in the fair value of our foreign 
currency forward contracts will not have any impact on our 
results of operations unless these contracts are deemed to 
be ineffective at hedging currency exposures of anticipated 
transactions. We generally view our net investments in for-
eign subsidiaries that have a functional currency other than 
the U.S. dollar as long-term.  As a result, we generally do not 
hedge these net investments.

Commodity Price Sensitivity.  The availability and price of 
cotton is subject to wide fluctuations due to unpredictable 
factors such as weather conditions, governmental regula-
tions, economic climate or other unforeseen circumstances. 
We are purchasing yarn from Frontier Yarns, Frontier Spin-
ning and other third parties, and our yarn pricing will con-
tinue to be directly impacted by the price of cotton. We 
did not have any outstanding cotton futures contracts at 
January 1, 2005.
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ITEM 8.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004
(In thousands, except share data)

      2004 2003

ASSETS
Current assets:
 Cash   $     29,816 $     20,116
 Trade accounts receivable, less allowances of $17,984 in 2004  
  and $10,284 in 2003  212,063 175,514
 Inventories  411,701 346,946
 Prepaid expenses and other current assets  17,737 15,938
 Income tax receivable  6,101 14,585

   Total current assets  677,418 573,099
  
Property, plant and equipment, net  322,890 303,234
 Other assets:
 Goodwill, net  94,710      37,939
 Trademarks, net  93,130     41,764
 Other   65,961 65,074

        253,801 144,777

     $1,254,109 $1,021,110

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
 Trade accounts payable  $     94,642 $     78,368
 Accrued salaries and fringes  33,306      30,489
 Accrued expenses  62,474 46,504
 Deferred income taxes  4,054 5,165
 Short-term debt  18,190 4,088
 Current maturities of long-term debt  6,938 5,000

   Total current liabilities  219,604 169,614

Long-term debt, less current maturities  372,921 272,355

Deferred liabilities:
 Income taxes  20,286 6,609
 Pension and other  64,351 57,668

     84,637 64,277

Non-controlling interests  14,096 –

Commitments and contingencies  – –

Stockholders’ equity:   
 Common stock, par value $.01 per share; authorized 150,000,000 shares;  
  issued 41,419,958 shares  414 414
 Paid-in capital  40,716 38,625
 Retained earnings  755,799 713,310
 Treasury stock (2004 – 8,654,614 shares and 2003 – 8,897,075 shares)  (201,171) (208,038)
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (32,907) (29,447)

         562,851 514,864

     $1,254,109 $1,021,110
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Years ended January 1, 2005, January 3, 2004 and January 4, 2003
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

     2004  2003  2002

Net sales $1,298,252 $1,186,263 $1,164,328
Cost of goods sold 934,372 842,127 825,763

 Gross profit 363,880 344,136 338,565
 Selling, general and administrative expenses 269,558 246,477 235,810
Other - net (6,469) 4,018 (2,216)

 Operating income 100,791 93,641 104,971
Interest expense, net 30,843 29,663 30,246
Earnings of non-controlling interests 2,021 – –
Debt retirement charge – Note 2 – – 20,097

 Income before income taxes 67,927 63,978 54,628
Provision for income taxes 19,991 20,939 20,322

Net income  $    47,936 $     43,039 $     34,306

Net income per common share:
 Basic  $         1.47 $        1.33 $        1.07
 Diluted $         1.46 $        1.32 $        1.06

Weighted-average common shares outstanding:
 Basic  32,668,376 32,376,617 32,127,579
 Diluted 32,897,559 32,726,472 32,269,813

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years ended January 1, 2005, January 3, 2004 and January 4, 2003
(In thousands)

     2004  2003  2002

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income  $    47,936 $    43,039 $    34,306
Adjustments to reconcile net income to  
 net cash provided by operating activities:
  Depreciation 46,627 44,177 44,775
  Amortization 1,395 759 286
   Earnings of non-controlling interests 2,021 – –
  Debt retirement charge – – 20,097
  Other 1,453 6,963 8,684
  Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
   Trade accounts receivable (8,664) (17,600) 12,230
   Inventories (26,194) (19,989) 56,407
   Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,164 (8,243) 2,110
   Other assets 7,037 (6,478) 2,254
   Accounts payable and accrued expenses 6,378 1,406 18,871
   Income taxes 8,137 3,305 7,414
   Pension and other deferred liabilities   (6,001) 10,617 (4,043)

Net cash provided by operating activities 81,289 57,956 203,391

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (35,494) (38,641) (28,343)
Cash paid for acquisitions, joint ventures and other (158,370) (86,691) (4,670)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment and other assets 13,697 14,765 9,450
Other   1,769 678 750

Net cash used in investing activities (178,398) (109,889) (22,813)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Borrowings (payments) on credit facility – net 91,307 7,355 (74,800)
Borrowings (payments) on short-term debt 9,692 (3,582) 458
Payments on notes payable, including prepayments – – (270,371)
Proceeds from issuance of Senior Notes – – 250,000
Debt issuance and amendment costs paid – (468) (18,910)
Dividends on common stock (5,216) (5,177) (5,137)
Treasury stock re-issued 3,839 5,644 2,574
Cost of common stock for treasury (80) (1,457) (30)

 Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 99,542 2,315 (116,216)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (592) 1,115 (1,625)

Net (decrease) increase in cash 1,841 (48,503) 62,737
Increase in cash from consolidating Frontier Yarns, LLC 7,859 – –
Cash balance at beginning of year 20,116  68,619 5,882

Cash balance at end of year $    29,816 $    20,116 $    68,619

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
 Interest paid $    28,168 $    27,124 $    28,054
 Income taxes paid, net of refunds 13,814 16,983 6,547

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Years ended January 1, 2005, January 3, 2004 and January 4, 2003
(In thousands, except share data)

        Accumulated 
         Other
     Common Paid-in Retained Treasury Comprehensive
    Stock Capital Earnings Stock Loss Total

Balance at December 29, 2001 $414 $45,392 $646,279 $(223,172) $(14,682) $454,231

Comprehensive income:
 Net income – –  34,306 –  –  34,306
 Foreign currency translation adjustments –  –  –  –  (997) (997)
 Losses on derivatives reclassified to earnings, net of tax of $797 –  –  –  –  1,346 1,346
 Change in unrealized value of derivatives, net of tax of $696 –  –  –  –  (1,175) (1,175)
 Minimum pension liability, net of tax of $10,583 –  –  –  –  (17,865) (17,865)

Comprehensive income –  –  –  –  –  15,615

Treasury stock acquired (2,763 shares) –  –  –  (30) –  (30)
Treasury stock re-issued (180,680 shares) –  (2,515) –  5,089 –  2,574
Cash dividends ($0.16 per share) –  –  (5,137) –  –  (5,137)

Balance at January 4, 2003 414 42,877 675,448 (218,113) (33,373) 467,253
Comprehensive income:
 Net income –  –  43,039 –  –  43,039
 Foreign currency translation adjustments –  –  –  –  5,712 5,712
 Losses on derivatives reclassified to earnings, net of tax of $1,705 –  –  –  –  2,796 2,796
 Change in unrealized value of derivatives, net of tax of $2,808 –  –  –  –  (4,580) (4,580)
 Minimum pension liability, net of tax of $383 –  –  –  –  (2) (2)

Comprehensive income –  –  –  –  –  46,965

Treasury stock acquired (73,618 shares) –  –  –  (1,457) –  (1,457)
Treasury stock re-issued (410,088 shares) –  (4,785) –  11,532 –  6,747
Cash dividends ($0.16 per share) –  –  (5,177) –  –  (5,177)
Compensation expense related to stock awards –  533 –  –  –  533

Balance at January 3, 2004 414 38,625 713,310 (208,038) (29,447) 514,864
Comprehensive income:
 Net income –  –  47,936 –  –  47,936
 Foreign currency translation adjustments –  –  –  –  2,119 2,119
 Losses on derivatives reclassified to earnings, net of tax of $1,690 –  –  –  –  2,759 2,759
 Change in unrealized value of derivatives, net of tax of $1,599 –  –  –  –  (2,609) (2,609)
 Minimum pension liability, net of tax of $3,510 –  –  –  –  (5,729) (5,729)

Comprehensive income –  –  –  –  –  44,476

Treasury stock acquired (4,433 shares) –  –  –  (80) –  (80)
Treasury stock re-issued (246,894 shares) –  (3,357) –  6,947 – 3,590
Cash dividends ($0.16 per share) – – (5,216) – – (5,216)
Compensation expense related to stock awards – 5,195 – – –      5,195
Other   –      253      (231) – –         22

Balance at January 1, 2005 $414 $40,716 $755,799 $(201,171) $(32,907) $562,851

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1:  DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND  
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

We are an authentic athletic and sporting goods company with 
over a century of success. Our brands include: Russell Athletic®,  
Jerzees®, Spalding®, Brooks®, American Athletic®, Huffy Sports®, 
Mossy Oak®, Cross Creek®, Moving Comfort®, Bike®, Dudley®,  
Discus®, and Sherrin®.

We design, market and manufacture or source a variety of 
apparel products including fleece, t-shirts, casual shirts, jackets, 
athletic shorts, socks and camouflage attire for men, women, 
boys, and girls. We supply team uniforms and related apparel 
to college, high school and organized sports teams. We are 
the official uniform supplier to the U.S. Olympic baseball team 
and Little League Baseball and an official uniform supplier to 
Minor League Baseball. The Russell name has been associated 
with high quality apparel for over 100 years and with team 
uniforms since 1932.

With our 2003 acquisition of the brand and related assets 
of Bike Athletic Company, we now also market and source 
athletic supporters, knee and elbow pads, braces and pro-
tective equipment. Furthermore, with the acquisition of the 
brands, contracts and related assets of the sporting goods 
business of Spalding Sports Worldwide, Inc. in 2003, we now 
sell basketballs, footballs, soccer balls, and volleyballs. Spalding 
is the official basketball supplier for the NBA and the WNBA; 
the official football for the Arena Football League; the official 
soccer ball of the Major Indoor Soccer League; and the official 
volleyball for the NCAA and American Volleyball Association.

In 2004, we made three strategic acquisitions to fur ther 
advance our position in the sports equipment business. In 
June, we acquired American Athletic, Inc. (“AAI”). Founded in 
1954, AAI manufactures a variety of products including bas-
ketball and volleyball equipment, athletic mats and gymnas-
tics apparatus under a variety of brands, including American 
Athletic and BPI. AAI markets these products to high schools, 
universities, professional teams, and athletic clubs globally. 

In July, we acquired Huffy Sports from Huffy Corporation 
further expanding our basketball backboard, backboard sys-
tems and accessories business. Huffy Sports sells basketball 
equipment, including backboards and inflatable balls under 
the Huffy Sports®, Sure Shot®, and Hydra Rib® brands. 

In December, we entered the athletic footwear business 
with the acquisition of Brooks Sports. Brooks is a provider 
of performance footwear, apparel and accessories to running 
enthusiasts worldwide. Brooks’ products are sold predomi-
nately through specialty running stores and other retail outlets 
specializing in high quality, performance running products.

Revenue Recognition. We recognize revenues, net of esti-
mated sales returns, discounts and allowances, when goods 
are shipped, title has passed, the sales price is fixed and col-
lectibility is reasonably assured. Substantially all of our sales 
reflect FOB shipping point terms. 

Trade Accounts Receivable. Trade accounts receivable 
consists of amounts due from our normal business activities. 
We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts to reflect 
expected credit losses. We provide for bad debts based on 
collection history and specific risks identified on a customer-
by-customer basis. A considerable amount of judgment is 
required to assess the ultimate realization of accounts receiv-
able and the credit-worthiness of each customer. Further-
more, these judgments must be continuously evaluated and 
updated. Uncollected accounts are written off through the 
allowance for doubtful accounts. Finance charges on past due 
receivables are recognized on a cash basis.

Promotional Programs.  We offer various types of promo-
tional programs to our customers, including the following:

Cooperative Advertising. Under cooperative adver tising 
arrangements, we agree to reimburse our customer for all, or 
a portion, of the costs incurred by the customer to advertise 
and promote our products. Cooperative advertising costs are 
charged to selling, general and administrative expense in the 
year incurred.

Growth Incentive Rebates. We offer rebates to customers in 
certain distribution channels. Under incentive programs of 
this nature, we estimate the anticipated rebate to be paid and 
allocate a portion of the estimated costs of the rebate to 
each underlying sales transaction. These rebates are recorded 
as a reduction of net sales.

Seasonal Markdowns, Discounts and Allowances. The cost 
of these incentives is recognized when the related sale is 
recorded or, for retroactive credits, on the date the incentive 
is offered. The cost of these incentives is recorded as a reduc-
tion of net sales.
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Shipping and Handling Costs.  Shipping and handling rev-
enues and costs are included as a component of net sales and 
cost of goods sold, respectively.

Cost of Goods Sold and Selling, General and Administra-
tive Expenses. The significant components of the line item 
“Cost of goods sold” are raw materials (including inbound 
freight and handling costs), energy expenses, production 
and supervisory labor, internal transfer costs, depreciation, 
and other indirect costs associated with the manufacturing 
and procurement processes. The significant components of 
the line item “Selling, general and administrative expenses” 
are costs for warehousing and distribution of finished goods, 
marketing, advertising, selling expenses (including payroll and 
related payroll benefits for sales persons), royalties and other 
corporate general and administrative expenses.

Principles of Consolidation. The consolidated financial state-
ments include the accounts of Russell Corporation, all of our 
majority-owned subsidiaries, and any variable interest entities 
in which we are deemed to be the primary beneficiary, after 
the elimination of intercompany accounts and transactions.

In 2004, we adopted Financial Interpretation No. 46, Consoli-
dation of Variable Interest Entities, (“FIN 46”) which addresses 
whether business enterprises must consolidate the financial 
statements of entities known as “variable interest entities”. 
In accordance with FIN 46, we began consolidating Frontier 
Yarns on April 4, 2004. At January 1, 2005, the consolidation of 
Frontier Yarns increased our total assets by $24.8 million, total 
liabilities by $10.8 million and non-controlling interests by 
$14.0 million. The consolidation of Frontier Yarns did not have 
a significant impact on our results of operations for 2004. 

Use of Estimates.  The preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States requires us to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in 
the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. 
Actual results could materially differ from those estimates.

Inventories.  Inventories of finished goods, work-in-process 
and raw materials are carried at the lower of cost or market, 
with cost for the majority of our inventories determined 
under the Last-In, First-Out (LIFO) method. Certain invento-
ries are carried under the First-In, First-Out (FIFO) method, or 
the average cost method, and were valued at approximately 
$158.6 million in 2004 and $64.1 million in 2003. Inventories 
are summarized as follows:

(In thousands)  2004 2003

Finished goods  $340,487 $292,335
Work-in-process  53,598 45,318
Raw materials and supplies  25,711 15,068

     419,796 352,721
LIFO and lower-of-cost or  
 market adjustments, net  (8,095) (5,775)

     $411,701 $346,946

In 2002, our pre-tax income was unfavorably impacted by $6.0 
million due to the liquidation of LIFO inventory quantities car-
ried at higher costs prevailing in prior years as compared with 
current manufacturing costs. There was no significant impact 
on pre-tax income from the liquidation of LIFO inventory 
quantities in 2003 and 2004.

Property, Plant and Equipment. Property, plant and equip-
ment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and 
impairment write-downs. The provision for depreciation of 
property, plant and equipment has been computed gener-
ally on the straight-line method based upon their estimated 
useful lives. Initial estimated useful lives range from 15 to 40 
years for buildings and land improvements and from 3 to 
15 years for machinery and equipment. When events and 
circumstances indicate that the useful lives or salvage values 
may have changed, we adjust the related useful life and record 
depreciation over the shortened useful life after giving con-
sideration to the revised salvage values.

Property, plant and equipment, net are summarized as follows: 

 (In thousands)  2004 2003

Land and improvements  $   17,551 $   17,403
Buildings and improvements  253,170 253,982
Machinery and equipment  577,155 580,734
Construction-in-progress  25,256 6,565

     873,132 858,684
Less accumulated depreciation  (550,242) (555,450)

     $ 322,890 $ 303,234

At January 1, 2005, we held for sale three idled properties and 
certain equipment with an adjusted carrying value of approxi-
mately $2.0 million, which have been included in property, 
plant and equipment as part of the Domestic segment.
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Goodwill and Other Intangibles.  On December 30, 2001, 
we adopted FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Stan-
dards (SFAS) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, 
which eliminates amortization of goodwill and requires an 
annual impairment test. SFAS No. 142 requires that impair-
ment be tested at the reporting unit level, using a two-step 
approach. The first step determines if goodwill is impaired by 
comparing the fair value of the reporting unit as a whole to 
the book value. If a deficiency exists, the second step mea-
sures the amount of the impairment loss as the difference 
between the implied fair value of goodwill and its carrying 
value. Purchased intangibles with indefinite economic lives are 
tested for impairment annually using a lower of cost or fair 
value approach. Other intangibles continue to be amortized 
over their estimated useful lives, ranging from 2.4 to 40 years, 
and reviewed for impairment when indicators exist.

We have completed the annual impairment tests of goodwill 
and other intangible assets as required by SFAS No. 142 and 
concluded that our goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible 
assets were not impaired.

Debt Issuance Costs.  Debt issuance costs are deferred and 
amortized over the terms of the debt to which they relate 
using the straight-line method.

Investments (Trading Portfolio).  We hold a portfolio of 
marketable debt and equity securities in various trusts and 
segregated accounts in connection with employee benefit 
and deferred compensation plans. We mark these securities 
to market, using quoted market prices, through income. Real-
ized and unrealized gains and losses on our trading portfolio 
have not been significant in any of the last three years.

Investments In and Advances to Unconsolidated Entities. 
Investments in companies in which we have the ability to 
influence the operations are accounted for by the equity 
method. Investments in companies in which we cannot exert 
such influence are accounted for at cost.

Long-Lived Assets. On December 30, 2001, we adopted 
the provisions of SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment 
or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, which superseded SFAS No. 
121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-lived Assets and for 
Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed of. Similar to the provisions 
of SFAS No. 121, SFAS No. 144 requires that when events 
and circumstances indicate that assets may be impaired, and 
the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated from 
those assets are less than their carrying values, we record an 

impairment loss equal to the excess of the carrying value 
over fair value. 

Income Taxes.  We account for income taxes under the pro-
visions of SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Under 
SFAS No. 109, deferred tax assets and liabilities are deter-
mined based upon differences between the financial report-
ing and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured at 
the enacted tax rates that will be in effect when the taxes are 
expected to be paid.

Advertising, Marketing and Promotions Expense.  The 
cost of advertising, marketing and promotions is expensed 
as incurred. We incurred approximately $48.6 million, $48.0 
million, and $36.0 million in such costs during 2004, 2003 and 
2002, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation.  We issue awards under 
incentive compensation plans as described in Note 7. On 
January 5, 2003, we adopted the prospective transition provi-
sions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting and Disclosure of Stock-Based 
Compensation, as amended by SFAS No. 148. By electing the 
prospective transition method of SFAS No. 148, our results of 
operations and our financial position are not affected by stock 
compensation awards granted prior to January 5, 2003. We rec-
ognized approximately $5.2 million ($3.6 million after-tax) and 
$0.6 million ($0.4 million after-tax) of stock-based employee 
compensation in 2004 and 2003, respectively. For stock com-
pensation awards granted prior to January 5, 2003, we used 
the intrinsic value approach under Accounting Principles Board 
Opinion No. 25,  Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. The 
table below presents a comparison of reported results versus 
proforma results that assumes the fair value based method of 
accounting had been applied to all stock compensation awards 
granted. For the purposes of this disclosure, we estimated the 
fair value of employee stock options at the date of grant using 
the Black-Scholes option valuation model. 

The fair values derived for options granted during fiscal years 
2004, 2003 and 2002 and key assumptions used to determine 
these values were as follows:

     2004 2003 2002

Risk-free interest rate 1.25% 1.25% 4.50%
Dividend yield 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%
Volatility factor .361 .361 .361
Weighted-average expected  
 life of options 2.0 years 2.0 years 7.4 years
Estimated fair value per option $3.88 $3.88 $6.98
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For purposes of calculating the pro forma disclosures below, 
the estimated fair value of the options is amortized to expense 
over the options’ vesting period.

(In thousands, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002

Reported net income  $47,936 $43,039 $34,306
Stock-based employee  
 compensation, net of tax,  
 assuming SFAS No. 148  
 was applied (268) (1,171) (2,542)

Pro forma net income $ 47,668 $41,868 $31,764

Reported net income  
 per share – basic $     1.47 $    1.33 $    1.07
Pro forma net income  
 per share – basic $     1.46 $    1.29 $    0.99
Reported net income  
 per share – diluted $     1.46 $    1.32 $    1.06
Pro forma net income  
 per share – diluted $     1.45 $    1.28 $    0.99

Concentrations of Credit Risk and Financial Instruments. 
Except for Wal-Mart, we do not have significant concentrations 
of credit risk. Our trade accounts receivable are comprised of 
balances due from a large number of diverse customers. We 
believe that risk of loss associated with our trade accounts 
receivable is adequately provided for in the allowance for 
doubtful accounts.

Wal-Mart represented 13.7% and 16.5% of our net accounts 
receivable at January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, respectively.

Accounting for Derivatives.  We are exposed to market 
risks relating to fluctuations in interest rates, currency exchange 
rates and commodity prices. Our financial risk management 
objectives are to minimize the potential impact of interest 
rate, foreign exchange rate and commodity price fluctuations 
on our earnings, cash flows and equity. To manage these risks, 
we may use, from time to time, various derivative instruments, 
including interest rate swap agreements, commodity futures 
contracts and forward currency exchange contracts.

We account for derivatives under the provisions of SFAS  
No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 
Activities. On the date we enter into a derivative contract, 
we designate derivatives as either a hedge of a recognized 
asset or liability or an unrecognized firm commitment (fair 
value hedge), or a hedge of a forecasted transaction, or of the 
variability of cash flows to be received or paid related to a 
recognized asset or liability (cash flow hedge).

For fair value hedges, both the effective and ineffective portion 
of the changes in the fair value of the derivative, along with 
the gain or loss on the hedged item that is attributable to the 
hedged risk, are recorded in earnings. The effective portion of 
changes in fair value of a derivative that is designated as a cash 
flow hedge is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive 
income or loss. When the hedged item is realized, the gain or 
loss included in accumulated other comprehensive income 
or loss is relieved. Any ineffective portion of the changes in 
the fair values of derivatives used as cash flow hedges are 
reported in the consolidated statements of income.

We document hedge relationships, including identification of 
the hedging instruments and the hedged items, as well as our 
risk management objectives and strategies for undertaking the 
hedge transaction, at the inception of each hedge transaction. 
Derivatives are recorded in the consolidated balance sheet at 
fair value. We formally assess, both at inception and at least 
quarterly thereafter, whether the derivatives that are used in 
hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in 
either the fair values or cash flows of the hedged item.

Earnings Per Common Share.  We report earnings per 
common share in accordance with SFAS No. 128, Earnings 
Per Share. Basic earnings per common share is computed 
using the weighted-average number of common shares 
outstanding during the period without consideration of 
common stock equivalents. Diluted earnings per common 
share is computed using the weighted-average number of 
common shares outstanding plus common stock equivalents 
(employee stock options, restricted stock grants and other 
performance awards) unless such common stock equivalents 
are anti-dilutive. (See Note 10).

Fiscal Year. Our fiscal year ends on the Saturday nearest to 
January 1, which periodically results in a fiscal year of 53 weeks. 
Fiscal years 2004 and 2003 ended on January 1, 2005 and Janu-
ary 3, 2004, respectively, and each contained 52 weeks. Fiscal 
year 2002 ended on January 4, 2003 and contained 53 weeks.

New Accounting Pronouncements. On December 16, 
2004, the FASB issued Statement No. 123 (revised 2004), 
Share-Based Payment, (“Statement 123(R)”), which is a revi-
sion of SFAS No. 123. Statement 123(R) supersedes APB No. 
25 and amends FASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash 
Flows. Statement 123(R) also supersedes SFAS No. 148, which 
we adopted on January 5, 2003. The approach in Statement 
123(R) is similar to the approach described in SFAS No. 
123. However, Statement 123(R) requires all share-based 
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payments to employees, including grants of employee stock 
options, to be recognized in the income statement based on 
their fair values. Pro forma disclosure is no longer an alterna-
tive. In addition, Statement 123(R) will require us to record 
stock compensation expense as stock compensation awards 
granted prior to January 5, 2003 vest, which is a change from 
our current accounting treatment under SFAS No. 148. 
Currently, we use the Black-Scholes formula to estimate the 
value of stock options granted to employees and expect to 
continue to use this acceptable option valuation model under 
Statement 123(R). Statement 123(R) also requires the ben-
efits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation 
cost be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an 
operating cash flow as required under current literature. This 
requirement will reduce net operating cash flows and increase 
net financing cash flows in periods after the effective date. We 
expect to adopt Statement 123(R) on July 4, 2005, and we do 
not believe this new standard will have a material impact on 
our results of operations or financial position.

Foreign Currencies. Assets and liabilities recorded in foreign 
currencies on the books of foreign subsidiaries are translated at 
the exchange rate in effect on the balance sheet date. Revenues, 
costs and expenses are translated at average rates of exchange 
prevailing during the year. Translation adjustments resulting from 
this process are charged or credited to accumulated other 
comprehensive income or loss. The cumulative translation 
adjustments included in accumulated other comprehensive 
loss in the consolidated balance sheets were $5.8 million and 
$7.9 million at January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, respectively. 
Transaction gains or losses result from a change in exchange 
rates between the functional currency of our foreign subsidiar-
ies and other currencies in which they conduct their business. 
Transaction gains and losses are included in other-net for the 
period in which the exchange rate changes.

Pension Benefits. We account for defined benefit pension 
plans in accordance with SFAS No. 87, Employers’ Accounting 
for Pensions, which requires us to recognize pension costs 
and liabilities based on actuarial evaluations. Inherent in these 
valuations are key assumptions including the discount rate at 
which the pension obligations could be effectively settled, the 
anticipated rate of future salary increases, and the assumed 
long-term rate of return on plan assets. In determining the 
discount rate, we consider current yields on high-quality 
fixed-income investments. The salary increase assumption 
is based upon historical experience and anticipated future 
management actions. The assumed long-term rate of return 
on plan assets is based upon the historical rate of return on 

the invested funds of the pension plan and projected future 
market returns. 

Reclassifications. Certain prior year amounts have been 
reclassified to conform to the fiscal 2004 presentation. These 
changes had no impact on previously reported results of 
operations or stockholders’ equity.

NOTE 2: LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt includes the following: 

(In thousands)  2004 2003

Senior secured credit facilities (due April 2007):
 $300 million revolving credit facility  $110,056 $  12,355
 Term Loan  10,000 15,000
Senior Notes 9.25% (due 2010)  250,000 250,000
Frontier Yarns notes payable with  
 annual payments of $1.1 million due  
 in monthly installments through July 2009;  
 payments include interest at 7.00%;  
 collateralized by equipment      4,243 –
Frontier Yarns capital lease obligation  
 with annual  payments of $1.5 million due  
 in various monthly and quarterly installments  
 through June 2009; payments include interest  
 at 7.04%; collateralized by equipment       5,534 –
Other capital lease obligations  26 –

     379,859 277,355
Less current maturities  (6,938) (5,000)

     $372,921 $272,355

On April 18, 2002, we issued $250 million in principal amount 
of 9.25% Senior Notes (the “Senior Notes”) that will mature 
in 2010. We sold these notes for 100% of their face amount. 
The Senior Notes were issued pursuant to an Indenture, 
dated as of April 18, 2002, between Wachovia Bank, N.A. and 
us and are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and sev-
erally, by most of our domestic subsidiaries. The Senior Notes 
(1) have interest payment dates of May 1 and November 1 
of each year ; (2) are redeemable after the dates and at the 
prices (expressed in percentages of principal amount on the 
redemption date) as set forth below:

Year    Percentage

May 1, 2006   104.6250%
May 1, 2007   102.3125%
May 1, 2008 and thereafter   100.0000%

and (3) are senior unsecured obligations and are senior in right 
of payment to any of our future subordinated obligations.
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On April 18, 2002, we also entered into new senior secured 
credit facilities (the “Facilities”) concurrently with the closing 
of the Senior Notes offering. The new Facilities provide for 
a $300 million senior secured revolving credit facility (the 
“Revolver”) which is dependent on the levels of our eligible 
accounts receivable and inventory and a $25 million senior 
secured term loan (the “Term Loan”). The Revolver matures 
on April 18, 2007, while the Term Loan will be paid in full by 
December 31, 2006. The Facilities provide for variable inter-
est that, beginning in fiscal 2003, is adjusted quarterly based 
on our consolidated fixed coverage ratio and ranges from 
LIBOR plus 1.50% to LIBOR plus 2.75% or Fleet National 
Bank’s Base Rate to the Base Rate plus 1.25% for the Revolver, 
and LIBOR plus 2.00% to LIBOR plus 3.25% or Fleet National 
Bank’s Base Rate plus 0.50% to Base Rate plus 1.75% for the 
Term Loan. For the majority of 2004, variable interest on the 
Revolver was either LIBOR plus 2.00% (4.52% at January 1, 
2005), or Base Rate plus 0.50% (5.75% at January 1, 2005), 
and on the Term Loan was either LIBOR plus 2.50% (5.02% 
at January 1, 2005), or Base Rate plus 1.00% (6.25% at Janu-
ary 1, 2005), with an annual commitment fee on the unused 
portion of the Facilities of 0.375%. For the majority of 2003, 
our rate on the Revolver was LIBOR plus 1.75% (2.8425% 
at January 3, 2004) or Base Rate plus 0.25% (4.25% at Janu-
ary 3, 2004) and on the Term Loan was LIBOR plus 2.25% 
(3.3425% at January 3, 2004) or Base Rate plus 0.75% (4.75% 
at January 3, 2004). 

We may choose LIBOR or base rate pricing and may elect 
interest periods of one, two, three or six months for LIBOR 
borrowings (except that all swing line loans managed by the 
Administrative Agent under the Revolver will have base rate 
pricing or LIBOR pricing plus a 0.375% premium over the 
current revolver spread). The Term Loan has a scheduled  
5-year amortization period with payments of $2.5 million 
each September 30 and December 31 until maturity, begin-
ning on September 30, 2002.

We used the proceeds from the offering of the Senior Notes, 
together with $132.4 million of the initial borrowings under 
our new Facilities, to pay fees and expenses associated with 
the new Facilities and the Senior Notes and to repay the 
outstanding debt balances, prepayment penalties, fees, and 
expenses related to our old debt.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2002, we recognized a 
charge of approximately $20.1 million ($12.6 million after-tax) 
associated with the termination of our then existing revolving 
credit facility and the early retirement of other long-term 

indebtedness. The charge consisted of $15.0 million related 
to prepayment penalties, fees and expenses associated with 
the early termination of our existing notes payable and the 
write-off of $5.1 million of previously capitalized loan costs 
associated with the extinguished debt. This charge was prop-
erly classified net of tax as an extraordinary item in the 2002 
Annual Report; however, in accordance with SFAS No. 145, 
Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of 
FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections, we reclassi-
fied the charge to income from continuing operations.

The Facilities and the indenture governing the Senior Notes 
impose certain restrictions on us, including restrictions on our 
ability to: incur debts; grant liens; provide guarantees in respect 
of obligations of any other person; pay dividends; make loans 
and investments; sell our assets; issue redeemable preferred 
stock and non-guarantor subsidiary preferred stock; make 
redemptions and repurchases of capital stock; make capital 
expenditures; prepay, redeem or repurchase debt; engage in 
mergers or consolidation; engage in sale/leaseback transactions 
and affiliate transactions; change our business; amend certain 
debt and other material agreements, including the indenture 
governing the Senior Notes and other documents governing 
any subordinated debt that we may issue in the future; issue 
and sell capital stock of subsidiaries; and restrict distributions 
from subsidiaries. The new Facilities require us to achieve fixed 
charge coverage ratios of: 1.15 to 1.0 through the next to last 
day of fiscal year 2003; 1.2 to 1.0 through the next to last day 
of fiscal year 2004; and 1.25 to 1.0 thereafter. We also must 
maintain a maximum leverage ratio of: 3.75 to 1.0 through the 
next to last day of fiscal year 2003; and 3.5 to 1.0 thereafter. 
We were in compliance with these covenants at the end of 
fiscal year 2004.

On March 11, 2003, we amended the Facilities to, among 
other things, (1) lessen some of the restrictions on our ability 
to make acquisitions, (2) permit us to make additional invest-
ments and guarantees, and (3) allow us to repurchase a por-
tion of our Senior Notes and capital stock, subject to annual 
limitations.

As of January 1, 2005, we had $120.1 million in outstanding 
borrowings ($110.1 million under the Revolver and $10.0 mil-
lion under the Term Loan) and $11.5 million in outstanding 
letters of credit under the Facilities. As of January 1, 2005, we 
could have borrowed approximately $143.4 million of addi-
tional funds under our Revolver.
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Aggregate maturities of long-term debt, other than obliga-
tions under capital lease obligations, at January 1, 2005, are 
as follows: 

(In thousands) 

2005    $     5,831
2006    5,891
2007    111,012
2008    1,025
2009    540
Thereafter (2010)   250,000

      $374,299

Future minimum lease payments under capital leases are as 
follows:

(In thousands)

2005    $ 1,461
2006       1,483
2007       1,467
2008      1,463
2009         609

Total future minimum lease payments      6,483
Less amount representing interest      (923)

Present value of future minimum lease payments     5,560
Less current portion   (1,107)

      $ 4,453

Amortization expense of equipment acquired under capital 
leases is included in depreciation expense.

NOTE 3: SHORT-TERM DEBT

As of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, we had a line of 
credit agreement with the Bank of Scotland with outstanding 
borrowings of $14.0 million and $4.1 million, respectively. At 
January 1, 2005, we had availability under this line of credit 
of approximately $2.5 million. The weighted-average interest 
rate on the line of credit was 4.5%, 5.7% and 5.9% for 2004, 
2003 and 2002, respectively.

In addition, we had $4.2 million outstanding under Frontier 
Yarn’s line of credit that is collateralized by a portion of its 
accounts receivable. The interest rate associated with the line 
of credit is prime minus 50 basis points, which resulted in a 
3.9% weighted-average interest rate for 2004.

NOTE 4:  DERIVATIVE AND OTHER  
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

We earn revenues and incur expenses in various parts of the 
world and, as a result, we are exposed to movement in foreign 
currency exchange rates. As of January 1, 2005, we have for-
eign exchange forward contracts expiring through the end of 
fiscal 2005 that are intended to reduce the effect of fluctuat-
ing foreign currencies on anticipated purchases of inventory 
and sales of goods denominated in currencies other than the 
functional currencies of our international subsidiaries. Gains 
and losses on the derivatives are intended to offset gains and 
losses on the hedged transactions in an effort to reduce the 
earnings volatility resulting from fluctuating foreign currency 
exchange rates. The foreign exchange forward contracts are 
primarily accounted for as cash flow hedges. The principal cur-
rencies hedged include the U.S. dollar, European euro, and British 
pound sterling. During 2004, 2003 and 2002, the change in fair 
value of the forward contracts increased accrued expenses 
and accumulated other comprehensive loss by $4.2 million 
($2.6 million net of taxes), $7.4 million ($4.6 million net of 
taxes) and $2.5 million ($1.6 million net of taxes), respectively. 
In addition, realized losses reclassified to other-net in the 
consolidated statements of income amounted to $4.4 million 
($2.8 million net of taxes), $4.5 million ($2.8 million net of 
taxes) and $0.6 million ($0.4 million net of taxes), respectively. 
At January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, accumulated other 
comprehensive loss included $4.5 million ($2.8 million net of 
taxes) and $4.7 million ($3.0 million net of taxes), respectively, 
related to foreign currency cash flow hedges.

Other Financial Instruments.  At January 1, 2005 and Janu-
ary 3, 2004, the carrying value of financial instruments such as 
cash, trade accounts receivable and payables approximated 
their fair values, based on the short-term maturities of these 
instruments. The fair value of long-term debt is estimated using 
discounted cash flow analyses, based upon our incremental 
borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements.
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The following table summarizes fair value information for 
derivative and other financial instruments:

     2004 2003

    Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
(In thousands) Value Value Value Value

ASSET (LIABILITY)
Short-term debt $ (18,190) $ (18,190) $ (4,088) $ (4,088)
Long-term debt  
 (including current  
 portion)  (379,859)  (395,085)  (277,355)  (292,481)
Forward currency  
 exchange contracts  (4,513)  (4,513)  (4,743)  (4,743)
Investments  
 (trading portfolio)  10,531  10,531  9,092  9,092

NOTE 5: EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

We have two qualified, noncontributory, defined benefit pen-
sion plans that cover substantially all of our United States 
employees and unfunded plans that provide retirement 
benefits in excess of qualified plan formulas or regulatory limi-
tations for certain employees (“Retirement Plans”). Benefits 
for the Retirement Plans are generally based upon years of 
service and the employee’s highest consecutive five years of 
compensation during the last ten years of employment. One 
of our qualified plans provides benefit payments of stated 
amounts for each year of credited service.

We fund the qualified plans by contributing annually the mini-
mum amount required by the Employee Retirement Income 
Security Act. Additional contributions are sometimes needed 
to comply with funding requirements in our principal debt 
agreement. We expect to contribute approximately $4.0 mil-
lion to the Retirement Plans in fiscal 2005.

Our investment strategy for the Retirement Plans is to maxi-
mize the long-term rate of return on plan assets within an 
acceptable level of risk. The investment policy establishes a 
target allocation for each asset class, and the asset classes 
are periodically rebalanced. Target allocations are 65% equity 
investments and 35% fixed income investments, but there are 
allowable ranges.

The percentage of fair value of total plan assets by asset cat-
egory as of the measurement date (which is January 1 each 
year) is as follows:

      2004 2003

ASSET CATEGORY
Equity funds  75.1% 65.7%
Fixed income funds  24.5% 34.3%
Cash and cash equivalents    0.4% –%

Total   100.0% 100.0%

Plan assets at January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, include 
600,960 shares of the Company’s common stock having a 
market value of $11.7 million and $10.6 million, respectively. 
Dividends paid to the plan by the Company were $0.1 million 
in 2004, 2003 and 2002.

The following table sets forth changes in the benefit obliga-
tion, plan assets and funded status:

(In thousands)  2004 2003

CHANGE IN BENEFIT OBLIGATION
Benefit obligation at beginning of year  $170,737 $157,643
Service cost  4,936 5,045
Interest cost  10,933 10,493
Actuarial loss  13,104 7,297
Benefits paid  (9,499) (9,763)
Acquisitions  2,235 –
Plan amendments  – 22

Benefit obligation at end of year  $192,446 $170,737

The accumulated benefit obligation for the Retirement Plans 
was $179.0 million and $157.6 million at January 1, 2005 and 
January 3, 2004, respectively.

(In thousands)  2004 2003

CHANGE IN PLAN ASSETS
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year  $112,943 $94,748
Actual return on plan assets  12,749 20,673
Company contributions  10,412 7,285
Acquisitions  1,344 –
Benefits paid  (9,499) (9,763)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year  $127,949 $112,943
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(In thousands)  2004 2003

RECONCILIATION OF FUNDED STATUS  
TO ACCRUED BENEFIT COST
Unfunded status of the plan  $(64,497) $(57,794)
Unrecognized prior service cost  874 1,105
Unrecognized net actuarial loss  52,348 42,492
Unrecognized transition asset  – (308)

Accrued benefit cost  $(11,275) $(14,505)

(In thousands)  2004 2003

AMOUNTS RECOGNIZED IN THE  
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
Accrued benefit cost  $(11,275) $(14,505)
Additional minimum liability  (39,831) (30,544)
Intangible asset  596 548
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (pre-tax)  39,235 29,996

Net amount recognized  $(11,275) $(14,505)

Amortization of unrecognized prior service cost is recorded 
using the straight-line method over the average remaining 
service period of active employees. Amortization of actu-
arial losses are recorded using the minimum amortization 
required by the corridor approach. The corridor approach 
requires that the net actuarial loss in excess of 10 percent of 
the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the market-
related value of the assets be amortized using the straight-
line method over the average remaining service period of the 
active employees.

The after-tax minimum pension liability included in accumulated 
other comprehensive loss was $24.3 million and $18.6 million 
at January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, respectively.

A summary of the components of net periodic pension cost 
is as follows: 

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

COMPONENTS OF  
NET PERIODIC BENEFIT COST
Service cost $   4,936 $   5,045 $   3,999
Interest cost 10,933 10,493 10,408
Expected return on plan assets (10,912) (11,005) (12,351)
Net amortization and deferral 1,334 (452) (449)

Net periodic pension cost $   6,291 $   4,081 $   1,607

The weighted average assumptions used to compute pension 
amounts were as follows:

     2004  2003

Discount rate  5.90% 6.25%
Expected return on plan assets  8.50% 8.50%
Rate of compensation increase  3.00% 3.00%

The expected return on plan assets is based upon the historical 
rate of return on the invested funds of the plans and projected 
future market returns. 

The following table shows the expected benefit payments  
to be made from the Retirement Plans as of January 1, 2005 
(in thousands):

Fiscal Years  Benefit Payments

2005    $ 9,064
2006    8,952
2007    9,080
2008    9,649
2009    10,410
Five years thereafter   58,534

In addition to our Retirement Plans, we have five savings plans 
that are qualified under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue 
Code and a non-qualified plan (Savings Plans). Our Savings 
Plans allow substantially all United States employees to defer 
portions of their annual compensation and to participate in 
Company matching and discretionary contributions. Compen-
sation expense associated with these plans was $1.0 million in 
2004, $0.9 million in 2003 and $0.8 million in 2002.
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NOTE 6: INCOME TAXES 

Foreign operations contributed $18.1 million, $1.3 million and $0.9 million of our income before income taxes in 2004, 2003 
and 2002, respectively. In 2004, foreign operations in the United Kingdom, Honduras and Ireland were the primary contributor 
to our foreign income.

Significant components of the provision for income taxes are as follows:

     2004 2003 2002

(In thousands) Currently Payable Deferred Currently Payable Deferred Currently Payable Deferred

Federal $19,036 $ 4,025 $15,826 $ 6,224 $  8,991 $ 9,330
State  558 1,570 42 (2,127) 1,691 (191)
Foreign 2,313 (7,511) 639 335 3,280 (2,779)

Totals $21,907 $(1,916) $16,507 $ 4,432 $13,962 $ 6,360

Our effective tax rate for 2004 of 29.4% decreased 3.3 and 
7.8 percentage points from 32.7% and 37.2% in fiscal 2003 and 
2002, respectively. The 2004 decrease in the effective tax rate 
is mainly due to a benefit resulting from the closure of federal 
tax audits for 2002 and prior years along with the effects of 
our foreign operations. The 2003 versus 2002 decrease was 
primarily due to $2.6 million of non-recurring tax benefits and 
other deferred tax adjustments realized in 2003.

Following is a reconciliation of income tax expense or benefit to 
the expected amount computed by applying the statutory fed-
eral income tax rate of 35% to income before income taxes:

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Taxes (benefit) at statutory rate  
 on income before income taxes $ 23,774 $22,392 $19,120
State income taxes, net of  
 federal income tax benefit 1,827 (836) 702
Tax effects of foreign  
 operations – net (2,716) (4,612) (2,006)
United Kingdom branch  
 tax liability 10,209 – –
Change in valuation allowance   
 on foreign/state NOLs (10,278) 5,931 2,606
Change in reserves (1,577) (620) –
Other – net (1,248) (1,316) (100)

    $ 19,991 $20,939 $20,322

Deferred income taxes reflect the tax effects of temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabili-
ties for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 
income tax purposes. Significant components of deferred tax 
liabilities and assets as of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, 
are as follows:

(In thousands)  2004 2003

Deferred tax liabilities:
 Property, plant and equipment  $20,473 $ 25,036
 Inventories  4,979 5,539
 Deferred income  13,272 11,139
 Acquired intangibles   22,004 –
 Other  19,670 6,986

  Total deferred tax liabilities  80,398 48,700

Deferred tax assets:
 Pension and post-employment obligations  17,581 17,267
 Accounts receivable  6,966 3,777
 Federal, foreign and state net  
  operating loss carry forwards  25,513 23,368
 Employee benefits  12,049 10,186
 Other  3,145 1,802

Total deferred tax assets  65,254 56,400
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets  (9,196) (19,474)

Net deferred tax assets  56,058 36,926

Net deferred tax liabilities  $24,340 $ 11,774
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Net operating loss carryforwards (NOLs) are available to 
offset future earnings within the time periods specified by law. 
At January 1, 2005, we had U.S. state NOLs of approximately 
$319 million expiring in 2013 through 2019 and U.S. federal 
NOLs of approximately $13 million specifically related to the 
Brooks acquisition, subject to change in ownership limitation, 
which should be utilized before expiration in 2020 through 
2024. International NOLs total approximately $34.5 million. 
The International NOLs pertain primarily to our United King-
dom and Australian operations. NOLs can be carried forward 
indefinitely in the United Kingdom and Australia with “same 
business” and ownership tests, respectively.

Through 2002, as we continued to execute our restructuring 
plans and implemented certain tax strategies, we generated 
NOL carryforwards in states where utilization of the car-
ryforward benefits was not assured. In 2003 and 2002, we 
increased our valuation allowance by $5.9 million and $2.6 
million, respectively, for additional NOLs generated in our 
International operations. In 2004, we decreased our valuation 
allowance by $10.3 million primarily in anticipation of utilizing 
NOLs previously generated in our United Kingdom opera-
tions. Because our United Kingdom operations function as a 
branch of the U.S. for income tax purposes, a corresponding 
deferred tax liability was set up to offset the United Kingdom 
NOL deferred tax asset.

On October 22, 2004, the President signed the American 
Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “Act”). The Act, among other 
things, provides a temporary incentive for U.S. corporations 
to repatriate accumulated income earned outside the U.S. by 
providing an 85% dividends received deduction for certain 
dividends from controlled foreign operations. We have evalu-
ated the repatriation provisions of the Act and determined 
that these provisions will not have a significant impact on our 
results. It is our current intention to continue to indefinitely 
reinvest earnings of our international subsidiaries; therefore, 
we do not provide for federal income taxes on their undis-
tributed earnings. At January 1, 2005, we had not provided for 
federal income taxes on earnings of international subsidiaries 
of approximately $27.9 million. If these earnings are distributed 
in the form of dividends or otherwise, we would be subject to 
both U.S. income taxes and withholding taxes in the various 
international jurisdictions. It is not practical for us to determine 
the amount of unrecognized deferred U.S. income tax liability 
because of the complexities associated with the hypothetical 
calculation. Withholding taxes of approximately $1.4 million 
would be payable if all previously unremitted earnings as of 
January 1, 2005, were remitted to the U.S. parent company.

NOTE 7:   STOCK RIGHTS PLAN AND  
STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS

On September 15, 1999, the Board of Directors declared 
a dividend, which was issued on October 25, 1999, of one 
Right for each share of common stock outstanding. Each 
Right, when exercisable, entitles the holder to purchase a unit 
of one one-hundredth share of Series A Junior Participating 
Preferred Stock, par value $0.01, at a purchase price of $85. 
Upon certain events relating to the acquisition of, or right 
to acquire, beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the 
Company’s outstanding common stock by a third party, or 
a change in control of the Company, the Rights entitle the 
holder to acquire, after the Rights are no longer redeemable 
by the Company, shares of common stock for each Right held 
at a significant discount to market. The Rights will expire on 
October 25, 2009, unless redeemed earlier by the Company 
at $0.01 per Right under certain circumstances.

Our Executive Incentive Plan permits us to issue equity-based 
compensation awards in several forms to all officers and key 
employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. Under the 
plan, we may issue restricted stock, incentive stock options, 
nonqualified stock options, reload stock options, bonus shares, 
deferred shares, stock appreciation rights, performance shares, 
and performance unit awards.

Most of our salaried employees, including officers, are eligible 
to participate in the Russell Corporation 2000 Stock Option 
Plan (2000 Option Plan). Awards under the 2000 Option 
Plan also may be made to consultants. The 2000 Option 
Plan allows us to grant awards in a variety of forms, includ-
ing incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, reload 
stock options, restricted shares, bonus shares, deferred shares, 
freestanding stock appreciation rights, tandem stock apprecia-
tion rights, performance units, and performance shares.
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Under the Executive Incentive Plan, the 2000 Option Plan and predecessor stock option plans, a total of 2,493,436 shares 
of common stock were reserved for issuance at January 1, 2005. The options are granted at a price equal to the stock’s fair 
market value at the date of grant.  All options granted prior to 1999 are primarily exercisable two years after the date of grant 
and expire 10 years after the date of grant. The stock options that were granted in 1999 and later are exercisable equally over 
periods of either two or four years and expire 10 years after the date of grant. The following table summarizes the status of 
options under the Executive Incentive Plan, 2000 Option Plan and predecessor plans:

      2004 2003 2002

     Weighted-Average  Weighted-Average  Weighted-Average
    Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price

Outstanding at beginning of year 3,695,689 $20.05 4,367,793 $19.92 4,630,808 $20.11
Granted at fair value     1,005 $18.88 70,650 $19.48 63,658 $16.41
Exercised   196,788 $15.16 340,539 $15.28 119,047 $15.06
Expired    12,380 $16.76 85,800 $27.50 – –
Forfeited 207,469 $23.97 316,415 $21.36 207,626 $18.03

Outstanding at end of year 3,280,057 $19.91 3,695,689 $20.05 4,367,793 $19.92

Exercisable at end of year 3,209,549 $19.98 3,209,053 $20.62 2,982,005 $21.58

The range of exercise prices of the outstanding and exercisable 
options are as follows at January 1, 2005:

      Weighted- 
    Number of Number of Average 
Weighted-Average Exercisable Outstanding Remaining
Exercise Price Shares Shares LIfe in Years 

$11.75 - $15.00 18,605 25,418 6.7
$15.01 - $18.25 1,409,917 1,457,656 5.1
$18.26 - $21.50 704,191 720,147 3.6
$21.51 - $24.75 269,170 269,170 3.6
$24.76 - $28.00 625,866 625,866 3.1
$28.01 - $31.35   181,800 181,800 1.0

    3,209,549 3,280,057 4.1

Under the Russell Corporation 2000 Non-Employee Direc-
tors’ Compensation Plan (the “Directors’ Plan”), which 
replaced the Russell Corporation 1997 Non-Employee Direc-
tors’ Stock Grant, Stock Option and Deferred Compensation 
Plan (the “Prior Plan”), each non-employee director (“Eligible 
Director”) receives annually (1) a fee of $35,000, to be paid 
in quarterly installments of $8,750, and (2) an option to pur-
chase shares of common stock with a value equal to $25,000, 
exercisable for 10 years at a price equal to the market value 
of the common stock on the date of the annual meeting.

Effective January 1, 2003, a stock retainer deferral account (a 
“deferral account”) was established for each non-employee 
director in lieu of stock options. Immediately following each 
annual meeting each non-employee director’s deferral account 
will be credited with shares of common stock having a market 
value of $25,000. In addition, on each dividend payment date, 
each deferral account will be credited with additional shares 
of common stock equal to the number of shares of common 
stock, which could be acquired with the dividends paid on the 
shares of common stock in the deferral account based on 
the market value of such shares on such date. The shares in a 
deferral account will be paid to a non-employee director on 
the earlier of the first anniversary of the date such director 
ceased to be a director of the company or the day after such 
director ceases to be a director following such director reach-
ing age 70. Eligible Directors also may elect to receive all or a 
portion of their annual fees in shares or deferred shares.

In 2004, 10,464 deferred shares were granted at a price of 
$18.51 and in 2003, 10,600 deferred shares were granted at 
a price of $18.88. Options granted under the Directors’ Plan 
vest over 1 year and expire 10 years after the date of grant; 
whereas, options granted under the Prior Plan vest over three 
years and expire 10 years after the date of grant. Options to 
purchase an aggregate of 169,890 shares at prices ranging from 
$16.28 to $27.50 are outstanding under the Directors’ Plan 
and the Prior Plan at January 1, 2005.
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NOTE 8: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Purchase and Lease Commitments. At January 1, 2005, 
we have commitments to spend approximately $11.1 million 
for capital improvements. Our remaining commitments under 
noncancelable operating leases with initial or remaining terms 
of one year or more are as follows:

(In thousands) Third Parties Related Party(1) Total

2005  $  9,382 $  2,527 $11,909
2006  6,811 2,561 9,372
2007  4,652 2,596 7,248
2008  2,872 2,631 5,503
2009  1,437 2,667 4,104
Thereafter 1,214 1,794 3,008

    $26,368 $14,776 $41,144

(1) Refer to Note 14 for more information.

Lease and rental expense for fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002 
was $10.2 million, $7.6 million and $7.3 million, respectively.

We had $24.2 million outstanding under letters of credit at 
January 1, 2005, of which $12.8 million related to the purchase 
of inventories, $2.3 million was for the guarantee of debt of a 
non-affiliated foreign contractor, $6.8 million related to work-
ers’ compensation self-insured programs and customs bonds, 
and $2.3 million related to utility bonds and other matters. All 
outstanding letters of credit are set to expire in 2005.

Litigation 
We are a co-defendant in Locke, et al. v. Russell Corporation, et 
al. filed on January 13, 2000 in the Circuit Court of Jefferson 
County, Alabama. Fifteen families who own property on Lake 
Martin in the Raintree Subdivision in Alexander City, Alabama, 
were the original plaintiffs in the case, which sought unspeci-
fied money damages for trespass and nuisance. However, 10 
families dropped out of the case and there are five remaining 
plaintiff families. In May 2002, the trial court entered sum-
mary judgment in our favor on all but one of the plaintiffs’ 
claims. The remaining claim involves a private right of action 
for public nuisance. We filed a summary judgment motion in 
October 2003, which was denied in March 2004. Trial of the 
Locke case has been set for September 2005. A complaint 
substantially identical to the one filed in the Locke case was 
filed on November 20, 2001, in the Circuit Court of Jefferson 
County, Alabama, by two residents of the Raintree Subdivi-
sion (Gould v. Russell Corporation, et al.). The trial court has 
entered summary judgment in our favor on all claims in that 
case, and the plaintiffs in the case have filed a motion to alter 

that determination, which remains pending. The allegations in 
the Locke and Gould cases are similar to those contained in a 
case styled Sullivan, et al. v. Russell Corporation, et al., which was 
resolved in our favor by a ruling of the Alabama Supreme 
Court in 2001. We plan to vigorously defend the Locke and 
Gould suits.

We are a party to various other lawsuits arising out of the 
normal conduct of our business. We do not believe that any 
of these matters, if adversely determined, would have a mate-
rial adverse effect upon us.

NOTE 9: SEGMENT INFORMATION

Description of the Types of Products from Which Each 
Reportable Segment Derives Its Revenues. We operate 
our business in two segments: Domestic and International 
Apparel. Beginning in 2004, we have realigned our business 
in the Domestic Segment to focus on brands versus distri-
bution channels. The two brand groupings in the Domestic 
segment are Athletic and Activewear. Athletic and Activewear 
have been aggregated into the Domestic reportable seg-
ment because these brand groupings are similar in economic 
characteristics, products, production processes, type of cus-
tomer, distribution method, and regulatory environment. The 
Domestic segment designs, markets, manufactures or sources 
apparel, footwear, sporting goods and sports equipment 
products. The International Apparel segment, which makes up 
the majority of our sales outside the United States, distributes 
athletic, outdoor and activewear apparel products.

Measurement of Segment Profit or Loss and Segment 
Assets. Our management evaluates performance and allocates 
resources based on profit or loss from operations before 
interest, income taxes and special charges (Segment operating 
income). Segment operating income as presented by us may 
not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other 
companies. The accounting policies of the reportable segments 
are the same as those described in the summary of significant 
accounting policies in the consolidated financial statements. 
Intersegment transfers are recorded at cost; there is no inter-
company profit or loss on intersegment transfers.
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SEGMENT FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE  
YEAR ENDED JANUARY 1, 2005

     International 
(In thousands) Domestic Apparel Total

Net sales $1,175,427 $122,825 $1,298,252
Depreciation and  
 amortization expense 47,057       965 48,022
Segment operating income 112,935 5,507 118,442
Total assets 1,159,367 94,742 1,254,109
2004 purchases of  
 long-lived assets 34,138 1,356 35,494

SEGMENT FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE  
YEAR ENDED JANUARY 3, 2004

     International 
(In thousands) Domestic Apparel Total

Net sales $1,084,844 $101,419 $1,186,263
Depreciation and  
 amortization expense 44,054 882 44,936
Segment operating income 112,652 535 113,187
Special charges not included  
 in Segment operating income 6,382 921 7,303
Total assets 967,108 54,002 1,021,110
2003 purchases of  
 long-lived assets 38,067 574 38,641

SEGMENT FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE 
 YEAR ENDED JANUARY 4, 2003

     International 
(In thousands) Domestic Apparel Total

Net sales $1,076,326 $88,002 $1,164,328
Depreciation and  
 amortization expense 44,364 697 45,061
Segment operating income (loss) 123,990 (753) 123,237
Total assets 896,632 66,483 963,115
2002 purchases of  
 long-lived assets 27,971 372 28,343

RECONCILIATION OF SEGMENT OPERATING INCOME 
TO CONSOLIDATED PRE-TAX INCOME 

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Total segment operating income $118,442 $113,187 $123,237
Unallocated amounts:
 Corporate expenses (17,651) (12,243) (18,266)
 Special charges – (7,303) –
 Debt retirement charge – – (20,097)
 Interest expense, net (30,843) (29,663) (30,246)
 Other (2,021) – –

Income before income taxes $  67,927 $  63,978 $  54,628

ENTERPRISE-WIDE DISCLOSURES: 

Net Sales by Geographic Region

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

United States $1,170,235 $1,084,184 $1,072,042
Europe 83,368 70,202 61,522
Other  44,649 31,877 30,764

Consolidated total $1,298,252 $1,186,263 $1,164,328

Net Sales by Brand Groupings

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Domestic Segment
 Athletic $   563,163 $  481,565 $   400,360
 Activewear 612,264 603,279 675,966

    1,175,427 1,084,844 1,076,326
International Apparel Segment 122,825 101,419 88,002

Consolidated total $1,298,252 $1,186,263 $1,164,328

Revenues are attributed to countries based on the location 
of customers. 

Gross sales to Wal-Mart represent approximately 19.3%, 
21.2% and 19.6% of our consolidated gross sales for fiscal 
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Long-Lived Assets by Geographic Region

(In thousands)  2004 2003

United States  $264,320 $272,895
Central America and Mexico  56,233 28,727
Europe  1,653 1,216
Other   684 396

Consolidated total  $322,890 $303,234

NOTE 10:   DILUTED WEIGHTED-AVERAGE  
COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING

Our diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding 
are calculated as follows:

    2004 2003 2002

Basic weighted-average  
 common shares outstanding 32,668,376 32,376,617 32,127,579
Net common shares underlying  
 unissued restricted stock and  
 issuable on exercise of  
 dilutive stock options  229,183 349,855 142,234

Diluted weighted-average  
 common shares outstanding 32,897,559 32,726,472 32,269,813
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Options to purchase 1.7 million, 2.0 million and 2.3 million 
shares of our common stock were excluded from the com-
putation of diluted weighted-average common shares out-
standing for the years ended January 1, 2005, January 3, 2004 
and January 4, 2003, respectively, because the exercise prices 
of the options exceeded the average market price.

NOTE 11:  SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

The following is a summary of unaudited quarterly results of 
operations (in thousands, except per share data):

     Quarter ended
Year ended  
January 1, 2005 April 4 July 4 Oct. 3 Jan. 1

Net sales $251,793 $289,771 $422,656 $334,032
Gross profit 64,633 80,345 121,803 97,099
Net income 531 10,162 26,938 10,305
Net income per  
 common share:    
  Basic $      0.02 $      0.31 $     0.82 $      0.32
  Diluted $      0.02 $      0.31 $     0.82 $      0.31

     Quarter ended
Year ended  
January 3, 2004 April 6 July 6 Oct. 5 Jan. 3

Net sales $227,983 $267,925 $388,001 $302,354
Gross profit 62,821 77,386 112,607 91,322
Net income 3,448 6,659 18,459 14,473
Net income per  
 common share:
  Basic $0.11 $0.21 $0.57 $0.45
  Diluted $0.11 $0.20 $0.56 $0.44

NOTE 12: OTHER ASSETS 

Other assets are summarized as follows: 

(In thousands)  2004 2003

Goodwill  $  98,695 $  41,924
Other intangibles  137,870 62,166
Debt issuance costs  16,967 16,656

     253,532 120,746
Less accumulated amortization  (14,758) (10,626)

     238,774 110,120
Investments (trading portfolio)  10,531 9,092
Investments in and advances to  
 unconsolidated entities  2,838 24,202
Other   1,658  1,363

     $253,801 $144,777

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill, which is 
included in the Domestic segment, are as follows:

(In thousands)

Balance at January 4, 2003   $19,673
Goodwill acquired during the year   21,943
Other         308

Balance at January 3, 2004   $41,924
Goodwill acquired during the year     59,546
Other      (2,775)

Balance at January 1, 2005   $98,866

In 2004, we resolved disputes over the Spalding purchase 
agreement which resulted in the reduction of goodwill.

Other intangibles are made up of the following:

 January 1, 2005 January 3, 2004

    Gross  Gross  
    Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
(In thousands)  Amount Amortization  Amount  Amortization 

Amortized  
 intangible assets:
Patents and technology $    8,405  $   (673) $  3,205  $   (216)
Customer relationships 17,003 – – –
Trademarks 6,755 (1,679) 6,383 (1,347)
License agreements 3,823 (273) 2,068   (101)
Other  559 (366) 559   (134)

Total amortized  
 intangible assets $  36,545    $ (2,991)  $12,215  $(1,798) 

Unamortized  
 intangible assets:
Trademarks $  88,054 $        – $36,728 $           –
Licensed agreements 12,675 (396) 12,675 (396)
Other  596 – 548 –

Total unamortized  
 intangible assets $101,325 $    (396) $49,951 $   (396)

Total intangible assets $137,870 $ (3,387) $62,166 $(2,194)
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The amortization expense for the year ended January 1, 2005, 
January 3, 2004 and January 4, 2003 was $1.4 million, $0.8 mil-
lion and $0.3 million, respectively. The estimated amortization 
expense for the next five years is as follows:

(In millions)  Amortization Expense
Fiscal Years
2005    $3.4
2006    3.2
2007    3.2
2008    3.2
2009    2.5

Investments in and advances to unconsolidated entities accounted 
for under the equity method were $2.8 million and $19.1 mil-
lion at January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004, respectively; while 
our equity in earnings were $0.5 million in 2003, $3.4 million in 
2003 and $3.1 million in 2002. The change in investments in, and 
advances to, unconsolidated entities from 2003 to 2004 and the 
change in equity in earnings from 2002 and 2003 to 2004 is the 
result of the consolidation of Frontier Yarns in 2004, which we 
accounted for under the equity method in 2003 and 2002.

NOTE 13: ACQUISITIONS 

On February 6, 2003, we acquired the majority of the assets 
of Bike Athletic Company for approximately $16 million. On 
May 16, 2003, we acquired the brands, inventory, contracts, 
and related assets of the sporting goods business of Spald-
ing Sports Worldwide, Inc. for approximately $65 million. The 
results of Bike’s and Spalding’s operations have been included 
in our consolidated financial statements since their respective 
acquisition dates. 

On June 15, 2004, we acquired the net assets of American 
Athletic, Inc. (“AAI”) for approximately $13 million. Founded 
in 1954, AAI manufactures a variety of products including 
basketball and volleyball equipment, athletic mats and gymnas-
tics apparatus under a variety of brands, including American 
Athletic and BPI. AAI markets these products to high schools, 
universities, professional teams, and athletic clubs globally. On 
July 19, 2004, we acquired the net assets of Huffy Sports Com-
pany (“Huffy Sports”), a division of Huffy Corporation, for 
approximately $30 million. Huffy Sports sells basketball equip-
ment, including backboards and inflatable balls under the Huffy 
Sports®, Sure Shot® and Hydra Rib® brands. Huffy Sports has held 
a license (which was assigned to us as part of the acquisition) 
with the National Basketball Association (“NBA”) for use of 
the NBA league and team logos for nearly a quarter century.  

Huffy Sports also licenses the NCAA® mark and has been the 
official supplier to the NCAA’s Final Four Championship for 
14 of the last 27 years. On December 30, 2004, we entered 
the athletic footwear business with the acquisition of Brooks 
Sports, Inc. (“Brooks”) for approximately $115 million. Brooks 
is a provider of performance athletic footwear, apparel and 
accessories to running enthusiasts worldwide. Brooks’ prod-
ucts are sold predominately through specialty running stores 
and other retail outlets specializing in high quality, performance 
running products. We acquired AAI, Huffy Sports and Brooks 
to enhance our position as a leading branded athletic and 
sporting goods company. The results of AAI’s, Huffy Sports’ and 
Brooks’ operations have been included in our consolidated 
financial statements, as part of the Domestic segment, since 
their respective acquisition dates.

We are in the process of finalizing the third-party valuation 
performed on Brooks’ intangible assets. Thus, the allocation of 
the purchase price is preliminary and subject to change.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. 

(În thousands)  2004 2003

Tangible assets  $  70,564     $23,501
Intangible assets not subject to amortization –  
 registered trademarks  51,326 36,783
Intangible assets subject to amortization  
 (weighted-average useful life:  
 2004 – 11.5 years; 2003 – 9.4 years)
  Customer relationships (weighted-average  
    useful life: 2004 – 13.0 years)  17,003 –
  Patents and technology (weighted-average 
    useful life: 2004 – 7.1 years;  
    2003 – 9.0 years)  5,135 3,080
  License agreements (weighted-average  
   useful life: 2004 – 10.0  years;  
   2003 – 12.0 years)  1,755 2,068
  Other (weighted-average useful life:  
     2004 – 2.4 years)  – 559

      23,893 5,707
Goodwill  59,546 21,943

      205,329 87,934
Liabilities assumed  (48,928) (1,243)

Net assets acquired  $156,401     $86,691

Approximately $46.0 million of the goodwill added in 2004 is 
expected to be non-deductible for income tax purposes.
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NOTE 14: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

With the consolidation of Frontier Yarns on April 3, 2004, 
we have deemed our joint venture partner Frontier Spin-
ning Mills, Inc. (“Frontier Spinning”) to be a related party. We 
obtain the majority of our yarn needs from Frontier Yarns 
and Frontier Spinning. In 2004, we purchased approximately 
$41.8 million of yarn from Frontier Spinning. At January 1, 
2005, we had an outstanding payable to them of approxi-
mately $15.3 million. In addition to providing yarn, Frontier 
Spinning provides certain management and accounting ser-
vices to Frontier Yarns pursuant to the joint venture oper-
ating agreement. In 2004, we paid $1.5 million to Frontier 
Spinning for such services. 

In 2003 (prior to consolidation), Frontier Yarns was treated 
as a related party and Frontier Spinning was not. As part 
of the formation of Frontier Yarns, we agreed to sell or 
lease to Frontier Yarns, most of our remaining yarn spin-
ning assets, including facilities in Lafayette and Wetumpka, 
Alabama. We also contributed approximately $4.5 million 
in cash and loaned Frontier Yarns $5.0 million, which was 
outstanding at January 3, 2004. This $5.0 million note was 
paid in full in 2004.

We purchase yarn from Frontier Yarns pursuant to a supply 
agreement that was executed simultaneously with the forma-
tion of the joint venture. The supply agreement provides for 
pricing to be calculated on a conversion cost basis plus actual 
cost of raw materials. Total purchases from Frontier Yarns 
were $125.6 million in 2003. We had a net outstanding pay-
able of $5.9 million due to Frontier Yarns at January 3, 2004.

In 1999, City View Associates, LLC was formed as a 50%/50% 
joint venture between us and an unrelated party for the pur-
pose of constructing, operating and leasing the office known 
as City View in Atlanta, Georgia. We leased office space in 
City View and paid rent to the joint venture of approximately 
$2.5 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002.

NOTE 15:  CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING  
FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

The following tables present condensed consolidating finan-
cial information for (a) Russell Corporation (the “Parent”) on 
a stand-alone basis; (b) on a combined basis, the guarantors 
of the Senior Notes (“Subsidiary Guarantors”), which include 
Jerzees Apparel, LLC; Mossy Oak Apparel Company; Cross 
Creek Apparel, LLC; Cross Creek Holdings, Inc.; DeSoto Mills, 
LLC; Russell Financial Services, Inc.; Russell Asset Manage-
ment, Inc.; Russell Apparel, LLC; RINTEL Properties, Inc.; Rus-
sell Yarn, LLC; Russell Co-Op, LLC; and Brooks Sports, Inc. (all 
of which are wholly owned) and (c) on a combined basis, the 
non-guarantor subsidiaries, which include Alexander City Fly-
ing Service, Inc.; Russell Corporation – Delaware; Russell Ser-
vicing Co., Inc.; Russell Europe Limited; Russell Mexico, S.A. de 
C.V.; Jerzees Campeche, S.A. de C.V.; Jerzees Yucatan, S.A. de 
C.V.; Athletic de Camargo, S.A. de C.V.; Jerzees de Jimenez, S.A. 
de C.V.; Cross Creek de Honduras, S.A. de C.V.; Russell Corp. 
Australia Pty Ltd.; Russell do Brasil, Ltda.; Russell Corp. Far 
East, Limited; Russell Japan KK; Spalding Canada Corp.; Jerzees 
de Honduras, S.A. do C.V.; Jerzees Buena Vista, S.A.; Jerzees 
Choloma, S.A.; Russell del Caribe, Inc.; Russell France SARL; 
Russell CZ s.r.o.; Russell Germany GmbH; Russell Spain, S.L.; 
Russell Italy S.r.l.; Servicios Russell, S.A. de C.V.; Russell Foreign 
Sales Ltd.; Russell Corp. Bangladesh Limited; Russell Hold-
ings Europe B.V.; Ruservicios, S.A.; Eagle R Holdings Limited; 
Citygate Textiles Limited; Russell Colombia Ltda.; Merendon 
Textiles, S. de R.L.; Russell Athletic Holdings (Ireland) Limited; 
SGG Lisco LLC; SGG Patents LLC; RLA Manufacturing; and 
Frontier Yarns, LLC (our 45.3% owned yarn joint venture). 
Separate financial statements of the Subsidiary Guarantors 
are not presented because the guarantee by each 100% 
owned Subsidiary Guarantor is full and unconditional, joint 
and several, and we believe separate financial statements and 
other disclosures regarding the Subsidiary Guarantors are 
not material to investors. Furthermore, there are no signifi-
cant legal restrictions on the Parent’s ability to obtain funds 
from its subsidiaries by dividend or loan. 

The parent is comprised of Alabama manufacturing operations 
and certain corporate management, information services and 
finance functions.
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Russell Corporation
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
For the year ended January 4, 2003

     Subsidiary Non-Guarantor
(In thousands)  Parent Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidated

Net sales $ 823,122 $ 254,114 $134,967 $(47,875) $1,164,328
Cost of goods sold 565,732 195,901 111,116 (46,986) 825,763

 Gross profit 257,390 58,213 23,851 (889) 338,565
Selling, general and administrative expenses 154,637 60,952 20,221 – 235,810
Other–net 117,472 (118,883) 84 (889) (2,216)

 Operating income (14,719) 116,144 3,546 – 104,971
Interest expense (income) – net 66,941 (36,697) 2 – 30,246
Debt retirement charge 20,097 – – – 20,097

Income (loss) before income taxes and  
 equity in earnings of consolidated subsidiaries (101,757) 152,841 3,544 – 54,628
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (38,400) 57,954 768 – 20,322
Equity in earnings of consolidated subsidiaries,  
 net of income taxes 97,663 – – (97,663) –

Net income (loss) $   34,306 $   94,887 $    2,776 $(97,663) $     34,306

Russell Corporation 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended January 4, 2003

     Subsidiary Non-Guarantor
(In thousands)  Parent Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidated

Operating Activities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 273,106 $18,340 $(88,055) $  – $ 203,391

Investing Activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (24,545) (2,679) (1,119) – (28,343)
Investment in and advances to subsidiaries (87,802) (7,891) 95,693 – –
Cash paid for acquisitions, joint ventures and other (4,670) – – – (4,670)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 7,513 1,915 22 – 9,450
Other   750 – – – 750

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (108,754) (8,655) 94,596 – (22,813)

Financing Activities
Payments on credit facility – net (74,800) – – – (74,800)
Borrowings on short-term debt – – 458 – 458
Payments on notes payable, including prepayments (270,371) – – – (270,371)
Proceeds from issuance of Senior Notes 250,000 – – – 250,000
Debt issuance and amendment costs paid (18,910) – – – (18,910)
Dividends on common stock (5,137) – – – (5,137)
Treasury stock re-issued 2,574 – – – 2,574
Cost of common stock for treasury (30) – – – (30)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (116,674) – 458 – (116,216)
Effect of exchange rate changes – – (1,625) – (1,625)

Net increase in cash 47,678 9,685 5,374 – 62,737
Cash balance at beginning of year 3,277 (1,583) 4,188 – 5,882

Cash balance at end of year $   50,955 $  8,102 $   9,562 $  – $   68,619
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Russell Corporation
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
January 3, 2004

     Subsidiary Non-Guarantor
(In thousands)  Parent Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidated

ASSETS
Current assets:
 Cash  $       414 $  15,840 $   3,862 $           – $     20,116
 Trade accounts receivables, net 78 154,833 20,603 – 175,514
 Inventories 278,796 32,691 35,459 – 346,946
 Prepaid expenses and other current assets 27,289 1,414 1,820 – 30,523

Total current assets 306,577 204,778 61,744 – 573,099
Property, plant, and equipment, net 229,736 43,151 30,347 – 303,234
Investment in subsidiaries 903,718 195 – (903,913) –
Intercompany balances (601,161) 621,492 (20,331) – –
Other assets 118,423 25,879 475 – 144,777

    $ 957,293 $895,495 $ 72,235 $(903,913) $1,021,110

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 115,247 $  28,861 $ 16,418 $           – $   160,526
 Short-term debt – – 4,088 – 4,088
 Current maturities of long-term debt 5,000 – – – 5,000

Total current liabilities 120,247 28,861 20,506 – 169,614
Long-term debt, less current maturities 272,355 – – – 272,355
Deferred liabilities 49,827 9,339 5,111 – 64,277
Stockholders’ equity 514,864 857,295 46,618 (903,913) 514,864

    $ 957,293 $895,495 $ 72,235 $(903,913) $1,021,110

Russell Corporation
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
For the year ended January 3, 2004

     Subsidiary Non-Guarantor
(In thousands)  Parent Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidated

Net sales $935,225 $155,006 $149,984 $(53,952) $1,186,263
Cost of goods sold 658,107 116,273 120,511 (52,764) 842,127

 Gross profit 277,118 38,733 29,473 (1,188) 344,136
Selling, general and administrative expenses 163,099 58,884 24,494 – 246,477
Other – net 102,868 (100,058) 2,396 (1,188) 4,018

 Operating income 11,151 79,907 2,583 – 93,641
Interest expense (income) – net 57,776 (28,244) 131 – 29,663

Income (loss) before income taxes and equity  
 in earnings of consolidated subsidiaries (46,625) 108,151 2,452 – 63,978
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (30,622) 49,434 2,127 – 20,939
Equity in earnings of consolidated subsidiaries,  
 net of income taxes 59,042 – – (59,042) –

Net income (loss) $  43,039 $ 58,717 $       325 $ (59,042) $    43,039
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Russell Corporation
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended January 3, 2004

     Subsidiary Non-Guarantor
(In thousands)  Parent Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidated

Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities $   45,055 $11,883 $ 1,018 $  – $  57,956

Investing Activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (24,385) (8,623) (5,633) – (38,641)
Investment in and advances to subsidiaries 702 (1,987) 1,285 – –
Cash paid for acquisitions, joint ventures and other (86,691) – – – (86,691)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 8,203 6,465 97 – 14,765
Other   678 – – – 678

Net cash used in investing activities (101,493) (4,145) (4,251) – (109,889)

Financing Activities
Borrowings on credit facility – net 7,355 – – – 7,355
Payments on short-term debt – – (3,582) – (3,582)
Debt issuance and amendment costs paid (468) – – – (468)
Dividends on common stock (5,177) – – – (5,177)
Treasury stock re-issued 5,644 – – – 5,644
Cost of common stock for treasury (1,457) – – – (1,457)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 5,897 – (3,582) – 2,315
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash – – 1,115 – 1,115

Net (decrease) increase in cash (50,541) 7,738 (5,700) – (48,503)
Cash balance at beginning of year 50,955 8,102 9,562 – 68,619

Cash balance at end of year $       414 $15,840 $ 3,862 $  – $  20,116
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Russell Corporation
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
January 1, 2005

     Subsidiary Non-Guarantor
(In thousands)  Parent Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidated

ASSETS
Current assets:
 Cash  $      2,554 $      5,594 $  21,668 $             – $     29,816
 Trade accounts receivables, net (2,177) 186,294 59,629      (31,683) 212,063
 Inventories 272,396 59,678 79,627 – 411,701
 Prepaid expenses and other current assets 32,796 7,334 578      (16,870) 23,838

Total current assets 305,569 258,900 161,502      (48,553) 677,418
Property, plant, and equipment, net 209,928 36,372 76,590 – 322,890
Investment in subsidiaries 1,243,104 195 – (1,243,299) –
Intercompany balances (679,171) 701,970 (22,799) – –
Other assets 70,602 171,476 11,723 – 253,801

    $1,150,032 $1,168,913 $227,016 $(1,291,852) $1,254,109

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses $  153,446 $    40,405 $  49,178 $    (48,553) $   194,476
 Short-term debt – – 18,190 – 18,190
 Current maturities of long-term debt 5,016 – 1,922 – 6,938

Total current liabilities 158,462 40,405 69,290      (48,553) 219,604
Long-term debt, less current maturities 365,083 – 7,838 – 372,921
Deferred liabilities 49,540 30,002 5,095 – 84,637
Non-controlling interests 14,096  – – – 14,096    
Stockholders’ equity 562,851 1,098,506 144,793 (1,243,299) 562,851

    $1,150,032 $1,168,913 $227,016 $(1,291,852) $1,254,109

Russell Corporation
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
For the year ended January 1, 2005

     Subsidiary Non-Guarantor
(In thousands)  Parent Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidated

Net sales $1,073,513 $ 174,552 $387,951 $(337,764) $1,298,252
Cost of goods sold 801,524 132,993 333,924 (334,069) 934,372

 Gross profit 271,989 41,559 54,027 (3,695) 363,880
Selling, general and administrative expenses 175,311 61,536 32,711 – 269,558
Other – net 128,888 (133,078) (2,279) – (6,469)

 Operating income (32,210) 113,101 23,595 (3,695) 100,791
Interest expense (income) – net 28,361 1,364 1,118 – 30,843
Non-controlling interests      2,021         –            –          –       2,021

Income (loss) before income taxes and equity  
 in earnings of consolidated subsidiaries (62,592) 111,737 22,477 (3,695) 67,927
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (24,914) 42,076 2,829 – 19,991
Equity in earnings of consolidated subsidiaries,  
 net of income taxes 85,614 – – (85,614) –

Net income (loss) $    47,936 $     69,661 $    19,648 $    (89,309) $         47,936
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Russell Corporation
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended January 1, 2005

     Subsidiary Non-Guarantor
(In thousands)  Parent Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidated

Operating Activities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 259,243 $(101,773) $(76,181) $  – $   81,289

Investing Activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (12,277) (1,898) (21,319) – (35,494)
Investment in and advances to subsidiaries (190,580) 91,071 99,509 – –
Cash paid for acquisitions, joint ventures and other (158,370) – – – (158,370)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 11,115 2,354 228 – 13,697
Other   1,769 – – – 1,769

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (348,343) 91,527 78,418 – (178,398)

Financing Activities
Borrowings (payments) on credit facility – net 92,697 – (1,390) – 91,307
Borrowings on short-term debt – – 9,692 – 9,692
Debt issuance and amendment costs paid – – – – –
Dividends on common stock (5,216) – – – (5,216)
Treasury stock re-issued 3,839 – – – 3,839
Cost of common stock for treasury (80) – – – (80)

Net cash provided by financing activities 91,240 – 8,302 – 99,542
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash – – (592) – (592)

Net increase (decrease) in cash 2,140 (10,246) 9,947 – 1,841
Increase in cash from consolidating Frontier Yarns – – 7,859 – 7,859

Cash balance at beginning of year 414 15,840 3,862 – 20,116

Cash balance at end of year $    2,554 $     5,594 $ 21,668 $  – $   29,816
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED  
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Russell Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets 
of Russell Corporation as of January 1, 2005 and January 3, 
2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, 
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three fiscal 
years in the period ended January 1, 2005. Our audits also 
included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index 
at Item 15(a). These financial statements and schedule are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsi-
bility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 
and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and sig-
nificant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that 
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above 
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated finan-
cial position of Russell Corporation at January 1, 2005 and 
January 3, 2004, and the consolidated results of its operations 
and its cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the 
period ended January 1, 2005, in conformity with U.S. gener-
ally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the 
related financial statement schedule, when considered in 
relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, 
presents fairly in all material respects the information set 
forth therein.

As described in Note 1, effective April 4, 2004 the Company 
began consolidating Frontier Yarns LLC in accordance with 
the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of  
Variable Interest Entities.  

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP 

March 16, 2005
Atlanta, Georgia
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ITEM 9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS 
WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING 
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None. 

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. We 
maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed 
to ensure that information we are required to disclose in the 
reports we file under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended (“Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, sum-
marized and reported within the time periods specified in 
the SEC’s rules and forms, and to ensure that such informa-
tion is accumulated and communicated to our management, 
including our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and 
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer as appropriate, 
to allow timely decisions regarding disclosure. As of the end of 
the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we 
evaluated, under the supervision and with the participation of 
our management, including our Chairman and Chief Execu-
tive Officer and Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, 
the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures. 
Based on that evaluation, our Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer and Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, con-
cluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, our disclosure controls and procedures 
are effective.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial 
Reporting and Report of Independent Registered Public 
Accounting Firm. Our management is responsible for estab-
lishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting, as that term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-
15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our 
management, including our Chairman and Chief Executive Offi-
cer and Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, we are in 
the process of conducting an evaluation of our internal control 
over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal 
Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Under SEC rules, our management is required to report 
on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial 
reporting and our independent registered public accounting 
firm will attest to management’s report. On November 30, 
2004, the SEC issued an exemptive order providing compa-
nies of a certain size with a 45 day extension for the filing of 
management’s report and the attestation of our indepen-
dent auditor. We are eligible for and have elected to utilize 
this 45 day extension, and therefore, this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K does not include these reports. These reports 
will be included in an amended Form 10-K that we expect 
to file in April 2005. We intend to exclude from our assess-
ment the internal control over financial reporting at Brooks 
Sports, Inc., which we acquired on December 30, 2004, and 
whose financial statements reflect total assets that constitute  
approximately 12 percent of the consolidated total assets for 
the Company as of January 1, 2005. 

Currently, we are not aware of any material weaknesses in 
our internal control over financial reporting.

Changes in Internal Control. During the most recent fiscal 
quarter, there have been no changes in our internal control 
over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are 
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over 
financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.

2004 Form 10-K Annual Report
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PART III

ITEM 10.  DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
OF THE REGISTRANT

Identification of Directors and  
Executive Officers

(a)  “Election of Directors” from the Proxy Statement is incor-
porated herein by reference.

Additional executive officers who are not directors are as 
follows: 

     Officer 
Name  Age Since Position

Jonathan R. Letzler 48 1998 President and Chief Operating Officer 

Julio A. Barea 57 2003 Senior Vice President/ President and  
      Chief Executive Officer, Activewear 

Edsel W. Flowers 49 2003 Senior Vice President,  
      Human Resources 

Floyd G. Hoffman 62 1999 Senior Vice President,  
      Corporate Development, 
      General Counsel and Secretary 

Robert D. Koney, Jr. 48 2004 Senior Vice President,  
      Chief Financial Officer

Larry E. Workman 61 1987 Corporate Controller

Mr. Letzler was employed by Russell in 1998 as Senior Vice 
President and Chief Executive Officer of the Jerzees Division. 
He was named President and Chief Operating Officer in 2001. 
Prior to joining Russell, he was with Sara Lee Corporation from 
1980 to 1998, most recently as President of Hanes Hosiery and 
prior to that he was President of the Hanes Printables Division.

Mr. Barea was employed by Russell in 2003 as Senior Vice 
President/President and Chief Executive Officer, Activewear. 
Prior to joining Russell, Mr. Barea was a consultant to Sara Lee 
Corporation from 2001 through 2003. Prior to that, he had 
been with Sara Lee Corporation’s knit products division for 
approximately 20 years in various positions, most recently as 
Vice President of Sara Lee Corporation and Chief Executive 
Officer of their Latin American Branded Apparel Unit.

Mr. Flowers was employed by Russell in 2003, as Senior Vice 
President, Human Resources. Prior to joining Russell, he was 
a Global Vice President of Merisant Corporation for 3 years 
and spent 8 years in various senior level human resources 
positions at Monsanto Company, most recently as Vice Presi-
dent, Strategic Staffing and Vice President Human Resources 
for the Agricultural Sector.

Mr. Hoffman was employed by Russell as Senior Vice President, 
General Counsel and Secretary in 1999 and assumed additional 
responsibility as Senior Vice President, Corporate Development 
in 2000. Prior to joining Russell, he was Vice President-General 
Counsel and Secretary for OSI Industries, Inc., from 1996 to 
1999. Prior to that, he was Vice President-Deputy General 
Counsel and Assistant Secretary for Sara Lee Corporation.

Mr. Koney was employed by Russell as Senior Vice President, 
Chief Financial Officer in 2004. Prior to joining Russell, he was 
with Goodrich Corporation for 18 years, most recently as 
Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer since 
1998. Prior to Goodrich, he had been manager of federal 
taxation with Picker International for 4 years and a senior tax 
accountant.  Mr. Koney began his career as a staff auditor with 
Arthur Andersen & Company in 1978.

Mr. Workman was named Corporate Controller in 1987. He 
has been employed by Russell since 1969 as an accountant 
and served as Manager, Cost Accounting, from 1970 to 1987.

All executive officers and all other officers of the Company 
were elected or re-elected to their positions at the Board of 
Directors meeting on February 9, 2005.

(b)  “Committees of the Board of Directors; Meetings” from 
the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

(c)  “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compli-
ance” from the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein 
by reference.

(d)  “Conduct Guidelines and Code of Conduct” from the 
Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

(e)  There have been no material changes to the procedures by 
which security holders may recommend nominees to the 
Company’s Board of Directors.



2004 Form 10-K Annual Report
Russell Corporation and Subsidiaries

68
p.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

“Executive Compensation” from the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference. “Management Development and 
Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation” and “Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return” from 
the Proxy Statement are incorporated herein by reference, but pursuant to Instruction (9) to Item 402(a)(3) of Regulation S-K 
shall not be deemed to be filed with the SEC or subject to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

ITEM 12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND 
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

(a) “Principal Shareholders” from the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

(b)  Information concerning security ownership of management from the Proxy Statement under the caption “Security Ownership 
of Executive Officers and Directors” is incorporated herein by reference.

(c)  There are no arrangements known to the registrant the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in a change in 
control of the registrant.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

      NUMBER OF SECURITIES 
    NUMBER OF SECURITIES  REMAINING AVAILABLE FOR 
    TO BE ISSUED UPON WEIGHTED-AVERAGE FUTURE ISSUANCE UNDER 
    EXERCISE OF EXERCISE PRICE OF EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS 
    OUTSTANDING OPTIONS, OUTSTANDING OPTIONS, (EXCLUDING SECURITIES 
    WARRANTS AND RIGHTS WARRANTS AND RIGHTS REFLECTED IN COLUMN (a)) 
PLAN CATEGORY (a) (b) (c)

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS  
 APPROVED BY SECURITY HOLDERS 2,618,170 $21.09 3,151,472 (1)

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS  
 NOT APPROVED BY SECURITY HOLDERS 831,777 $15.91 148,198  (2)

TOTAL 3,449,947 $19.84 3,299,670

(1)  Of this number of shares, 504,104, 2,345,238 and 302,130 are reserved for issuance under the 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, Executive Incentive Plan and the 2000 Non-Employee 
Directors’ Compensation Plan, respectively. Both the Executive Incentive Plan and the 2000 Non-Employee Directors’ Compensation Plan permit grants of several forms of equity securities in 
addition to options, warrants or rights. See Note 7 of “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” in Part II, Item 8 of this Report on Form 10-K.

(2)  These shares are reserved for issuance under the Russell Corporation 2000 Stock Option Plan (the “2000 Option Plan”). The 2000 Option Plan was adopted by the Board of Directors as 
an incentive compensation plan that gives us broad discretion to grant awards, and develop the terms of such awards, to any employee or consultant of the Company. Approval of the 
2000 Option Plan by security holders was not required under applicable regulations. The 2000 Option Plan permits the issuance of awards in a variety of forms, including: (a) incentive 
stock options; (b) non-qualified stock options; (c) reload stock options; (d) restricted shares; (e) bonus shares; (f) deferred shares; (g) freestanding stock appreciation rights; (h) tandem stock 
appreciation rights; (i) performance units; and (j) performance shares.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

“Transactions with Management and Others and Certain Business Relationships” from the Proxy Statement is incorporated 
herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information under the heading “Audit Fees and All Other Fees” from the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) List of Documents filed as part of this Report: 

(1) Financial Statements 

All financial statements of the registrant as set forth under Item 8 of this Report on Form 10-K 

(2) Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule
Number Description Page Number

II    Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 73

All other financial statements and schedules not listed have been omitted since the required information is included in the 
consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto, or is not applicable or required. 

(3) Exhibits (numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K)

    Incorporation by Reference
Exhibit Numbers Description or Filed Herewith

(2a) Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of January 30, 2004 by 
and between Russell Corporation, an Alabama corporation, and 
Russell Corporation, a Delaware corporation

Exhibit (2) to Annual Report on Form 
10-K for year ended January 3, 2004

(2b) Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated as of December 14, 
2004, by and among Brooks Sports, Inc., the Principal Sharehold-
ers named therein, Russell Corporation and ADR Acquisition 
Corporation, along with Amendment Nos. 1 and 2 thereto, dated 
as of December 16 and December 23, 2004, respectively.  Filed 
without exhibits and schedules.  Russell agrees to furnish a copy 
of any such exhibit or schedule to the Securities and Exchange 
Commission upon request.

Exhibit 2.1 to Current Report on Form 
8-K filed January 5, 2005

(3a) Restated Articles of Incorporation Exhibit (3a) to Annual Report on Form 
10-K for year ended January 4, 2003

(3b) Form of Resolution Establishing and Designating Series A Junior 
Participating Preferred Stock as Adopted on October 25, 1989

Exhibit 4.2 to Current Report on Form 
8-K filed September 17, 1999

(3c) Bylaws Exhibit (3c) to Annual Report on Form 
10-K for year ended January 4, 2003

(4a) Rights Agreement dated as of September 15, 1999 between the 
Company and SunTrust Bank, Atlanta, Georgia

Exhibit 4.1 to Current Report on Form 
8-K filed on September 17, 1999

(4b) Loan and Security Agreement dated as of April 18, 2002 relating 
to the Company’s $300,000,000 Revolving Credit Facility and 
$25,000,000 Term Loan Facility. (1)

Exhibit 4.1 to Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q filed on May 15, 2002

(4c) Amendment No. 1 to Loan and Security Agreement dated as  
of March 11, 2003 relating to the Company’s $300,000,000 
Revolving Credit Facility and $25,000,000 Term Loan Facility

Exhibit (4c) to Annual Report on Form 
10-K for year ended January 4, 2003
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(4d) Indenture dated as of April 18, 2002 relating to the Company’s 
9.25% Senior Notes due 2010

Exhibit 4.2 to Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q filed May 15, 2002

(4e) Registration Rights Agreement effective as of January 31, 2005 Filed Herewith

(10a) Russell Corporation 1997 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Grant, 
Stock Option and Deferred Compensation Plan

Exhibit (10f) to Annual Report on Form 
10-K for year ended January 2, 1999

(10b) Executive Incentive Plan Appendix B to Proxy Statement dated 
March 16, 2000

(10c) Russell Corporation Amended and Restated Flexible Deferral 
Plan

Exhibit (10d) to Annual Report on Form 
10-K for year ended January 4, 2003

(10d) First Amendment to the Russell Corporation Flexible Deferral Plan Filed Herewith

(10e) Second Amendment to the Russell Corporation Flexible  
Deferral Plan 

Filed Herewith

(10f) Russell Corporation 2000 Stock Option Plan Exhibit 4(k) to Registration Statement 
No. 333-30238

(10g) Russell Corporation Employee Stock Purchase Plan Exhibit 4(k) to Registration Statement 
No. 333-30236

(10h) Amendment No. 1 to the Russell Corporation Employee Stock 
Purchase Plan

Exhibit (10i) to Annual Report on Form 
10-K for year ended December 29, 2001

(10i) Russell Corporation 2000 Non-Employee Directors’  
Compensation Plan

Exhibit 4(m) to Registration Statement 
No. 333-55340

(10j) First Amendment to the Russell Corporation 2000 Non-Employee 
Directors’ Compensation Plan dated December 11, 2002

Exhibit (10i) to Annual Report on Form 
10-K for year ended January 4, 2003

(10k) Second Amendment to the Russell Corporation 2000 Non-
Employee Directors’ Compensation Plan dated February 10, 2004

Exhibit (10j) to Annual Report on Form 
10-K for year ended January 3, 2004

(10l) Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated April 1, 
2001, by and between the Company and John F. Ward

Exhibit (10m) to Annual Report on Form 
10-K for year ended December 30, 2000

(10m) Amended and Restated Executive Deferred Compensation and 
Buyout Plan dated April 1, 2001, by and between the Company 
and John F. Ward

Exhibit (10n) to Annual Report on Form 
10-K for year ended December 30, 2000

(10n) Amendment, dated as of May 21, 2003, to the Amended and 
Restated Employment Agreement dated April 1, 2001, by and 
between the Company and John F. Ward

Exhibit 10.1 to Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q filed August 19, 2003

(10o) Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of Novem-
ber 20, 2002 by and between the Company and Jonathan R. Letzler

Exhibit (10l) to Annual Report on Form 
10-K for year ended January 4, 2003

(10p) Russell Corporation Amended and Restated Supplemental  
Executive Retirement Plan dated January 1, 2002

Exhibit (10m) to Annual Report on Form 
10-K for year ended January 4, 2003
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(10q) First Amendment to the Russell Corporation Supplemental 
Executive Retirement Plan

Exhibit (10a) to Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q filed August 12, 2004

(10r) Second Amendment to the Russell Corporation Supplemental 
Executive Retirement Plan

Filed Herewith

(10s) Supply Agreement dated as of December 28, 2001 by and 
between the Company and Frontier Yarns, LLC and Frontier  
Spinning Mills, Inc.(2)

Exhibit (10p) to Annual Report on Form 
10-K for year ended December 29, 2001

(10t) Russell Corporation Amended and Restated Supplemental 
Retirement Benefit Plan dated January 1, 2002

Exhibit (10o) to Annual Report on Form 
10-K for year ended January 4, 2003

(10u) Employment Agreement dated as of January 17, 1999 by and 
between the Company and Floyd G. Hoffman

Exhibit (10q) to Annual Report on Form 
10-K for year ended January 4, 2003

(10v) Employment Agreement dated as of June 16, 2003 by and 
between the Company and Edsel W. Flowers

Filed Herewith

(10w) Employment Agreement dated as of October 24, 2003 by and 
between the Company and Julio A. Barea

Filed Herewith

(10x) Employment Agreement dated as of August 25, 2004, between 
the Company and Robert D. Koney, Jr.

Exhibit (10b) to Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q filed November 12, 2004

(10y) Retirement Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2004, between  
Russell Corporation and JT Taunton, Jr.(3)

Exhibit (10a) to Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q filed November 12, 2004

(10z) Form of Change of Control Agreement with Julio A. Barea,  
Floyd G. Hoffman and Edsel W. Flowers

Exhibit (10r) to Annual Report on Form 
10-K for year ended January 4, 2003

(14) Code of Ethics Exhibit (14) to Annual Report on Form 
10-K for year ended January 3, 2004

(21) List of Subsidiaries Filed Herewith

(23) Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors Filed Herewith

(24) Powers of Attorney Filed Herewith

(31a) Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) CEO  Certification Filed Herewith

(31b) Rule 13-a-14(a)/15d-14(a) CFO Certification Filed Herewith

(32) Section 1350 Certifications Filed Herewith

(1)  Portions of the Loan and Security Agreement have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission  
(“SEC”). The omitted material has been filed separately with the SEC.

(2)  Portions of the Supply Agreement have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment approved by the SEC. The omitted material has been filed separately  
with the SEC.

(3)  Portions of the Retirement Agreement have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment filed with the SEC. The omitted material has been filed separately  
with the SEC.



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this 
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunder duly authorized.

 RUSSELL CORPORATION
  (Registrant)

Date: March 17, 2005 /s/ John F. Ward
 John F. Ward
 Chairman and CEO

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report is signed below by the following persons on 
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ John F. Ward Chairman and CEO March 17,2005
John F. Ward 

/s/ Robert D. Koney, Jr. Senior Vice President, March 17,2005
Robert D. Koney, Jr. Chief Financial Officer

/s/ Herschel M. Bloom Director March 17,2005
Herschel M. Bloom* 

/s/ Ronald G. Bruno Director March 17,2005
Ronald G. Bruno* 

/s/ Arnold W. Donald Director March 17,2005
Arnold W. Donald* 

/s/ Rebecca C. Matthias Director March 17,2005
Rebecca C. Matthias* 

/s/ C.V. Nalley III Director March 17,2005
C.V. Nalley III* 

/s/ Margaret M. Porter Director March 17,2005
Margaret M. Porter* 

/s/ Mary Jane Robertson Director March 17,2005
Mary Jane Robertson* 

/s/ John R. Thomas Director March 17,2005
John R. Thomas* 

/s/ John A. White Director March 17,2005
John A. White* 

/s/ Larry E. Workman Controller March 17,2005
Larry E. Workman (Principal Accounting Officer)

*  By Christopher M. Champion as Attorney-in-Fact pursuant to Powers of Attorney executed by the directors listed above,  
which Powers of Attorney have been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

 By: /s/ Christopher M. Champion
  Christopher M. Champion 
  As Attorney-in-Fact
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SCHEDULE II – VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
RUSSELL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

    Balance at Additions   Balance
    Beginning Charged to Costs   at End
Description of Period and Expenses Acquisitions Deductions of Period

YEAR ENDED JANUARY 01, 2005
 Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 5,768,678 $ 1,680,395 $          –      $   860,363 (1) $ 6,588,712
 Reserve for discounts and returns 4,515,788 19,539,195  – 12,660,042 (2) 11,394,941

  TOTALS $10,284,466 $21,219,590 $          –      $13,520,403  $17,983,653

YEAR ENDED JANUARY 3, 2004
 Allowance for doubtful accounts $18,050,384 $ 1,160,460 $438,658 $13,880,824 (1) $ 5,768,678
 Reserve for discounts and returns 4,904,050 11,820,210 464,842 12,673,314 (2) 4,515,788

  TOTALS $22,954,434 $12,980,670 $903,500 $26,554,138  $10,284,466

YEAR ENDED JANUARY 4, 2003
 Allowance for doubtful accounts $11,968,071 $ 7,486,500 $          – $ 1,404,187 (1) $18,050,384
 Reserve for discounts and returns 3,815,761 12,985,537  – 11,897,248 (2) 4,904,050

  TOTALS $15,783,832 $20,472,037 $          – $13,301,435  $22,954,434

(1) Uncollectible accounts written off, net of recoveries.
(2) Discounts and returns allowed customers during the year.



SCHEDULE II – VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
RUSSELL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

    Reserve at Additions   Balance
    Beginning Charged to Costs   at End
Description of Period and Expenses Acquisitions Deductions of Period

YEAR ENDED JANUARY 01, 2005
 Asset impairment $20,249,000 $         – $          – $10,346,000 (9) $   9,903,000
 Employee terminations 2,793,000 –  – 2,763,000 (3) 30,000
 Inventory losses including shipping and  
  warehouse cost 25,000 –  – 25,000 (5)  –
 Termination of certain licenses and contracts 245,000 –  – 93,000 (3) 152,000
 Exit cost related to facilities  – 542,000 – 542,000 (3) –
 Other  556,000 –  – 556,000 (3)   –

  TOTALS $23,868,000 $   542,000 $          – $14,325,000 $10,085,000

YEAR ENDED JANUARY 3, 2004
 Asset impairment $41,559,000 $3,090,000 $          – $24,400,000 (7) $20,249,000
 Employee terminations 640,000 4,482,000  – 2,329,000 (3) 2,793,000
 Inventory losses including shipping and  
  warehouse cost 37,000  –  – 12,000 (5) 25,000
 Termination of certain licenses and contracts 395,000 528,000  – 678,000 (3) 245,000
 Exit cost related to facilities 1,298,000 230,000  – 1,528,000 (6) –
 Other   – 573,000  – 17,000 (3) 556,000

  TOTALS $43,929,000 $8,903,000 (8) $          – $28,964,000 $23,868,000

YEAR ENDED JANUARY 4, 2003
 Asset impairment $43,547,000 $5,288,000 $          – $  7,276,000 (12) $41,559,000
 Employee terminations 11,673,000  –  – 11,033,000 (11) 640,000
 Inventory losses including shipping and  
  warehousing cost 9,175,000 403,000  – 9,541,000 (5) 37,000
 Termination of certain licenses and contracts 1,147,000 – – 1,022,000 (10) 395,000
 Exit cost related to facilities 3,049,000 834,000  – 2,585,000 (3) 1,298,000
 Other  725,000 – – 725,000 (4)   –

  TOTALS $69,586,000 $6,525,000 $          – $32,182,000 $43,929,000

(3) Represents cash paid.

(4) Represents asset write-offs.

(5) Represents assets sold after write-downs.

(6) Represents cash paid of $1,000,000 and an adjustment of $528,000 to reflect our best estimate of the ultimate settlement of this liability.

(7) Represents asset sold after write-downs and includes $1,072,000 of gains realized on the sale of assets held for sale at the beginning of 2003.

(8) This additional expense was partially offset by the adjustment noted at (6) along with the realized gains on asset sales discussed in (7).

(9) Represents assets sold after writedowns resulting in a net gain of $431,000.

(10) Represents cash paid of $619,000 and an adjustment of $403,000 to reflect our best estimate of the ultimate settlement of this liability.

(11) Represents cash paid of $10,662,000 and an adjustment of $371,000 to reflect our best estimated of the ultimate settlement of this liability.

(12) Represents asset sold after write-downs and includes $5,751,000 of gains realized on the sale of assets held for sale at the beginning of 2002.

(13) This additional expense was completely offset by the adjustments noted at (10) and (11) along with the realized gains on assets sales discussed in (12).
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Russell Corporation is a leading athletic and sporting goods company with over a century of success. Building on its heritage as an authentic athletic company, Russell Corporation has 

become a global leader in the sporting goods industry with apparel and equipment for all levels of activity – from the courts of the National Basketball Association to the playing fields of 

major colleges and backyards of homes everywhere. The Company is headquartered in Atlanta, Georgia, and its shares trade on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol RML.

Business Description

E Q U I P P E D  TO  W I N  E Q U I P P E D  TO  W I N  E Q U I P P E D  TO  W I N  E Q U I P P E D  TO  W I N  E Q U I P P E D  TO  W I N  E Q U I P P E D  TO  W I N  E Q U I P P E D  TO  W I N  E Q U I P P E D  TO  W I N  E Q U I P P E D  TO  W I N  E Q U I P P E D  TO  W I N  E Q U I P P E D  TO  W I N  E Q U I P P E D  TO  W I N  E Q U I P P E D  TO  W I N  E Q U I P P E D  TO  

Corporate Information

PRINCIPAL OFFICES
3330 Cumberland Blvd. 
Suite 800 
Atlanta, GA 30339 
(678) 742-8000

755 Lee Street 
P.O. Box 272 
Alexander City, AL 35011 
(256) 500-4000

OTHER INFORMATION
The Company’s press releases, annual report and  
other information can be accessed via the Internet at  
RussellCorp.com

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR
SunTrust Bank, Atlanta 
P.O. Box 4625 
Atlanta, GA 30302 
(800) 568-3476

DIVIDEND DISBURSING AGENT
SunTrust Bank, Atlanta 
P.O. Box 4625 
Atlanta, GA 30302 
(800) 568-3476

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young LLP 
600 Peachtree Street 
Atlanta, GA 30308

FORM 10-K
Copies of Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission are available without cost to shareholders of the 
Company by writing to:

Investor Relations 
Russell Corporation 
3330 Cumberland Blvd., Suite 800 
Atlanta, GA 30339 
(678) 742-8000

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN
For information about accounts or issuance of certificates, contact:

SunTrust Bank, Atlanta 
P.O. Box 4625 
Atlanta, GA 30302 
(800) 568-3476

DIVIDEND AND MARKET INFORMATION
Russell Corporation stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange 
and various other regional exchanges under the ticker symbol RML. 
The range of high and low prices of the Common Stock and the 
dividends per share paid during each calendar quarter of the last 
two years are presented below:

2004 Dividend High Low Close

First $0.04  $18.83 $17.13 
Second 0.04  19.23  15.60 
Third 0.04  19.20  16.42 
Fourth 0.04  19.78  16.22 
 $0.16    $19.48

2003 Dividend High Low Close

First $0.04  $17.89  $14.94 
Second 0.04  21.15  17.25 
Third 0.04  20.39  15.43 
Fourth 0.04  18.72  15.60 
 $0.16    $17.56

Our Culture
Our goal is to maintain a fair and equitable culture in which every 
member of the Global Russell Team reinforces our values and has 
the opportunity to contribute to our business goals. Our Strategic 
Diversity Management Plan focuses on the following four areas:

•  Workforce – To attract and retain superior talent.
•   Workplace – To foster an empowering culture that respects 

both differences and similarities.
•   Marketplace – To leverage our diversity to capitalize on 

unique revenue opportunities. 
•   Community – To support the communities where we live  

and operate.

Russell Corporation and Subsidiaries
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